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PART I
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
The information contained in this report pertains to the registrant, The KEYW Holding Corporation (KEYW). References in this annual report to “KEYW,” the
“Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to The KEYW Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries.
You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of KEYW to be held at KEYW’s Corporate Headquarters, 7740 Milestone Parkway,
Hanover, MD 21076, on Wednesday, May 18, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time. We invite you to arrive at 9:30 a.m. to visit with KEYW management. A
continental breakfast will be served.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
The matters discussed in this Annual Report may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, activity levels, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, activity levels, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “could”, “expect”, “estimate”, “may”, "plan", “potential”, “will”,
and “would”, or similar words. You should read statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss our future expectations, contain projections of
our future results of operations or of our financial position, or state other forward-looking information. There may be events in the future that we are not able to
predict or control accurately, and numerous factors may cause events, our results of operations, financial performance, achievements, or industry performance, to
differ materially from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. The factors listed in the section captioned “Risk Factors,” contained in this Annual Report,
as well as any cautionary language in this Annual Report, provide examples of such risks, uncertainties, and events.
You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Annual Report. Subsequent events and
developments may cause our views to change. While we may elect to update the forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we specifically disclaim
any obligation to do so.
Item 1.

BUSINESS

GENERAL OVERVIEW
KEYW is a highly specialized provider of mission-critical cybersecurity, cyber superiority and geospatial intelligence solutions to US Government defense,
intelligence and national security agencies and commercial enterprises. Our core capabilities include solutions, services and products to support the Intelligence
Process (collection, processing, analysis and dissemination of intelligence information) in the domains of cyberspace and geospace, and the protection of networks
and related infrastructure. Our solutions are designed to respond to meet the critical needs for agile intelligence in the cyber age and to assist the US Government in
national security priorities.
We provide a full range of engineering services, cybersecurity and analytic products, and fully integrated platforms that support the entire intelligence process,
including collection, processing, analysis and impact. Our platforms include a number of modified commercial turboprop aircraft for imagery and light detection
and ranging (LIDAR), collection, products that we manufacture, as well as hardware and software that we integrate using the engineering services of our highly
skilled and security-cleared workforce.
KEYW’s Government solutions are focused on Intelligence Community customers including the National Security Agency (NSA), the National Reconnaissance
Office (NRO), the National Geospatial Intelligence Agency (NGA), the Army Geospatial Center (AGC) and various other agencies within the Intelligence
Community and Department of Defense (DoD). In addition, we provide our products and services to US federal, state and local law enforcement agencies. Our
innovative solutions, understanding of intelligence and national security missions, management's long-standing and successful customer relationships and
operational capabilities, and best-in-class employee base position us to continue our growth. We are highly focused on assisting our customers in achieving their
mission of cyber superiority both defensively and offensively within the entire domain of cyberspace and doing so in time to observe, respond to and where
possible prevent threat events, actions and agents from inflicting harm. Our solutions also encompass a broad spectrum of geospatial intelligence or, GEOINT,
capabilities. We believe today's complex, geographically distributed cyber threat environment is driving a convergence of cyber intelligence and geospatial
intelligence
1
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KEYW’s primary areas of expertise include:
• providing sophisticated engineering services and solutions that help our customers solve discreet and complex cybersecurity, cyber superiority, and
geospatial and other intelligence challenges;
• using multiple intelligence collection techniques to collect data and information in cyberspace, encompassing the entire electromagnetic spectrum;
• processing data and information from cyberspace to make it accessible to a wide range of analytical needs and resources;
• analyzing data and information that have been collected, processed, correlated, and made easily accessible to transform them into usable information for
our customers;
• providing end to end capabilities that enable our customers to man, train, and equip cyber warriors;
• designing, architecting and developing secure information technology infrastructure on premise and in the cloud;
• providing specialized training, field support, and test and evaluation services;
• development, integration, rapid deployment and sustainment of agile airborne intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance collection platforms to
austere environments; and
• responding quickly and decisively to demanding and emergent customer requirements, with agile processes and methods that enable us to satisfy
requirements that are constantly changing to meet an agile, aggressive and ever-changing threat environment.
As of December 31, 2015 , KEYW had 1,173 employees. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , we derived 94% of our revenue from US Government customers
acting as both prime contractor and subcontractor on US Government contracts. The majority of our contracts provide for a total contract period of five years, with
an initial contract period of one year and the balance in one-year option periods. Historically, contract options are rarely not exercised.
For 2015 , 2014 and 2013 our revenue reflected that of KEYW and our acquisitions, from the date of acquisition, of $ 312 million , $ 291 million and $ 299 million
, respectively, based on accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP"). Our 2015 revenue is derived from over 200
contracts (a combination of prime contracts and subcontracts), the ten largest of which accounted for approximately 51% of our 2015 actual revenue, with no
individual contract accounting for greater than 15% of our 2015 revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , we derived approximately 2% of our revenue
from international customers.
Our History
KEYW began operations on August 4, 2008, led by the majority of the former leadership team of Essex Corporation, which was acquired by the Northrop
Grumman Corporation in January 2007. Under an agreement between KEYW and Northrop Grumman Corporation, KEYW acquired a core set of capabilities
(including over 60 employees) and certain fixed assets from Northrop Grumman Corporation. Since its founding, KEYW has assembled, through a series of highly
selective strategic acquisitions, a single distinct platform that provides the high quality and complementary cybersecurity, cyber superiority and intelligence
capabilities, solutions and products our customers require.
In 2008, we acquired Integrated Computer Concepts, Incorporated, or ICCI and S&H Enterprises of Central Maryland, Inc., or S&H. Both companies were known
for their innovations and capabilities in support of the Intelligence Community. The acquisition of ICCI brought KEYW approximately 80 employees working on
key NSA programs. ICCI provided a highly regarded software engineering team that has been involved on a wide range of programs and contracts over many
years. S&H provided strong program management and systems engineering capabilities on a large mission-critical program.
In 2009, we acquired certain assets of Embedded Systems Design, Inc., or ESD, Leading Edge Design & Systems, Inc., or LEDS, and the Systems Engineering and
Technical Assistance team of General Dynamics Advanced Information Systems Inc., or GDAIS team, which team supports a large intelligence agency. Both
Embedded Systems and LEDS have provided high performance solutions to the Intelligence Community with systems engineering, analysis, and support
capabilities. The addition of ESD contributed a hardware systems engineering capability, and LEDS expanded our hardware engineering capabilities, as well as the
depth of activity on a large program with our largest customer, the NSA.
In 2010, before our initial public offering, we acquired The Analysis Group, LLC, or TAGG, and Insight Information Technology, LLC, or IIT. On October 1,
2010, The KEYW Holding Corporation completed its initial public offering (IPO) and began trading
2
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on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “KEYW”. Our offering, including the overallotment, consisted of 10,465,000 shares of our common stock at a
price to the public of $10.00 per share. KEYW used the proceeds from the offering to repay debt, working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate
purposes, including two acquisitions.
Following our IPO, we acquired Sycamore.US, Inc., or Sycamore, in November 2010 and Everest Technology Solutions, Inc., or Everest, in December 2010. Both
companies added depth of capabilities and experience with our largest customers, as well as expanded our breadth of contracts and experience with other members
of the Intelligence Community (“IC”). Sycamore offered a broad range of cyber solutions and support including aerospace software engineering, cybersecurity,
independent verification and validation, systems engineering, and risk management. Everest offered a broad range of cyber superiority solutions and support
including geospatial intelligence systems, cybersecurity, cloud computing and mission support.
In 2011, we acquired JKA Technologies, Inc., or JKA, Forbes Analytic Software, Inc., or FASI, and Flight Landata, Inc. or FLD. JKA offered a broad range of
mission critical cyber superiority solutions and support including network engineering, information assurance, and systems and software engineering. FASI offered
a broad range of mission critical cyber superiority solutions and support including high-end software development, systems and software engineering and
integration, and full lifecycle software support, from research and development to operations and maintenance. FLD was a highly regarded provider of agile
airborne Intelligence Surveillance and Reconnaissance (ISR) solutions and Micro Terrain Intelligence to the US Defense Department and the warfighter with
significant operations in overseas theaters.
In September 2012, we completed a secondary public offering of 8,510,000 shares of our common stock, including the overallotment, at a price of $11.75 per
share. These offering proceeds were used to pay off the existing debt and help finance several 2012 acquisitions. Subsequent to the secondary offering, we acquired
Poole and Associates, Inc., or Poole, Sensage, Inc., or Sensage, Rsignia, Inc., or Rsignia, and the assets of Dilijent Solutions, LLC, or Dilijent. Poole provides
systems engineering, software development, program management, and technical support to the intelligence community in addition to having several prime
contracts. Sensage provided incident event management software as well as commercial software experience. The Rsignia and Dilijent acquisitions provided
additional product related revenue streams within the intelligence customer base.
In January 2013, we acquired IDEAL Technology Corporation or IDEAL. The IDEAL acquisition provided additional product related revenue streams within the
intelligence customer base.
In July 2013, we began operations of Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc. or Hexis, a subsidiary of The KEYW Holding Corporation, which provides advanced
cybersecurity solutions for commercial companies, government agencies, and the Intelligence Community (IC). Hexis's mission is to ensure that business IT
infrastructure is equipped with tools and the capability to detect, engage, and remove both external and internal cyber threats with its Hawkeye family of products.
These products offer active, multi-disciplined approaches to achieve a higher standard of cybersecurity that is based on our experience supporting our nation’s
cyber security and cyber warfare missions.
In 2015, we acquired Milestone Intelligence Group, Inc., or Milestone, Ponte Technologies, LLC, or PonteTec, and certain assets of Innovative Engineering
Solutions, Inc. or IESI. Milestone is a systems engineering and software development firm offering a broad range of services including cybersecurity, software
engineering and development, system engineering, test and evaluation engineering, acquisition support, process management, and project and program
management. PonteTec is a services-based company focused on developing operational IT security solutions, crafting IT security strategies, and deploying
advanced cybersecurity capabilities. IESI is an information technology consulting firm systems engineering, software development, security engineering,
knowledge management, and project/program management.
In February 2016, following a strategic review of our business, we announced we had entered into a definitive agreement to sell our systems engineering and
technical assistance (SETA) business. The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2016.
Our Market Opportunity
Cyberspace
Our market opportunity is defined by the pervasive expanse of cyberspace and the urgent need for the United States to achieve cyber superiority and mastery over
this domain. In a document entitled the National Military Strategy for Cyberspace Operations, the Department of Defense officially defined cyberspace as “a
domain characterized by the use of electronics and the electromagnetic spectrum to store, modify, and exchange data via networked systems and associated
physical infrastructures.”
The national security of the United States, our economic prosperity, and the daily functioning of our government depend on a dynamic public and private
information infrastructure, which includes computer and telecommunications systems and networks and the data created and used by them. The emergence of
foreign military capabilities in cyber space continues. This formalization of military cyber capabilities creates another tool that foreign leaders may use to
undermine critical infrastructures that were
3
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previously assumed secure. In addition to its own capabilities, the Intelligence Community is cooperating with the private sector to ensure current and evolving
understanding of the dynamic cyber environment. The Intelligence Community is integrating cybersecurity with counterintelligence and improving its ability to
understand, detect, attribute, and counter the full range of threats.
The market opportunity for cyber superiority/cybersecurity has continued to evolve since Defense Secretary Gates directed the establishment of US Cyber
Command, a military command focused on cybersecurity, based at Fort Meade, MD, which also houses the National Security Agency. The Cyber Command
supports three overlapping categories of cyber operations, protection of defense computer networks, coordination of all defense computer operations and provision
of full-spectrum support for all military and counterterrorism missions.
The Defense Department directive put the National Security Agency and Cyber Command, both at Fort Meade, MD and near our headquarters, at the center of US
strategy for cyber superiority and cybersecurity. Modern armed forces cannot conduct high-tempo, effective operations without reliable information and
communication networks and assured access to cyberspace and geospatial intelligence. KEYW's leadership and the strategic assembly of companies and
capabilities involved with these customers and programs have been carefully developed as a continuing response to the ever growing threat the US faces from
potential cyber attacks. The Defense Department is expected to continue to work with domestic and international allies and partners and invest in advanced
capabilities to defend its networks, operational capability, and resiliency in cyberspace.
A key element of the strategy of the Director of National Intelligence (DNI), and an important element that helps define this market opportunity, is the need for
agility. Agility was identified by the DNI as one of the characteristics essential to the Intelligence Community's effectiveness. The DNI defined an agile
organization as “an enterprise with an adaptive, diverse, continually learning, and mission-driven intelligence workforce that embraces innovation and takes
initiative.” In addition, the National Intelligence Strategy identified enhancing cyber intelligence as one of six mission objectives that must be accomplished by the
Intelligence Community.
For national security reasons, there is limited detailed information published on intelligence spending or the amount of intelligence spending dedicated for cyber
warfare. In February 2016, the DNI disclosed that the National Intelligence Program Budget request for FY 2017 was $53.5 billion and the Military Intelligence
Budget request for FY 2017 was $16.8 billion, for a combined Intelligence Budget of $70.3 billion. According to a recent study by Market Research Ltd, US
Federal Cybersecurity spending is expected to grow from $18 billion in 2017 to $22 billion by 2022, with this market growing steadily at an estimated annual
growth rate of 4.4% over the next six years. Driving this growth is the continued sharp increase in cyber threats and increased reliance on the internet, networked
systems, and connectivity, which creates opportunities for cyber attackers to disrupt US Government operations, as well as US critical infrastructure and
commercial entities.
As a result of these decisions and actions, our customers have clearly defined agility, cyber superiority, and cybersecurity as critical national security imperatives.
We believe that we are strongly positioned, based on our capabilities, competitive strengths and strategy, to be a leader in this currently well-funded and critical
market.
Geospace
Since our initial public offering, we have significantly expanded our capabilities in geospatial intelligence. These capabilities are highly complementary to our
cyber superiority capabilities. Geospatial intelligence tools and technologies for managing and correlating vast amounts of data, all within a common geo-reference
model, are highly relevant and applicable in cyberspace. In addition, the domains of cyberspace and geospace are rapidly converging within the intelligence and
defense communities. Attribution and effective remediation of hostile actions in cyberspace frequently requires finding the perpetrators in geospace, and
correlating other knowledge that is accessible using geospatial intelligence tools and data.
Cybersecurity Spending
According to a September 2015 market research report by Gartner, global cybersecurity spending in 2015 is expected to be $75.4 billion (an increase of 5% versus
2014) and is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 7.4% through 2019.
The main drivers of the cybersecurity market are:
• the large base of existing cyber threats in addition to increasing cyber threats from new actors and new threat vectors (the paths that attacks can take);
• a regulatory environment increasingly requiring processes and procedures to ensure robust systems are in place to protect data;
• increased vulnerability to cyber threats due to increasing dependence on technology, in particular, mobile, cloud computing and web centric
technologies; and
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• adversaries focused on exploiting increased dependence on technology-driven infrastructure through cyber attacks.
Capabilities and Customer Solutions
Government Solutions
We provide our US Government customers cybersecurity, cyber superiority and intelligence solutions through services and products. Our services include a full
range of technical and program management capabilities needed to conceptualize, build, integrate, and support intelligence systems and capabilities. Our products
include turn-key electro-optical (EO) and LIDAR solutions, radio frequency (RF) and other intelligence gathering devices and advanced radar technology.
Virtually all of our work requires high-level security clearances, and the descriptions and details of this work are classified. As a result, this work can only be
described at a high level, and examples of the systems and solutions we create can only be generally described.
Our Government Solutions work includes developing strategic and system architectures for solutions finding, developing, and integrating hardware and software
components to build these solutions, and testing these solutions to confirm that they meet our customers' requirements. As a result, our engineers are involved in
writing software programs in a wide variety of programming languages, developing specialized hardware components, and integrating a variety of customdeveloped as well as commercial-off-the-shelf components into solution platforms that support one or more elements of the Intelligence Process and in some cases,
our solutions are capable of supporting the end-to-end Intelligence Process. Our services work includes the following activities and capabilities:
•

Strategic Program and Management Support . We help customers formulate plans to improve performance, cost effectiveness, and quality of service. We
assess current operations, develop targeted strategies and plans for improvement, define key priorities and accountabilities, and design enterprise
architectures that capitalize on customer investments in existing systems and assist them in transitioning to new technology platforms and capabilities.

•

Systems Design, Development and Integration . We provide project management, systems design, network and systems integration, data analysis and
integration, security engineering, software development, hardware development and engineering, database design and development, and independent test
and evaluation services to our clients. We analyze system concepts and assess data and information needs, define requirements, develop operational
prototypes, and integrate complex mission-critical systems and solutions that comply with our customers' enterprise architectures and needs. Based on
customer requirements, we may design custom-built systems, integrate and implement commercial-off-the-shelf solutions, or combine both approaches
using agile development methodologies and other industry best practices.

•

Cybersecurity, Cyber Superiority and Geospatial Intelligence . We offer a proactive, multi-disciplined approach to cybersecurity and cyber superiority
based on expertise in defending, exploiting, and using cyberspace to accomplish the intelligence mission and protect our national interests. We provide
geospatial intelligence solutions that span the entire intelligence process of collection, processing, analysis, and impact, bringing innovation and mobility
to our intelligence and defense customers. Our suite of solutions includes security architecture, secure systems integration, cybersecurity operations,
information operations, compliance, privacy, training services, data mining, cloud computing, quick response capabilities, mobility applications and
solutions, and intelligence processing and analysis.

•

Intelligence Operations and Analysis Support . We support strategic and tactical intelligence systems, networks and facilities in support of the Intelligence
Community and Department of Defense. To support classified systems and facilities designed to collect, analyze, process and use the products of various
intelligence sources, we develop and integrate collection and analysis systems and techniques. Some of our intelligence-related services also include the
design, rapid development and prototyping, integration and management of real-time signal processing systems. We also provide support to the
development and application of analytical techniques to counterintelligence operations and activities.

Our hardware products are typically low-volume products, typically ordered in volumes of less than 500 units, that meet specific customer needs to create
intelligence insight and advantage by capturing information that help identify, locate, and monitor activity that is of interest to our intelligence agency customers.
Our products are in active use in hostile environments, and we modify them based on customer feedback to make them more effective. Our hardware products are
sold at fixed prices (volume discounts are available for significant orders), along with a one year warranty.
We own and operate eight Beechcraft King Air 100s and one Metroliner turboprop aircraft for the collection of high resolution EO imagery and LIDAR data in
austere environments. With these aircraft, we provide a turn-key solution for high-resolution EO and LIDAR that includes collection, processing, and synthesis of
actionable intelligence and georeferenced imagery that keeps pace with an agile threat environment. We believe the value demonstrated by our high-resolution EO
and LIDAR platforms in
5
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current operational theaters saves lives and should lead to more widespread deployment of them to other military areas of interest around the globe. Furthermore,
we expect to continue improving and increasing the capabilities of these platforms by developing new sensor technologies and better processing capabilities,
creating a truly agile “multi-INT” intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance platform.
We strive to be an agile developer and producer of customer solutions and products because our customers require that we develop, integrate and test our products
and solutions rapidly and modify them quickly as customer requirements evolve. Solutions and products that are not agile, i.e. that are static or slow to change, do
not meet the needs of our customers as they respond to a rapidly changing threat environment. We believe the cyber age operating requirements of the Intelligence
Community make the traditional model of engineering and integration, which can take years to go from concept to initial deployment, outmoded. We have worked
closely with our customers to replace the traditional engineering model with a model based on agile development methodologies. In this model, significant
progress and milestones are expected every 90 days. Agility requires high levels of skill in both engineering and in program management.
Commercial Cyber Solutions
The majority of Commercial Cyber Solutions revenue has been generated through our HawkEye AP analytics software packages and related maintenance and
services. Since 2013 we have added additional revenue streams including our Hawkeye G product. The Hawkeye G product's mission is aimed at ensuring that
business IT infrastructure is equipped with tools and capability to detect, engage, and remove both external and internal cyber threats. The Hawkeye G product
offers active, multi-disciplined approaches to achieve a higher standard of cybersecurity that is based on our expertise supporting our nation’s cybersecurity and
cyber warfare missions to ensure that enterprises of any size and in any industry can operate at maximum potential.
Management has decided that our Commercial Cyber Solutions segment will not continue to operate under the same dynamic that it has in 2015 and prior years.
While our HawkEye products, being sold through our Hexis subsidiary, consistently demonstrates impressive capabilities in its product suites, and have gained
some commercial traction in the marketplace, the progress to date has not been sufficient for us to continue to operate Hexis in the current way we have operated it
in the past. We have been exploring strategic alternatives for our Hexis business. Those alternatives include an investment in or outright sale of our Commercial
Cyber Solutions business in one or more transactions to unrelated buyers. We have engaged in discussions with several candidates interested in purchasing one or
both of our HawkEye products, as part of a sale of this segment.
If we are unable to, or believe the combination of valuation and potential deal structure is not in our best interests, we will retain all or part of our Commercial
Cyber Security business. We will reduce the level of funding from its KEYW parent to a range of $5 million to $7 million in 2016, requiring that the business run
on that investment and its own free cash flow. During January of 2016 we have reduced our costs by approximately $10 million annually through a reduction in
personnel and other costs.
We determined our activity with respect to our Commercial Cyber Security business to be a triggering event, as that term is defined in GAAP, and determined that,
at December 31, 2015, the fair value of our Commercial Cyber Segment was less than its historic carrying costs and recorded an impairment of approximately $8
million.
US Federal Government Contracts
We derive substantially all of our revenue from US Government customers. In fiscal years 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 , we generated approximately 94% , 91% , and
93% , respectively, of our total revenue from contracts where the end customer was the US Government, which has a highly structured and regulated competitive
procurement process. Our intelligence and defense customers typically exercise independent contracting authority and do not use General Services Administration
or other government-wide acquisition contracts to obtain our services or products.
Subcontracts accounted for approximately 42% of our revenue in 2015 , and prime contracts accounted for the other 58%. In 2014 subcontracts accounted for
approximately 46% of our revenue and prime contracts accounted for approximately 54% of our revenue. Our prime contracts have been awarded as both solesource and competitive awards; our subcontracts have been awarded competitively from prime contractors.
Sole-source award contracts
Under a sole-source award contract, the purchase of goods or services is made from a single source without competitive bidding. It is awarded usually, but not
always, by a federal government agency after soliciting and negotiating with only one firm. These contracts can be negotiated much more quickly than a typical
competitive contract provided that there is adequate demonstration of both need and the likelihood that any attempt to obtain bids would only result in one person
or company being able to meet the
6
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need. Urgency is often the rationale for sole-source contracts. Sole-source contracts may be awarded on the basis of a variety of different compensation models,
including firm-fixed price, time-and-materials, cost-plus-fixed-fee, or level-of-effort contracts based on negotiations, risk, and cost uncertainty.
Single award contracts
Under single award contracts with defined statements of work, a federal government agency solicits, qualifies, and then requests proposals from interested
contractors. The agency then evaluates the bids and typically awards the contract to a single contractor for a specified service or product.
Multiple award contracts
Under indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity, or ID/IQ, contracts, a federal government agency can form preferred provider relationships with one or more
contractors. This category includes agency-specific ID/IQ contracts; blanket purchase agreements, or BPAs; government-wide acquisition contracts, or GWACs;
and General Services Administration, or GSA, schedule contracts. These umbrella contracts, often referred to as vehicles, outline the basic terms and conditions
under which federal government agencies may order services. ID/IQ contracts are typically managed by one sponsoring agency, and may be either for the use of a
specific agency or available for use by any other agency of the federal government. ID/IQ contracts available for use by any agency of the federal government are
commonly referred to as GWACs.
Contractors within the industry compete to be pre-selected to perform work under an ID/IQ contract. An ordering agency then issues delivery orders, commonly
known as task orders, for services to be performed under the contract. If the ID/IQ contract has a single prime contractor, only that contractor may be awarded
delivery orders. If the contract has multiple prime contractors, the award of each delivery order typically will be competitively determined among the pre-selected
contractors.
GSA schedules are listings of services and products, along with their respective prices, offered by federal government contractors. The schedules are negotiated
and maintained by the GSA for use by any federal agency or other authorized entity, including state and local governments. When an agency selects services or
products under a GSA schedule contract, the competitive process is limited to qualified GSA schedule contractors.
Due to the lower contract procurement costs, reduced procurement time, and increased flexibility associated with multiple award contracts, these vehicles have
been utilized frequently in the last decade. Agency-specific ID/IQs have become increasingly prevalent, particularly in the DoD. Access to the relevant vehicles is
critical for contractors intending to do business with a specific agency.
Contract types
We generate revenue under various types of contracts, which include time-and-materials (T&M), fixed-price-level-of-effort, firm-fixed-price (FFP), cost
reimbursable contracts, and commercial software license and related service contracts. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , we
derived revenue from such contracts on an actual basis as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2015
Contract Type

(in millions)

Time & Materials

$

(percentage)

67.7

21.7%

Fixed-Price-Level-of-Effort

64.3

20.6%

Firm-Fixed-Price

79.5

25.5%

Cost Reimbursement

86.4

27.7%

Commercial Software License & Related Service

13.9

4.5%
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Year ended December 31, 2014
Contract Type

(in millions)

Time & Materials

$

(percentage)

71.6

24.6%

Fixed-Price-Level-of-Effort

57.9

19.9%

Firm-Fixed-Price

78.6

27.0%

Cost Reimbursement

71.2

24.5%

Commercial Software License & Related Service

11.3

3.9%

Time-and-materials contracts . Under a T&M contract, we are paid a fixed hourly rate for each direct labor hour expended and we are reimbursed for allowable
material costs and out-of-pocket expenses. To the extent our actual direct labor and associated costs vary in relation to the fixed hourly billing rates among various
labor categories provided in the contract, we will generate more or less profit or we could incur a loss.
Fixed-price-level-of-effort contracts . Fixed-price-level-of-effort contracts are substantially similar to T&M contracts except that they require a specified level of
effort over a stated period of time.
Firm-fixed-price contracts . FFP contracts provide for a fixed price for specified products, systems and/or services. If actual costs vary from planned costs on a
FFP contract, we generate more or less than the planned amount of profit and may even incur a loss. Our FFP contracts are primarily for our products.
Cost reimbursable contracts . Cost reimbursable contracts provide for reimbursement of our direct contract costs and allowable and allocable indirect costs, plus a
fee.
Backlog
We define backlog to include both funded and unfunded orders for products and services under existing signed contracts, assuming the exercise of all options
relating to those contracts, less the amount of revenue we have previously recognized under those contracts. We define funded backlog to be the portion of backlog
for which funding currently is appropriated and obligated to us under a contract or other authorization for payment signed by an authorized purchasing authority.
Unfunded backlog includes all contract options that have been priced but not funded. Unfunded backlog takes into account contract ceiling value under multiple
award contracts, and includes estimates of future potential delivery orders that might be awarded under multiple award ID/IQ contract vehicles, GWACs or GSA
schedule contracts.
As of December 31, 2015 , our total backlog was $524 million , of which $103 million was funded and $421 million was unfunded. As of December 31, 2014 , our
total backlog was $506 million , of which $120 million was funded and $386 million was unfunded.
Total backlog may fluctuate from period to period depending on our success rate in winning contracts and the timing of contract awards, renewals, modifications
and cancellations. We expect to recognize a substantial portion of our funded backlog as revenue within the next 12 months. However, the US Government may
terminate any contract at any time.
Customers
We derive substantially all of our revenue from contracts with US Government agencies involved with national security missions. In 2015 , 48% of our revenue
was derived from contracts with the NSA, 15% of our revenue was derived from contracts with the US Army, 12% of our revenue was derived from contracts with
the NGA, 12% of our revenue was derived from contracts with other elements of the DoD excluding the NSA, the US Army and the NGA, 6% of revenue was
derived from work for other major intelligence agencies and other intelligence, defense, homeland security and law enforcement organizations, and 7% was
derived from commercial customers.
Long-term relationships between intelligence customers and contractors develop because of the high level of security clearances required to work on projects and
unique technical requirements of intelligence customers. For example, some members of our management have been working closely with the NSA for over 25
years, during which time they have completed numerous projects and we have several projects currently on-going with the NSA.
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Our Competitive Strengths
We believe the following competitive strengths will allow us to take advantage of the trends in our industry:
Ability to develop, field, and operate end-to-end intelligence solutions. Through a combination of acquisitions and organic technology development, KEYW has
assembled a collection of capabilities that when combned are capable of supporting our customer’s end-to-end intelligence mission in airborne, ground, and cyber
domains. We intend to leverage these customer proven capabilities to extend our market penetration to other organizations and agencies, foreign and domestic, to
drive organic growth.
Cyber superiority, geospatial intelligence and intelligence focused . We focus on delivering cyber superiority, geospatial intelligence and intelligence support for
our customers. We deliver a full range of cyber engineering services and solutions, geospatial intelligence services and solutions, and cyber intelligence products.
Mastering cyberspace and thereby attaining cyber superiority is a core mission of the Intelligence Community. We are building a platform of capabilities, culture,
and technologies that is tailored to meeting this mission. This focus gives our customers faster and more innovative solutions than those offered by our
competitors.
Agile intelligence, cybersecurity and cyber age operations expertise . We have significant experience in building signal and information processing solutions,
cybersecurity, cyber superiority and geospatial intelligence solutions, using agile methodologies for the Intelligence Community to support mission critical
activities and complex national security problems. Our team has established a strong reputation for responding quickly to customer requirements, and for working
as a partner with our customers to identify and define these requirements. The changes in the threat environment that have occurred since 2001 have put enormous
pressure on the Intelligence Community to respond more quickly and in a more integrated way than ever before. We have a culture of innovation and agility that
allows us to respond more quickly and with greater impact than other organizations.
Management's Intelligence Community experience and relationships . Our management has significant expertise in the Intelligence Community and a lengthy track
record with many members of the Intelligence Community. Our insight into the Intelligence Community's needs and our mission focus allow us to articulate and
support our customers' needs as they emerge, placing us at the forefront of solutions being offered. The senior members of our leadership and technology teams
have a record of supporting the Intelligence Community's programs for the past 20 - 30 years. Our long-term relationships establish the basis of trust required to
understand and support mission-critical requirements. During this period, our executives have gained access to the highest levels of the Intelligence Community
allowing them to provide thought leadership in the transformation of the intelligence process to respond to challenges of cyber age operations and a rapidly
changing asymmetrical global threat environment.
History of successfully acquiring and integrating businesses . KEYW began operations on August 4, 2008, led by the majority of the former leadership team of
Essex Corporation, which was acquired by Northrop Grumman Corporation in January 2007. Since our founding, we have assembled, through a series of highly
selective strategic acquisitions, a single distinct platform that provides the high quality and complementary cybersecurity, cyber superiority and geospatial
intelligence capabilities, solutions and products our customers require.
Skilled employees with high-level security clearances . As of December 31, 2015 , 77% of our employees have US Government security clearances, with 71% of
our employees holding Top Secret or higher clearance. This concentration of highly-skilled and cleared personnel allows us to respond quickly to customer
requirements and gives us on-going insight into our customers' toughest national security problems. The requirement for these clearances and the time and process
required to attain them are significant barriers to entering this market.
Intelligence Surveillance and Reconnaissance (ISR) sensor development, rapid deployment and sustainment of airborne collection platforms . Leveraging our
broad technical expertise, we match aircraft to mission requirements and modify these aircraft with integrated airborne sensor systems for onboard sensor
collection and processing. Our integrated airborne collection solutions are lower cost than traditional ISR platforms and complemented by complete flight services
and ongoing sustainment and logistics support of the collection platforms. We rapidly deploy our tailored solutions in direct response to the defense community's
most urgent requirements for ISR imagery in support of tactical missions and rapid mapping of large areas in some of the world's most challenging locations, thus
placing us at the center of the trend towards actionable intelligence.
Our Strategy
Our objective is to continue to grow our business as a provider of advanced solutions, including services, products, and fully integrated platforms, to provide cyber
and geospatial intelligence to US Government customers and to leverage our capabilities and innovations in this field to government intelligence, defense, civilian
customers and the commercial market. Key elements of our strategy to accomplish our continued growth objective include:
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Leverage Intelligence Community experience in certain agencies to address new growth markets in the Intelligence Community . KEYW has a meaningful
presence in two of the 17 organizations that make up the U.S. Intelligence Community (including the Office of the Director of National Intelligence) and a nominal
presence in three other agencies. A key growth strategy is to leverage the uniques capabilities we have developed in our core customers to expand into the agencies
where KEYW does not have a significant presence. We believe the capabilities we have developed for current customers will be attractive to other members of the
Intelligence Community, enabling a significant growth opportunity for KEYW.
Pursuing strategic, capability-enhancing acquisitions . We will continue to pursue selective strategic acquisitions that expand our cyber intelligence platform of
capabilities and solutions. This will include companies that are leaders in supporting the US intelligence and defense community, as well as technologies and
solutions in cybersecurity and other areas of innovation that are critical to (1) the transformation of the Intelligence Community into cyber age operations and (2)
improving the overall cybersecurity posture of the Intelligence Community and commercial critical infrastructure enterprises.
Building and leveraging our research and development efforts . We intend to continue utilizing company and customer funded research and development to
develop technologies, products and solutions that have significant potential for near-term as well as long-term value in both the US Government and commercial
markets. We will continue to use intellectual property that we create internally or license from other companies in the areas of network traffic intelligence,
cybersecurity, cyber intelligence and geospatial intelligence to build products and solutions to further penetrate the intelligence and defense market for cyber
superiority.
Explore Strategic Options for Commercial Cyber Solutions business. As announced in February 2016, we are exploring strategic options for our Commercial
Cyber Solutions business, with a view toward maximizing its value outside of KEYW or continuing as part of KEYW. Potential outcomes from this process
include a sale to or investment by a third party or parties with respect to all or part of the business. As announced, in the event we determine to maintain the
Commercial Cyber Solutions business within KEYW, we intend to limit the amount of investment in the business and to operate the business in a disciplined
manner consistent with such investment.
Competition
We sell our services and products primarily to the intelligence and defense communities. The level of security clearances required for this work limits the range of
competitors against whom we compete for customers in both communities. In addition, the number of competitors is limited even further by the level of technical
expertise required to deliver products and services to our government customers. We compete either as prime contractor or as a subcontractor, depending on the
requirements and scope of the project.
In our government market, our competitors include both large competitors that offer a broad range of services and capabilities and smaller boutique organizations
that are highly focused on particular capabilities, solutions, and customers. Our larger competitors include divisions of large defense contractors such as Lockheed
Martin Corporation, The Boeing Company and Northrop Grumman Corporation. We also face competition from a number of large, well-established government
contractors such as Leidos Inc., Booz Allen Hamilton Corporation, CACI International, Inc. and others. The smaller competitors are generally privately held
corporations with strong capabilities in delivering specific elements of a solution for a narrow range of customers. See “Risk Factors” for a description of the
various risks we may face from our competitors.
In the commercial software market we are competing with larger multi-national companies such as Cisco, Symantec, and FireEye as well as new start-ups with
innovative solutions. While Hexis has an established market presence, its market share is relatively small compared to the large companies it competes with for
business. As our Hawkeye G product is a new market entrant, the competitive landscape and our product's acceptance is still evolving.
Manufacturing
Our manufacturing capabilities support modest volume product manufacturing consistent with our customers’ needs for products that evolve rapidly and on a
regular basis. We use a combination of in-house resources and contract manufacturing support provided by third parties. We believe that this approach to our
manufacturing needs allows us to carefully manage capital investment while maintaining our ability to meet surges in the volume of customer requirements.
Research and Development
Innovation is an important part of our business model. We look for opportunities to create long-term growth opportunities, on a sole-source basis, by leveraging
our in-depth knowledge of our customers’ missions and needs, and our ability to use internal research and development (IR&D). Our product and solutions
business has evolved through a combination of customer development and IR&D. We frequently develop a core capability or technology and then customize this
capability or technology to meet specific customer requirements.
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Our research and development, or R&D, consists of IR&D that is an allowable expense under US Government contracts and research and development that is
performed at our expense. Spending on R&D activities may vary, depending on the opportunities that we see and customer requirements. Research and
development costs totaled $19.0 million , $18.6 million and $7.5 million for years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. As a percent of
revenue R&D was 6.1% , 6.4% and 2.5% for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 . Looking forward to 2016, we have established innovation
teams in each of our major business areas to broaden our efforts to strategically leverage our technologies and ideas into new program opportunities with our
customers.
Intellectual Property
We own eleven patents and have four pending patent applications. We have fifteen federally registered trademarks, one pending federal trademark registration
applications, and four registered copyrights. As we develop intellectual property, we make a determination, with the support of outside patent counsel, of the best
manner in which to protect it whether through patent or copyright, or as trade secret. When we acquire companies that have developed intellectual property and
have patents pending, we make a determination, with the support of outside patent counsel, of whether we need to continue pursuing the pending patent
applications. In conjunction with several of our products, we have developed intellectual property that we are protecting as trade secrets. We have made this
determination based on the costs and risks involved, as well as on the pace at which changes are being made to the products. As we build our solutions and
products, we also make use of third-party intellectual property for which we purchase licenses, as necessary. We integrate technology, including hardware and
software, based on designs and architectures that we develop with our customers.
Regulatory Matters
We must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration, and performance of US Government contracts. The Federal Acquisition
Regulation, or FAR, which mandates uniform policies and procedures for US Government acquisitions and purchased services, governs the majority of our
contracts. Individual agencies also have acquisition regulations that provide implementing language for the FAR or that supplement the FAR.
Other federal regulations require certification and disclosure of cost or pricing data in connection with contract negotiations for certain types of contracts, define
allowable and unallowable costs, govern reimbursement rights under cost-based contracts, and restrict the use, dissemination and exportation of products and
information classified for national security purposes.
Our federal government business is also subject to laws, regulations, and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of classified information and, under
US export control laws, the export of certain products and technical data.
Additionally, federal government contracts, by their terms, generally can be terminated at any time by the federal government, without cause, for the convenience
of the federal government. If a federal government contract is so terminated, we would be entitled to receive compensation for the services provided and costs
incurred through the time of termination, plus settlement expenses and a negotiated amount of profit. Federal government contractors who fail to comply with
applicable US Government procurement-related statutes and regulations may be subject to potential contract termination, suspension and debarment from
contracting with the US Government, or other remedies. See “Risk Factors” for a description of the various risks we may face regarding laws and regulations
relating to US Government contracts.
Corporate Information
We are a holding company and conduct our operations through The KEYW Corporation and Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc. and their subsidiaries. We were
incorporated in Maryland in December 2009. The KEYW Corporation was incorporated in Maryland in May 2008 and became our wholly-owned subsidiary in
December 2009 as part of a corporate restructuring.
The address of our principal executive office is 7740 Milestone Parkway, Suite 400, Hanover, Maryland 21076 and our general telephone number is (443) 7731600. Our web site address is www.keywcorp.com . We make available free of charge on or through our Internet website, our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The information on, or accessed through,
our web site is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.
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Item 1A.

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risks and all other information contained in this annual report, including our financial statements and the related
notes, before investing in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we
are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, also may become important factors that affect us. If any of the following risks materialize, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may
lose some or all of your investment.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before investing in our common stock, you should carefully consider the following risks as well as all
other information contained in this Annual Report.
Risks Relating to Our Business
We currently rely on sales to the US Government for substantially all of our revenue. If our relationships with US Government agencies were harmed, our
business, future revenue and growth prospects would be adversely affected.
We derive substantially all of our revenue from our US Government customers. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 , we generated
94% , 91% and 93% , respectively, of our total revenue from contracts with the US Government, either as a prime contractor or a subcontractor. We expect that US
Government contracts will continue to be the primary source of our revenue for the foreseeable future. Our reputation and relationship with the US Government,
and in particular with the agencies of the US Intelligence Community and the Department of Defense (DoD), are key factors in maintaining and growing our
revenue. For example, in 2015 , on a GAAP basis, 48% of our revenue was derived from contracts for the NSA, 15% of our revenue was derived from contracts for
the US Army, 12% of our revenue was derived from contracts for the NGA, 12% of our revenue was derived from contracts with other elements of the DoD
excluding the NSA, the US Army and the NGA, 6% of revenue was derived from work for other major intelligence agencies and other intelligence, defense,
homeland security and law enforcement organizations, and 7% was derived from commercial customers.
Our business, prospects, financial condition and/or operating results would be materially harmed if:
•

we were to lose, or there were to occur a significant reduction in, US Government funding of one or more programs for which we are the prime contractor
or in which we participate;

•

we were suspended or debarred from contracting with the US Government; or

•

our reputation, relationships, or the reputations or relationships of our senior managers with the US Government agencies with which we currently do
business or seek to do business is impaired.

A decline in US Government spending and mission priorities may adversely affect our future revenue and limit our growth prospects.
Continued US Government expenditures on intelligence, defense and other programs for which we provide support are critically important for our business. While
spending authorizations for intelligence and defense-related programs by the government have increased in recent years due to greater homeland security and
foreign military commitments, and to a general outsourcing trend, these spending levels may not be sustainable and could significantly decline. Future levels of
expenditures, authorizations, and appropriations for programs we support may decrease or shift to programs in areas where we do not currently provide services, or
contract opportunities may be in-sourced to be performed by US Government employees. Changes in spending authorizations, appropriations, and budgetary
priorities could also occur due to a shift in the number, and intensity, of potential and ongoing conflicts, the rapid growth of the federal budget deficit, increasing
political pressure to reduce overall levels of government spending, shifts in spending priorities from intelligence and defense-related programs as a result of
competing demands for federal funds, or other factors. Our business prospects, financial condition or operating results could be materially harmed among other
causes by the following:
•

budgetary constraints affecting US Government spending generally, or specific departments or agencies in particular, and changes in available funding
(such as federal government sequestration (automatic spending cuts);

•

changes in US Government programs or requirements; and

•

US Government shutdown (such as that which occurred during the government's 2014 fiscal year) and other potential delays in the appropriations process.

These or other factors could cause US Government agencies and departments to reduce their purchases under contracts, exercise their right to terminate contracts,
or not exercise options to renew contracts, any of which could cause us to lose revenue. A
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significant decline in overall US Government spending, or a shift in expenditures away from agencies or programs that we support, could cause a material decline
in our revenue.
We depend on US Government contract awards that are only partially funded and which depend upon annual budget appropriations. A delay in the completion
of the US Government’s budget process or the impact of sequestration, (automatic spending cuts), could delay procurement of the services and solutions we
provide and have an adverse effect on our future revenue.
Budget decisions made by the US Government are outside of our control and could have significant consequences for our business. Funding for US Government
contract awards is subject to Congressional appropriations. Although multi-year awards may be planned or authorized in connection with major procurements,
Congress generally appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis even though a program may be expected to continue for several years. Consequently, awards often
initially receive only partial funding, and additional funds are committed only as Congress makes further appropriations. In some circumstances, we may elect to
continue working on a contract that is awaiting additional incremental funding, because we expect the funding to be forthcoming soon, but this may place us at risk
of not being paid if additional funding is not subsequently added to the contract. The termination of funding for any of our US Government prime contracts or
subcontracts could result in a loss of anticipated future revenue attributable to that program and a reduction in our cash flows and could have an adverse impact on
our operating results.
In years when the US Government does not complete its budget process before the end of its fiscal year on September 30, government operations are typically
funded pursuant to a “continuing resolution” that authorizes agencies of the US Government to continue to operate, but does not authorize new spending initiatives.
When the US Government operates under a continuing resolution, delays can occur in the procurement of the services and solutions that we provide. When
supplemental budgets are required to operate the US Government and passage of legislation needed to approve any supplemental budget is delayed, the overall
funding environment for our business could be adversely affected.
The US Government may modify, curtail or terminate our contracts at any time prior to their completion and, if we do not replace them, we may be unable to
sustain our revenue growth and may suffer a decline in revenue.
Many of the US Government programs in which we participate as a contractor or subcontractor may extend for several years. These programs are normally funded
on an incremental basis. Under our contracts, the US Government generally has the right not to exercise options to extend or expand our contracts and may modify,
curtail or terminate the contracts and subcontracts at its convenience.
If the US Government terminates a contract for convenience, we may recover only our reasonably incurred or committed allowable costs, settlement expenses and
profit on work completed prior to the termination. We cannot recover anticipated future profits on terminated work. If the US Government terminates a contract for
default, we may not recover each of those types of costs, and instead may be liable for excess costs incurred by the US Government in procuring undelivered items
and services from another source.
Any decision by the US Government not to exercise contract options or to modify, curtail or terminate our major programs or contracts would adversely affect our
revenue and revenue growth.
We may not realize as revenue the full amounts reflected in our backlog, which could adversely affect our future revenue and growth prospects.
As of December 31, 2015 , our total backlog was $524 million , which included $421 million in unfunded backlog. As of December 31, 2014 , our total backlog
was $506 million , which included $386 million in unfunded backlog. The US Government’s ability not to exercise contract options or to modify, curtail or
terminate our major programs or contracts makes the calculation of backlog subject to numerous uncertainties. Due to the uncertain nature of our contracts with the
US Government, we may never realize revenue from some of the engagements that are included in our backlog. Our unfunded backlog, in particular, contains
amounts that we may never realize as revenue because the maximum contract value specified under a US Government contract or task order awarded to us is not
necessarily indicative of the revenue that we will realize under that contract. If we fail to realize revenue amounts included in our backlog, our future revenue and
growth prospects may be adversely affected. For additional information on our backlog, see “Business — US Federal Government Contracts — Backlog.”
If we fail to comply with complex procurement laws and regulations, we could lose business and be liable for various penalties or sanctions.
We must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of federal government contracts. These laws and regulations
affect how we conduct business with our federal government customers. In complying with these laws and regulations, we may incur significant costs, and the US
Government may impose additional fines and penalties,
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including contractual damages, in the event of our non-compliance. Among the more significant laws and regulations affecting our business are the following:
•

the Federal Acquisition Regulation, which comprehensively regulates the formation, administration and performance of federal government contracts;

•

the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing data in connection with cost-type contracts;

•

the Cost Accounting Standards and Cost Principles, which impose accounting requirements that govern our right to reimbursement under certain costbased federal government contracts; and

•

laws, regulations and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of classified information and, under US export control laws, the export of
certain products and technical data.

Our contracting agency customers periodically review our performance under and compliance with the terms of our federal government contracts. If we fail to
comply with these laws and regulations or if a government review or investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil or criminal
penalties or administrative sanctions, including:
•

termination of contracts;

•

forfeiture of profits;

•

cost associated with triggering of price reduction clauses;

•

suspension of payments;

•

fines; and

•

suspension or debarment from doing business with the US Government.

Additionally, the False Claims Act provides for potentially substantial civil and criminal penalties where, for example, a contractor presents a false or fraudulent
claim to the US Government for payment or approval. Actions under the False Claims Act may be brought by the US Government or by other persons on behalf of
the US Government (who may then share a portion of any recovery).
Because the majority of all of our revenue is dependent on our selection, performance and payment under our US Government contracts, the loss of one or more
large contracts or any suspension or debarment from doing business with US Government agencies would result in a loss of anticipated future revenue from US
Government contracts and a reduction in cash flows and would have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
US Government contracts contain other provisions that may be unfavorable to contractors.
Beyond the right to terminate a contract for convenience or decline to exercise an option to renew, US Government contracts contain provisions and are subject to
laws and regulations that give the US Government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts. These provisions, laws and regulations permit
the US Government to do (among other things) the following:
•

reduce or modify contracts or subcontracts;

•

cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year become unavailable;

•

claim certain rights (including, under certain circumstances, certain intellectual property rights) in products and systems produced by us; and

•

suspend or debar us from doing business with the US Government.

If the US Government exercises its rights under any of these provisions, our ability to operate or our competitive advantage could be hindered, and our revenue and
net income could decline and our operating results could be materially adversely affected.
Further, US Government contracts and certain laws and regulations, including without limitation, the International Traffic in Arms regulations and laws and
contract restrictions relating to classified information, and contain provisions that may restrict our ability to provide our products and services to third parties.
These restrictions may prevent us from leveraging our products, services,
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intellectual property, know-how or other revenue-generating aspects of our business or our acquisitions to the fullest extent in the commercial sector and/or foreign
markets and customers.
The US Government may revise its procurement or other practices in a manner adverse to us.
The US Government may revise its procurement practices or adopt new contracting rules and regulations, such as cost accounting standards. It could also adopt
new contracting methods relating to General Services Administration (GSA) contracts, or other government-wide acquisition contracts (GWACs), or adopt new
standards for contract awards intended to achieve certain social or other policy objectives. In addition, the US Government may face restrictions from new
legislation or regulations, as well as pressure from US Government employees and their unions, on the nature and amount of services the US Government may
obtain from private contractors. These changes could impair our ability to obtain new contracts or to continue to retain contracts under which we currently perform
when and if those contracts are put up for renewed competitive bidding. Any new contracting methods could be costly or administratively difficult for us to
implement, and, as a result, could harm our operating results.
Audits by US Government agencies could result in unfavorable audit results that could subject us to a variety of penalties and sanctions, and could harm our
reputation and relationships with our customers and negatively impact cash flows.
US Government agencies, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA) and others, routinely audit and review contractors' performance on contracts,
cost structure, pricing practices and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. They also review the adequacy of, and a contractor's compliance
with, its internal control systems and policies, including the contractor's accounting, billing, cost, purchasing, property, estimating, compensation, management
information system and other systems. Any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, while such costs already
reimbursed must be refunded. Adverse findings in a DCAA audit could materially affect our competitive position and result in a substantial adjustment to our
revenue and net income.
If a US Government audit uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including
termination of contracts, forfeiture of net income, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with US Government agencies.
In addition, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation and competitive position if allegations of impropriety were made against us, whether true or not. If our
reputation or relationship with US Government agencies were impaired, or if the US Government otherwise ceased doing business with us or significantly
decreased the amount of business it does with us, our revenue and net income would decline and our operating results could be materially adversely affected.
A significant portion of our revenue and net income is derived from a few key programs. The loss of any one or more of these programs could cause a material
decline in our operating results.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 , and the year ended December 31, 2014 , our 10 largest programs accounted for a total of $158 million and $174 million,
respectively, or 51% and 60% of our total revenue, respectively. Although we have been successful in continuing work on most of our large programs in the past,
there is no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future. The revenue stream from one or more of these programs could end for a number of reasons,
including the completion of the customer’s requirements, the completion or early termination of our current program, the consolidation of our work into another
program under which we are not a contractor, or the loss of a competitive bid for the follow-on work related to our current program. If any of these events were to
occur, we could experience an unexpected, significant reduction in revenue and net income.
We derive significant revenue from contracts awarded through a competitive bidding process involving substantial costs and risks. Due to this competitive
pressure, we may be unable to sustain our revenue growth and profitability.
We expect a significant portion of the business that we will seek in the foreseeable future will be awarded through competitive bidding. The competitive bidding
process involves substantial costs and a number of risks, including the significant cost and managerial time to prepare bids and proposals for contracts that may not
be awarded to us and our failure to accurately estimate the resources and costs that will be required to fulfill any contract we win. In addition, following a contract
award, we may encounter significant expense, delay or contract modifications as a result of our competitors protesting or challenging contracts awarded to us in
competitive bidding. In addition, multi-award contracts require that we make sustained post-award efforts to obtain task orders under the contract. We may not be
able to obtain task orders or recognize revenue under these multi-award contracts. Our failure to compete effectively in this procurement environment would
adversely affect our revenue and/or profitability.
Our overseas operations involve considerable risks and hazards. An accident or incident involving our employees or third parties could harm our reputation,
affect our ability to compete for business, and if not adequately insured or indemnified, could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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We are exposed to liabilities that arise from some of the services we provide. Such liabilities may relate to an accident or incident involving our employees or third
parties, particularly where we are deployed on-site at active military installations in locations experiencing political or civil unrest, or they may relate to an
accident or incident involving aircraft or other equipment we have serviced or used in the course of our business. Any of these types of accidents or incidents could
involve significant potential claims of injured employees and other third parties and claims relating to loss or of damage to government or third-party property.
We maintain insurance policies that mitigate risk and potential liabilities related to our operations. Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover those
claims or liabilities, and we may be forced to bear substantial costs from an accident or incident. Substantial claims in excess of our related insurance coverage
could adversely affect our operating performance and may result in additional expenses and possible loss of revenue.
Furthermore, any accident or incident for which we are liable, even if fully insured, may result in negative publicity which could adversely affect our reputation
among our customers, including our US Government customers, and the public, which could result in the loss of existing and future contracts or make it more
difficult to compete effectively for future contracts. This could adversely affect our operating performance and may result in additional expenses and possible loss
of revenue.
We face intense competition from many competitors that, among other things, have greater resources than we do.
We operate in highly competitive markets and generally encounter intense competition to win contracts and task orders. We compete with many other firms,
ranging from small, specialized firms to mid-tier technology firms and large, diversified firms, many of which have substantially greater financial, management
and marketing resources than we do. Significant competitors include divisions of large defense contractors such as Lockheed Martin Corporation, The Boeing
Company and Northrop Grumman Corporation. We also face competition from a number of large, well-established US Government contractors such as Leidos,
Inc., CACI International Inc. and others. Our competitors may be able to provide our customers with different or greater capabilities or benefits than we can in
areas such as technical qualifications, past contract performance, geographic presence, price and the availability of qualified professional personnel. Our failure to
compete effectively because of any of these or other factors could cause our revenue and operating profits to decline. In addition, our competitors also have
established or may establish relationships among themselves or with third parties to increase their ability to address our customers’ needs. Accordingly, it is
possible that new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge that would compete with us more effectively than they do currently.
Our earnings and profitability may vary based on the mix of our contracts and may be adversely affected by our failure to accurately estimate and manage
costs, time and resources.
We generate revenue under various types of contracts, which include time and materials (T&M), fixed-price-level-of-effort, firm-fixed-price (FFP), cost
reimbursable contracts, and commercial software license and related service contracts. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , we
derived revenue from such contracts on an actual basis as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2015
Contract Type

(in millions)

Time & Materials

$

(percentage)

67.7

21.7%

Fixed-Price-Level-of-Effort

64.3

20.6%

Firm-Fixed-Price

79.5

25.5%

Cost Reimbursement

86.4

27.7%

Commercial Software License & Related Service

13.9

4.5%

Year ended December 31, 2014
Contract Type

(in millions)

Time & Materials

$

(percentage)

71.6

24.6%

Fixed-Price-Level-of-Effort

57.9

19.9%

Firm-Fixed-Price

78.6

27.0%

Cost Reimbursement

71.2

24.5%

Commercial Software License & Related Service

11.3

3.9%

Our earnings and profitability may vary materially depending on changes in the proportionate amount of revenue derived from each type of contract, the nature of
services or products provided, as well as the achievement of performance objectives and the
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stage of performance at which the right to receive fees, particularly under incentive and award fee contracts, is finally determined. Cost reimbursement and T&M
contracts generally have lower profitability than FFP contracts. Our operating results in any period may be affected, positively or negatively, by variable
purchasing patterns by our customers of our more profitable border, port and mobile security products.
To varying degrees, there is a risk that we could underestimate the costs and resources necessary to fulfill each of our contract types. While FFP contracts allow us
to benefit from cost savings, these contracts also increase our exposure to the risk of cost overruns. When making proposals on these types of contracts, we rely
heavily on our estimates of costs and timing for completing the associated projects, as well as on assumptions regarding technical issues. In each case, our failure
to accurately estimate costs or the resources and technology needed to perform our contracts or to effectively manage and control our costs during the performance
of our work could result, and in some instances has resulted, in reduced profits or in losses. More generally, any increased or unexpected costs or unanticipated
delays in connection with the performance of our contracts, including costs and delays caused by contractual disputes or other factors outside of our control, could
make our contracts less profitable or unprofitable.
Acquisitions have formed a significant part of our growth strategy in the past and we expect to continue this strategy in the future. If we are unable to identify
suitable acquisition candidates, integrate the businesses we acquire or realize the intended benefits, this aspect of our growth strategy may not succeed.
Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including risks related to integration and undisclosed or underestimated liabilities.
Historically, part of our growth strategy has relied on acquisitions. We expect to derive a portion of our growth by acquiring businesses and integrating those
businesses into our existing operations. We intend to seek acquisition opportunities both to expand into new markets and to enhance our position in our existing
markets. However, our ability to do so will depend on a number of steps, including our ability to:
•

identify suitable acquisition candidates;

•

negotiate appropriate acquisition terms;

•

obtain debt or equity financing that we may need to complete proposed acquisitions;

•

complete the proposed acquisitions; and

•

integrate the acquired business into our existing operations.

If we fail to achieve any of these steps, our growth strategy may not be successful.
In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the operations accounting systems, technologies, services and products
of the acquired company, the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company and the diversion of our management’s attention from other business
concerns. This is the case particularly in the fiscal quarters immediately following the completion of an acquisition to the extent the operations of the acquired
business are integrated into the acquiring businesses’ operations during this period. We cannot be sure that we will accurately anticipate all of the changing
demands that any future acquisition may impose on our management, our operational and management information systems, and our financial systems.
We may underestimate or fail to discover liabilities relating to a future acquisition during due diligence and we, as the successor owner, might be responsible for
any such liabilities. Although we seek to minimize the impact of underestimated or potential undiscovered liabilities by structuring acquisitions to minimize
liabilities and obtaining indemnities and warranties from the selling party, these methods may not fully protect us from the impact of undiscovered liabilities.
Indemnities or warranties are often limited in scope, amount or duration, and may not fully cover the liabilities for which they were intended. The liabilities that are
not covered by the limited indemnities or warranties could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. In addition, acquisitions can raise
potential Organizational Conflict of Interest (OCI) issues that can impact the nature and timing of the acquisition or the acquiring entity’s ability to compete for
future contracts where the acquired entity may have been involved.
We have a substantial investment in recorded goodwill as a result of our acquisitions, and changes in future business conditions could cause these investments
to become impaired, requiring substantial write-downs that could reduce our net income or increase our net loss.
As of December 31, 2015 , goodwill accounted for $305 million , or 67% of our recorded total assets on an actual basis. We review our goodwill for impairment
annually and when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. We evaluate our goodwill at the reporting unit level,
which for us is the same as our segments. The annual impairment test is based on several factors requiring judgment. Principally, a decrease in expected cash flows
or changes in market conditions may indicate potential impairment of recorded goodwill. At December 31, 2015, the fair value of our Commercial Cyber Segment
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was determined to be less than its historic carrying costs and we recorded an estimated impairment of approximately $8 million. If goodwill became further
impaired, we could record a significant charge to earnings in our financial statements during the period in which impairment of our goodwill is determined, which
would significantly reduce or eliminate our net income.
Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our substantial debt.
Our ability to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including our convertible notes, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic,
financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service
our debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as
selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness
will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on
desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.
We may require additional capital to finance our growth. If the terms on which the additional capital is available are unsatisfactory or if the additional capital
is not available at all or we are not able to fully access our existing credit facility we may not be able to pursue our growth strategy.
Our growth strategy may require additional capital investment to complete acquisitions, integrate any completed acquisitions into our existing operations, and to
expand into new markets.
To the extent that we do not generate sufficient cash internally to provide the capital we require to fund our growth strategy and future operations, we will require
additional debt or equity financing. We cannot be sure that this additional financing will be available or, if available, will be on terms acceptable to us. Further,
high volatility in the equity markets may make it difficult for us to access the equity markets for additional capital at attractive prices, if at all. If we are unable to
obtain sufficient additional capital in the future, it may limit our ability to implement our business strategy. Continued issues resulting from the current global
financial crisis and economic downturn involving liquidity and capital adequacy affecting lenders could affect our ability to fully access our existing credit
facilities. In addition, even if future debt financing is available, it may result in (1) increased interest expense, (2) increased term loan payments, (3) increased
leverage, and (4) decreased income available to fund further acquisitions and expansion. It may also limit our ability to withstand competitive pressures and make
us more vulnerable to economic downturns. If future equity financing is available, it may dilute the equity interests of our existing stockholders.
If we are unable to manage our growth, our business could be adversely affected.
Achieving our plans for growth will place significant demands on our management, as well as on our administrative, operational, and financial resources. For us to
successfully manage our growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management information systems and expand, motivate and manage
our workforce. If we are unable to successfully manage our growth without compromising the quality of our services and products, our business, prospects,
financial condition or operating results could be adversely affected.
We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management, the loss of any of whom could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.
We believe that our future performance depends on the continued services and continuing contributions of our senior management to execute our business plan,
and to identify and pursue new opportunities successfully. In addition, the relationships and reputation that many members of our senior management team have
established and maintain with federal government personnel contribute to our ability to maintain strong customer relationships. Therefore, the loss of services of
senior management could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our development and strategic objectives.
Our failure to attract, train and retain skilled employees with (or who can obtain) appropriate security clearances would adversely affect our ability to execute
our strategy.
Our business involves the development of tailored solutions for our customers, a process that relies heavily upon the expertise and services of our employees. Our
continued success depends on our ability to recruit and retain sufficient numbers of highly qualified individuals who have advanced engineering and information
technology skills, specialized knowledge of customer missions and appropriate security clearances, and who work well with our US Government customers. Due to
our growth and increased competition for experienced personnel, particularly in highly specialized areas, it has become more difficult for us to meet our needs for
these employees in a timely manner and this may affect our growth in the current fiscal year and in future years. Although we intend to continue to devote
significant resources to recruit, train and retain qualified employees, we may not be able to attract and retain these employees. Any failure to do so could impair our
ability to perform our contractual obligations efficiently and
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timely meet our customers' needs and win new business, which could adversely affect our future results. Our overall employee attrition rate for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , on an actual basis, was 15% and 17%, respectively.
In addition, the relationships and reputation that many members of our senior management team have established and maintain with US Government personnel
contribute to our ability to maintain good customer relationships and to identify new business opportunities. The loss of key personnel may impair our ability to
obtain new US Government awards or adequately perform under our current US Government contracts. We also rely on the skills and expertise of our senior
technical development personnel, the loss of any of whom could prevent us from completing current development projects and restrict new development projects.
We currently do not maintain “key person” insurance on any of our executives or key employees.
Our business depends upon obtaining and maintaining required security clearances.
Many of our federal government contracts require our employees to maintain various levels of security clearances, and we are required to maintain certain facility
security clearances complying with Department of Defense and Intelligence Community requirements. Obtaining and maintaining security clearances for
employees involves lengthy processes, and it is difficult to identify, recruit and retain employees who already hold security clearances. If our employees are unable
to obtain or retain security clearances or if our employees who hold security clearances terminate employment with us and we are unable to find replacements with
equivalent security clearances, we may be unable to perform our obligations to customers whose work requires cleared employees, or such customers could
terminate their contracts or decide not to renew them upon their expiration. In addition, we expect that many of the contracts on which we will bid will require us
to demonstrate our ability to obtain facility security clearances and perform work with employees who hold specified types of security clearances. To the extent we
are not able to obtain or retain facility security clearances or engage employees with the required security clearances for a particular contract, we may not be able to
bid on or win new contracts, maintain existing contracts or effectively re-bid on expiring contracts.
Employee misconduct, including security breaches, could cause us to lose customers or our ability to contract with the US Government.
Misconduct, fraud or other improper activities by our employees could have a significant adverse impact on our business and reputation, particularly because we
are a US Government contractor. Such misconduct could include the failure to comply with US Government procurement regulations, regulations regarding the
protection of classified information, legislation regarding the pricing of labor and other costs in US Government contracts, and any other applicable laws or
regulations. Employee or former employee misconduct involving data security lapses or breaches of confidentiality resulting in the compromise of our or our
customer’s sensitive or classified information could result in remediation costs, in regulatory sanctions against us and in serious harm to our reputation. The
precautions we take to prevent and detect these activities may not be effective, and we could face unknown risks or losses. Our failure to comply with applicable
laws or regulations or misconduct by any of our employees could subject us to fines and penalties, loss of security clearances and suspension or debarment from
contracting with the US Government, any of which would adversely affect our business and reputation.
Our quarterly operating results are likely to vary significantly and be unpredictable, which could cause the trading price of our stock to decline.
Our operating results have historically varied from period to period, and we expect that they will continue to do so as a result of a number of factors, many of
which are outside of our control, including:
•

the level of demand for our products and services;

•

the budgeting cycles and purchasing practices of our customers;

•

acquisitions of other businesses;

•

the sales cycle for our commercial products;

•

failure to accurately estimate or control costs under FFP contracts;

•

commencement, completion or termination of projects during any particular quarter; and

•

changes in senior US Government officials that affect the timing of technology procurement.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors referred to above may result in significant fluctuations in our quarterly operating
results. This variability and unpredictability could result in our failing to meet our revenue or operating results expectations or those of securities analysts or
investors for any period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our shares could fall substantially.
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Our existing senior credit facility contains financial and operating covenants that limit our operations and could lead to adverse consequences if we fail to
comply.
Our credit facility contains financial and operating covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain or satisfy specified financial ratios (including debt to
adjusted “EBITDA”, or “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock compensation and acquisition costs” ratios and cash interest coverage
ratio as further described under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and
Capital Resources — Credit Facility”), limit our ability to incur indebtedness, pay dividends or engage in certain significant business transactions, and require us to
comply with a number of other affirmative and negative operating covenants. Failure to meet these financial and operating covenants could result from, among
other things, changes in our results of operations, our incurrence of debt or changes in general economic conditions. These covenants may restrict our ability to
engage in transactions that we believe would otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders, which could harm our business and operations. In addition, our
credit facility contains several other material covenants, including a lien against our assets (including receivables), limitations on additional debt, limitations on our
ability to make acquisitions, a limitation on the payment of dividends, and restrictions on the sale, lease, or disposal of any substantial part of our assets, other than
in the normal course of business.
We have only a limited ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, which we consider important to our success. Failure to adequately protect
or enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our competitive position and cause us to incur significant expense.
We believe that our success depends, in part, upon our ability to protect our proprietary information and other intellectual property. We rely principally on trade
secrets to protect much of our intellectual property where we do not believe that patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult
to protect and to enforce against third parties. Although we believe that we have adopted reasonable practices to ensure that our employees are subject to
appropriate confidentiality obligations and to ensure that we obtain appropriate ownership rights in intellectual property developed by our employees (or by the
employees of companies that we have acquired), our practices in this regard may be insufficient, which could result in the misappropriation or disclosure of our
confidential information or disputes regarding (or the loss of rights to) certain of our intellectual property. In addition, we may be unable to detect unauthorized use
of our intellectual property or otherwise take appropriate steps to enforce our rights. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our
competitive business position. The protections that we receive for our trade secrets and other intellectual property rights may not be sufficient to prevent our
competitors from copying, infringing, or misappropriating our products and services. Similarly, there is no guarantee that when we do apply for intellectual
property protection, the applications will result in registrations sufficient to protect our rights. In addition, we cannot be certain that others will not independently
develop, design around or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior technology or intellectual property rights.
From time to time, we may seek to enforce our intellectual property rights against third parties. The fact that we have intellectual property rights may not guarantee
success in our attempts to enforce these rights against third parties. If we are unable to prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating our trade secrets or
other intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be adversely affected. Our ability and potential success in enforcing our rights is also subject to
general litigation risks, as well as uncertainty as to the enforceability of our intellectual property rights. When we seek to enforce our rights, we may be subject to
claims that our intellectual property rights are invalid, otherwise unenforceable, or are licensed to the party against whom we are asserting the claim. In addition,
our assertions of intellectual property rights may result in the other party seeking to assert various claims against us, including its own alleged intellectual property
rights, claims of unfair competition, or others. In the course of conducting our business, we may also inadvertently infringe the intellectual property rights of
others, resulting in claims against us or our customers. Our contracts generally indemnify our customers for third-party claims for intellectual property
infringement by the services and products we provide. The expense of defending these claims may adversely affect our financial results.
Our acquisitions frequently include the hiring of employees from the acquired entity. These employees may be subject to confidentiality provisions that are not
related to the acquisition and may have been exposed to third party confidential information and intellectual property that we do not have the rights to use. During
the course of their employment in our business, there is always a risk that employees may inadvertently breach confidentiality obligations or inadvertently infringe
third party intellectual property rights based on their prior employment, which could adversely affect our business.
In addition, we conduct research and development under projects with the US Government. In general, our rights to technologies we develop under those projects
are subject to the US Government’s non-exclusive, non-royalty bearing, world-wide license to use those technologies. Under certain circumstances, the US
Government could also claim rights in our intellectual property that could make it difficult to prevent disclosure to, licensing to, or use by third parties, which
could adversely affect our competitive position and business.
20

TABLE OF CONTENTS

We may become involved in intellectual property disputes, which could subject us to significant liability, divert the time and attention of our management and
prevent us from selling our products.
We, or our customers, may be a party to litigation in the future to protect our intellectual property or be required to respond to allegations that we infringe on
others’ intellectual property. If any parties assert that our products infringe upon their proprietary rights, we would be forced to defend ourselves, and possibly our
customers, against the alleged infringement, or to negotiate and possibly enter into settlement agreements that could adversely affect our intellectual property rights
or the operation of our business. If we are unsuccessful in any intellectual property litigation or enter into any dispute-related settlement, we could be subject to
significant liability and loss of our proprietary rights. Intellectual property litigation, regardless of its success, would likely be time consuming and expensive to
resolve and would divert management’s time and attention. In addition, we could be forced to do one or more of the following:
•

stop selling, incorporating or using our products that include the challenged intellectual property;

•

obtain from the owner of any infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which license may not be available on
reasonable terms, or at all, or may require us to extend a cross-license to rights under our intellectual property;

•

pay substantial damages; and/or

•

re-design those products that use the technology.

If we are forced to take any of these actions, our business could be harmed.
We rely on the availability of third-party licenses.
Certain of our products include software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties. It may be necessary in the future to renew licenses relating to
various aspects of these products or to seek new licenses for existing or new products. There can be no assurance that the necessary licenses would be available on
equivalent terms to those currently available, on other terms acceptable to us, or at all. The inability to obtain certain licenses or other rights or to obtain such
licenses or rights on favorable terms, or the need to engage in litigation regarding these matters, could result in delays in product releases until equivalent
technology can be identified, licensed or developed, if at all, and integrated into our products and may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results, and financial condition. Moreover, the inclusion in our products of software or other intellectual property licensed from third parties on a nonexclusive
basis could limit our ability to differentiate our products from those of our competitors.
Many of our contracts contain performance obligations that require innovative design capabilities, are technologically complex, require state-of-the-art
manufacturing expertise or are dependent upon factors not wholly within our control. Failure to meet these obligations could adversely affect our profitability
and future prospects.
We design, develop and manufacture technologically advanced and innovative products and services applied by our customers in a variety of environments.
Problems and delays in development or delivery as a result of issues with respect to design, technology, licensing and patent rights, labor, learning curve
assumptions or materials and components could prevent us from achieving contractual requirements.
In addition, our products cannot be tested and proven in all situations and are otherwise subject to unforeseen problems. Examples of unforeseen problems that
could negatively affect revenue and profitability include premature failure of products that cannot be accessed for repair or replacement, problems with quality,
country of origin, delivery of subcontractor components or services and unplanned degradation of product performance. Among the factors that may affect revenue
and profits could be unforeseen costs and expenses not covered by insurance or indemnification from the customer, diversion of management focus in responding
to unforeseen problems, loss of follow-on work, and, in the case of certain contracts, repayment to the US Government customer of contract cost and fee payments
we previously received.
Business disruptions could reduce our expected revenue, increase our expenses, and damage our reputation.
We rely to a large extent upon sophisticated technology systems and infrastructure. We take reasonable steps to protect them, including the implementation and use
of certain security precautions. However such systems are potentially vulnerable to breakdown, malicious intrusion, natural disaster, and random attack. A
disruption to our systems or infrastructure could damage our reputation and cause us to lose customers and revenue. This could require us to expend significant
efforts and resources or incur significant expense to eliminate these problems and address related security concerns.
In addition, as a defense contractor, we face various security threats, including cybersecurity threats to gain unauthorized access to sensitive information; threats to
the safety of our directors, officers, and employees; threats to the security of our facilities and
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infrastructure; and threats from terrorist acts. Although we utilize various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate these threats, there can be no assurance
that these procedures and controls will be sufficient to prevent security threats from materializing. If any of these events were to materialize, they could lead to
losses of sensitive information or capabilities, harm to personnel or infrastructure, or damage to our reputation, and could have a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
Reducing the level of funding our Commercial Cyber Solutions segments operating loss will have an impact on its financial results.
We have historically funded the operating losses of our Commercial Cyber Solutions segment out of the operating cash flow of the Company. We are planning to
reduce the historic levels of funding to between $5 million and $7 million annually. We have, in January 2016, reduced the annualized operating costs of this
segment by approximately $10 million through a reduction in personnel and other costs. Should this segment's products not gain sufficient market acceptance and
generate sufficient cash flows, we may be required to further reduce costs in this segment, which may adversely affect its operations and business.
If our new products, including Hawkeye G, do not achieve sufficient market acceptance, our financial results and competitive position may suffer.
We spend substantial amounts of time and money to research and develop new products and enhanced versions of our existing products to incorporate additional
features, improve functionality or incorporate other enhancements in order to meet our customers' rapidly evolving demands. When we develop a new product or
an enhanced version of an existing product, we typically incur expenses and expend resources upfront to market, promote and sell the new offering. Therefore,
when we develop and introduce new or enhanced products, they must achieve market acceptance in order to justify the amount of our investment in developing and
bringing them to market.
Our new products or enhancements could fail to attain sufficient market acceptance for many reasons, including:
•

failure to predict market demand accurately in terms of functionality and to supply products that meet demand in a timely fashion;

•

defects, errors or failures;

•

negative publicity about their performance or effectiveness;

•

delays in releasing our new products or enhancements to the market;

•

introduction or anticipated introduction of competing products by our competitors; and

•

poor business conditions for our end-customers, causing them to delay purchases.

Implementation of Hawkeye G, in particular, is in its early stages and it is difficult to predict customer adoption, customer demand, the size and growth rate of the
market, and the entry of competitive products.
If our new products or enhancements (particularly Hawkeye G) do not achieve adequate acceptance in the market, our competitive position may be impaired, and
our financial results may suffer. The adverse effect on our financial results will be directly related to the significant research, development, marketing, sales and
other expenses we will have incurred in connection with the new products or enhancements.
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Our current research and development efforts may not produce successful products or features that result in significant revenue in the near future, if at all.
Developing our products and related enhancements is expensive. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , our research and development costs totaled $19.0 million
, a 2% increase over our total research and development costs for the year ended December 31, 2014 . Our investments in research and development may not result
in significant design improvements, marketable products or features or may result in products that are more expensive than anticipated. Additionally, we may not
receive significant revenue from these investments in the near future, if at all, or these investments may not yield expected benefits, either of which could adversely
affect our business and operating results. Nevertheless, we believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to our research and
development efforts to maintain our competitive position. As a result, our future plans include significant investments in research and development and related
product opportunities. In particular, we have incurred significant research and development costs in connection with Hawkeye G, which largely accounts for the
increase described above. If Hawkeye G does not garner widespread market adoption and implementation, our financial results and competitive position could
suffer.
If we do not accurately predict, prepare for, and respond promptly to the rapidly evolving technological and market developments and changing end-customer
needs in the cybersecurity market, our competitive position and prospects will be harmed.
The cybersecurity market is expected to continue to evolve rapidly. Many of our end-customers operate in markets characterized by rapidly changing technologies
and business needs, incorporating a variety of hardware, software applications, operating systems, and networking protocols. However, some of our new products
and enhancements may require us to develop new architectures that involve complex, expensive, and time consuming research and development processes. The
technology in our products is especially complex because it needs to effectively identify and respond to new and increasingly sophisticated methods of attack, and
quickly respond to and eliminate negative impacts on network performance. As a result, although the market expects rapid introduction of new products or product
enhancements to respond to new threats, the development of these products is difficult and the timetable for commercial release and availability is uncertain as
there can be long time periods between releases and availability of new products. We may experience unanticipated delays in the availability of new products and
fail to meet customer expectations for such availability. If we do not quickly respond to the rapidly changing and rigorous needs of our end-customers by
developing, releasing, and making available on a timely basis new products or enhancements that can respond adequately to new security threats, our competitive
position and business prospects will be harmed.
Additionally, the process of developing new technology is complex and uncertain, and if we fail to accurately predict end-customers' changing needs and emerging
technological trends, our business could be harmed. There can be no assurance that we will successfully identify new product opportunities, develop and bring new
products to market in a timely manner, or achieve market acceptance of our products, or that products and technologies developed by others will not render our
products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.
If functionality similar to that offered by our products is incorporated into existing network infrastructure products, organizations may decide against adding
our products to their systems, which would have an adverse effect on our business.
Large, well-established providers of networking equipment offer, and may continue to introduce, network security features that compete with our products, either
in stand-alone security products or as additional features in their network infrastructure products. The inclusion of, or the announcement of an intent to include,
functionality perceived to be similar to that offered by our security solutions in networking products that are already generally accepted as necessary components
of network architecture may have an adverse effect on our ability to market and sell our products. Furthermore, even if the functionality offered by network
infrastructure providers is more limited than our products, a significant number of end-customers may elect to accept such limited functionality in lieu of adding
platforms from an additional vendor such as us. Many organizations have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to design and operate their
networks and have established deep relationships with other providers of networking products, which may make them reluctant to add new components to their
networks, particularly from other vendors such as us. In addition, an organization's existing vendors or new vendors with a broad product offering may be able to
offer concessions that we are not able to match because we currently offer only network security products and have fewer resources than many of our competitors.
If organizations are reluctant to add additional network infrastructure from new vendors or otherwise decide to work with their existing vendors, our ability to
increase our market share and improve our financial condition and operating results will be adversely affected.
If our products do not interoperate with our end-customers' infrastructure, sales of our products could be negatively affected, which would harm our business.
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Our products must interoperate with our end-customers' existing infrastructure, which often have different specifications, utilize multiple protocol standards,
deploy products from multiple vendors, and contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time. As a result, when problems occur in a
network, it may be difficult to identify the sources of these problems. Any delays in identifying the sources of problems or in providing necessary modifications to
our software or hardware could have a negative impact on our reputation and our end-customers' satisfaction with our products, and our ability to sell products
could be adversely affected. In addition, US Government and other end-customers may require our products to comply with certain security or other certifications
and standards. If our products are late in achieving or fail to achieve compliance with these certifications and standards, or our competitors achieve compliance
with these certifications and standards, we may be disqualified from selling our products to such end-customers, or at a competitive disadvantage, which would
harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Defects, errors, or vulnerabilities in our products or the failure of our products to block a virus or prevent a security breach could harm our reputation and
adversely impact our results of operations.
Our products may experience technical failures and downtime, we may fail to distribute appropriate updates, or we may fail to meet the increased requirements of a
growing end-customer base, any of which could temporarily or permanently expose our end-customers' networks, leaving their networks unprotected against the
latest security threats. Because our products are complex, they have contained and may contain design or manufacturing defects or errors that are not detected until
after their commercial release and deployment by our end-customers. Additionally, defects may cause our products to be vulnerable to security attacks, cause them
to fail to help secure networks or temporarily interrupt end-customers' networking traffic. Moreover, because the techniques used by computer hackers to access or
sabotage networks change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques and provide
a solution in time to protect our end-customers' networks. Furthermore, our products could be targeted by attacks specifically designed to disrupt our business and
harm our reputation.
Any defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products could result in:
•

expenditure of significant financial and product development resources in efforts to analyze, correct, eliminate, or work-around errors or defects or to
address and eliminate vulnerabilities;

•

loss of existing or potential customers;

•

delayed or lost revenue;

•

delay or failure to attain market acceptance; and

•

litigation, regulatory inquiries, or investigations that may be costly and harm our reputation.

False detection of applications, viruses, spyware, vulnerability exploits, data patterns or URL categories could adversely affect our business.
Our classifications of application type, virus, spyware, vulnerability exploits, data or URL categories may falsely detect applications, content or threats that do not
actually exist. This risk is heightened by the inclusion of a “heuristics” feature in our products, which attempts to identify applications and other threats not based
on any known signatures but based on characteristics or anomalies which indicate that a particular item may be a threat. These false positives, while typical in our
industry, may impair the perceived reliability of our products and may therefore adversely impact market acceptance of our products. If our products restrict
important files or applications based on falsely identifying them as malware or some other item that should be restricted, this could adversely affect end-customers'
systems and cause material system failures. Any such false identification of important files or applications could result in damage to our reputation, negative
publicity, loss of end-customers and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem, and costly litigation.
Our efforts to implement strategic alternatives for our Commercial Cyber Solutions business may not be successful.
In February 2016, we announced we were exploring strategic alternatives for our Commercial Cyber Solutions business, which may include a sale of, or outside
investment in, all or part of the business. There is no guarantee that our strategic alternatives process will result in the receipt of offers for, or in transactions with
respect to, the Commercial Cyber Solutions business at acceptable valuation levels or at all, or which investors will view favorably. There also is no guarantee that
any transaction with respect to the business will be completed in a timely manner or at all. We also announced that in the event we determine to keep the
Commercial Cyber Solutions business within KEYW, we plan to limit the amount of future investment in the business. There is no guarantee that such measures
will result in improved financial performance of the business. The results of our strategic
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alternatives process for the Commercial Cyber Solutions business may have an adverse impact on our results of operations or on the market price for our common
stock.
Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock may be subject to wide fluctuations.
The market price of our common stock is subject to significant fluctuations. Among the factors that could affect our common stock price are the risks described in
this “Risk Factors” section and other factors, including:
•

quarterly variations in our operating results compared to market expectations;

•

changes in expectations as to our future financial performance, including financial estimates or reports by securities analysts;

•

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

•

liquidity and activity in the market for our common stock;

•

actual or expected sales of our common stock by our stockholders, including any of our significant stockholders;

•

strategic moves by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

•

general market conditions;

•

future sales of our common stock; and

•

domestic and international economic, legal and regulatory factors unrelated to our performance.

As a result of the existence of one or more of these factors, the price of our common stock may be subject to wide fluctuations.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume
could decline.
The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. If we do
not maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research
about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly,
demand for our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.
Provisions in our organizational documents and in Maryland law may inhibit potential acquisition bids that our stockholders may consider favorable, and the
market price of our common stock may be lower as a result.
Our charter and bylaws contain provisions that may have an anti-takeover effect and inhibit a change in our board of directors and management. These provisions
include the following:
•

Our charter permits our board of directors to issue preferred stock with terms that may discourage a third party from acquiring us. Our charter permits
our board of directors to issue up to 5 million shares of preferred stock, having preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions,
limitations as to distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption as determined by our board of directors. Our board of directors could
authorize the issuance of preferred stock with terms and conditions that could have the effect of discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which
holders of some or a majority of our shares might receive a premium for their shares over the then-prevailing market price; and

•

Our charter and bylaws contain other possible anti-takeover provisions . Our charter and bylaws contain other provisions that may have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change-of-control or the removal of existing directors and, as a result, could prevent our stockholders from being paid
a premium for their common stock over the then-prevailing market price. These provisions include the advance notice requirements for stockholder
proposals and director nominations.

In addition, Maryland law provides protection for Maryland corporations against unsolicited takeovers by limiting, among other things, the duties of the directors
in unsolicited takeover situations. The duties of directors of Maryland corporations do not require them to:
•

accept, recommend or respond to any proposal by a person seeking to acquire control of the corporation;
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•

authorize the corporation to redeem any rights under, or modify or render inapplicable, any stockholder rights plan;

•

make a determination under the Maryland Business Combination Act or the Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act; or

•

act or fail to act solely because of the effect that the act or failure to act might have on an acquisition or potential acquisition of control of the corporation
or the amount or type of consideration that may be offered or paid to the stockholders in an acquisition.

Maryland law also contains a statutory presumption that an act of a director of a Maryland corporation satisfies the applicable standards of conduct for directors
under Maryland law.
Any one or more of these provisions, singularly or together, may have an anti-takeover effect that discourages potential acquisition bids that our stockholders may
consider favorable.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to document and test our internal control over financial reporting and also requires our
independent registered public accounting firm to report on the operating effectiveness of these controls. Failures delays or difficulty in satisfying these
requirements could adversely affect our future results of operations and our stock price.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to document and test the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with an established internal control framework and to report on our conclusions as to the effectiveness of our internal controls. It also requires our independent
registered public accounting firm to test our internal control over financial reporting and report on the effectiveness of such controls. In addition, we are required
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, to maintain disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting.
As described under Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures,” we have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting related to controls
with respect to the design and operation of a long-term forecast used to support our valuation of long-lived assets, monitoring activities for identification of errors
in inventory valuation, and the design and operation of software revenue recognition in accordance with US GAAP. Under standards established by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, a material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
As of the date of this filing we have initiated remedial measures, but these new and enhanced controls have not operated for a sufficient amount of time to conclude
that the material weaknesses have been remediated. To implement these remedial measures, we may need to commit significant resources, hire additional staff, and
provide additional management oversight. These activities may divert management’s attention from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Further, if our remedial measures are insufficient to address the material
weaknesses, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements, and we could be required to restate our financial results. In addition, if we
are unable to successfully remediate these material weaknesses and if we are unable to produce accurate and timely financial statements, our stock price may be
adversely affected and we may be unable to maintain compliance with applicable stock exchange listing requirements.
We may, in the future, discover other areas of our internal controls that need improvement, particularly with respect to businesses that we may acquire. If so, we
cannot be certain that any remedial measures we take will ensure that we have adequate internal controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future.
Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could harm our operating results or cause us to fail
to meet our reporting obligations. If we are unable to conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, or if our independent registered
public accounting firm is unable to provide us with an unqualified report regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in future
periods, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements. This could result in a decrease in the value of our common stock. Failure to
comply with Section 404 could potentially subject us to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, the NASDAQ Global Select Market or other regulatory authorities.
Operational risks such as material weaknesses and other deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting could result in errors, potentially requiring
restatements of our historical financial data, leading investors to lose confidence in our reported results.
There are a number of factors that may impede our efforts to establish and maintain effective internal controls and a sound accounting infrastructure, including our
recent history of acquisitions (including acquisitions of companies audited by auditors other than our own), our own change of auditors, our rapid pace of growth,
and general uncertainty regarding the operating effectiveness and
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sustainability of controls. Controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, provide only reasonable assurance that material errors in our
financial statements will be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Any failure to establish and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting
increases the risk of material error and/or delay in our financial reporting. Depending on the nature of a failure and any required remediation, ineffective controls
could have a material adverse effect on our business and potentially result in restatements of our historical financial results. Financial restatements or other issues
arising from ineffective controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which would have an adverse effect on the
trading price of our securities. Delays in meeting our financial reporting obligations could affect our ability to maintain the listing of our securities. Although we
seek to reduce these risks through active efforts relating to properly documented processes, adequate systems, risk culture, compliance with regulations, corporate
governance and other factors supporting internal controls, such procedures may not be effective in limiting each of the operational risks.
Risks Relating to Our Convertible Notes
We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle conversions of the notes or to repurchase the notes upon a fundamental change, and our
revolving credit facility contains limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion or repurchase of the notes.
The terms of our convertible notes require us to repurchase convertible notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a fundamental change repurchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. Upon conversion, unless we elect to deliver
solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we will be required to make cash
payments in respect of the notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to
make repurchases of convertible notes surrendered therefor or being converted. In addition, our ability to repurchase convertible notes or to pay cash upon
conversion may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements governing our future indebtedness, including our revolving credit facility. Our failure
to repurchase convertible notes at a time when the repurchase is required by the indenture or to pay any cash payable on future conversions of the notes as required
by the indenture would constitute a default under the indenture. A default under the indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under
agreements governing our future indebtedness, including our revolving credit facility. If the repayment of the related indebtedness were to be accelerated after any
applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness and repurchase the convertible notes or make cash payments upon
conversions thereof.
Our senior secured credit facility limits our ability to pay any cash amount upon the conversion of the notes.
Our senior secured credit facility prohibits us from making any cash payments on the conversion of the notes if a default or an event of default exists under that
facility or if, after giving effect to such cash payment (and any additional indebtedness incurred to make such payments), we would not be in pro forma compliance
with our financial covenants. Any new credit facility that we may enter into may have similar restrictions.
The notes are not protected by restrictive covenants.
The indenture governing the convertible notes does not contain any financial or operating covenants or restrictions on the payments of dividends, the incurrence of
indebtedness or the issuance or repurchase of securities by us or any of our subsidiaries. The indenture contains no covenants or other provisions to afford
protection to holders of the notes in the event of a fundamental change or other corporate transaction involving us except in limited circumstances.
The capped call transactions may affect the value of the notes and our common stock.
In connection with the pricing of the notes, we entered into capped call transactions with the option counterparties. The capped call transactions are expected to
reduce the potential dilution and/or offset any cash payments due in excess of the principal amount of converted notes, as the case may be, upon any conversion of
the notes, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap. In connection with establishing their initial hedge of the capped call transactions, the option
counterparties and/or their respective affiliates entered into various derivative transactions with respect to our common stock. This activity or any reduction in such
continued activity could affect the market price of our common stock or the convertible notes.
In addition, the option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives with
respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the
convertible notes. This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our common stock or the convertible notes, which could
affect our ability to convert the notes and, to the extent the activity occurs during any observation period related to a conversion of notes, it could affect the number
of shares issuable upon conversion of the notes.
The notes are effectively subordinated to our secured debt and any liabilities of our subsidiaries.
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The convertible notes rank:
•

senior in right of payment to any of our indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the notes;

•

equal in right of payment to any of our liabilities that are not so subordinated;

•

effectively junior in right of payment to any of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and

•

structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of our subsidiaries.

In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other winding up, our assets that secure debt ranking senior in right of payment to the convertible
notes will be available to pay obligations on the notes only after the secured debt has been repaid in full from these assets. There may not be sufficient assets
remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the notes then outstanding. The indenture governing the notes does not prohibit us from incurring additional senior
debt or secured debt, nor does it prohibit any of our subsidiaries from incurring additional liabilities.
As of December 31, 2015 , our total consolidated indebtedness was $149.5 million, all of which was secured indebtedness of our subsidiary, The KEYW
Corporation, to which the convertible notes are structurally subordinated.
Item 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2.

PROPERTIES

We lease locations listed in the table below. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current business needs; however we will continue to seek additional
space as needed in accordance with our growth or to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of operations.
Location

Square Feet

Lease Expiration Date

Segment

2800 Campus Drive, Suite 150
San Mateo, CA 94403

10,020

7/31/2016 Commercial Cyber Solutions

700 Brooker Creek Blvd. Suite 1400
Oldsmar, Florida 34677

12,800

9/30/2020

Government Solutions

12633 Challenger Parkway, Suite 270
Orlando, FL 23826

5,557

9/30/2019

Government Solutions

7740 Milestone Parkway, Suites 150-500*
Hanover, Maryland 21076

122,312

7880 Milestone Parkway, Suites 100-300
Hanover, Maryland 21076

88,490

10/31/2025

Government Solutions

7763 Old Telegraph Road
Severn, Maryland 21144

34,429

4/30/2017

Government Solutions

7767 Old Telegraph Road Suites 1-10
Severn, Maryland 21144

44,956

4/30/2018

Government Solutions

7471 Candlewood Road, Suites 104R-112
Hanover, Maryland 21076

10,998

1/31/2018

Government Solutions

250 Clarke Street
North Andover, Massachusetts 01845

19,280

3/31/2023

Government Solutions

2900 Fairview Park Drive, Suite 300
Falls Church, Virginia 22042

18,051

12/15/2018

Government Solutions

5,000

2/28/2020

Government Solutions

1415 Research Park Drive,
Beavercreek, Ohio 45432
*

Headquarters

Item 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings as of March 15, 2016 .

Item 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASE OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
On October 1, 2010, the Company’s common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “KEYW”. The following table sets forth the
range of high and low intra-day sales prices of KEYW’s common stock for the periods indicated.
High

Low

Year Ended December 31, 2015:
First Quarter

$

10.68

$

7.01

Second Quarter

$

12.59

$

6.78

Third Quarter

$

10.29

$

5.95

Fourth Quarter

$

8.44

$

5.23

First Quarter

$

23.09

$

13.26

Second Quarter

$

19.71

$

9.71

Third Quarter

$

14.41

$

10.44

Fourth Quarter

$

11.85

$

8.70

Year Ended December 31, 2014:

On March 7, 2016, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market was $7.19 per share.
Holders
As of March 7, 2016, there were approximately 447 registered holders of record of our common stock. The number of holders of record does not reflect the number
of beneficial holders whose shares are held by depositories, brokers or nominees.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our credit facility limits our ability
to pay dividends in most circumstances.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On October 1, 2015, pursuant to the commencement of William J. Weber’s employment as our CEO, and in accordance with the terms of the Employment
Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2015, between The KEYW Corporation and Mr. Weber, we issued Mr. Weber (i) 100,000 restricted shares of the Company’s
common stock as a sign-on inducement, and (ii) the right to acquire up to an aggregate of 400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock as a long-term incentive
inducement, which shares will be granted during the five year period following October 1, 2015, in the amounts set forth below, provided the Company’s stock
price exceeds the applicable target share prices set forth below for at least 30 consecutive trading days.
Target Price Per Share

Long-Term Incentive Shares

$13.00

50,000

$16.00

50,000

$20.00

100,000

$25.00

100,000

$30.00

100,000

Mr. Weber’s sign-on shares will vest as follows: (i) 50,000 shares on October 1, 2016; (ii) 25,000 shares on October 1, 2018, and (iii) 25,000 shares on October 1,
2019. The long-term incentive shares will be subject to a two-year holding period following the grant date. The granting and vesting of the above-described
inducement shares will be contingent upon Mr. Weber’s continued employment with KEYW, subject to acceleration upon certain events.
The securities described above were offered and sold pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, which provides an exemption for
transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2015 with respect to compensation plans under which equity securities of the Company are
authorized for issuance.

Plan Category

Number of Securities to be
Issued upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights
(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders

2,332,889

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders)
TOTAL

Weighted-Average Exercise
Price of Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights (b)

$

11.61

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance (Excluding
Column (a)) (c) (1)

991,990

—

—

2,332,889

991,990

(1) The 2013 Stock Incentive Plan, which took effect on January 1, 2013, replaced the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan and provides for the issuance of additional
restricted stock, stock options, and restricted stock units. Pursuant to an amendment approved by the Company’s shareholders on August 12, 2015, the number
of shares available for issuance under the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan was increased by 700,000 shares to a maximum of 2,700,000 shares.
Performance Graph
The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock (traded under the symbol “KEYW”) from October 1,
2010 through December 31, 2015 , to two indices: the Russell 2000 Index and the NASDAQ Composite Index. In addition, the graph illustrates the performance of
a peer group consisting of NCI Inc. (NCIT), ICF International, Inc. (ICFI), Mercury Computer Systems, Inc. (MRCY) and Kratos Defense & Security Solutions,
Inc. (KTOS). These peers, while not direct competitors, were selected because they are comparable in such factors as annual revenue, market capitalization and
number of employees. We believe that the stock performance of the selected peer group is a relevant comparison for investors. The graph assumes an initial
investment of $100 on October 1, 2010 in The KEYW Holding Corporation common stock, each of the two indices and the peer group, each assuming dividend
reinvestment. The comparisons in the graph are required by the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible
future performance of our common stock.
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Item 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables contain selected historical financial data for us for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .
The selected consolidated financial data presented should be read together with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Item 15 of this Annual Report.

Year ended Dec.
31, 2015

Year ended Dec.
31, 2014 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2013 (1)

$

$

Year ended Dec.
31, 2012 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2011

$

$

(In thousands)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

$

Working Capital (Deficit)

21,227

39,601

2,480

5,639

1,294

62,951

85,353

15,802

17,777

(16,344)

Total Assets

453,405

466,653

428,052

447,464

264,090

Long-Term Obligations

164,972

133,771

71,236

86,492

15,383

Total Stockholders' Equity

251,825

299,218

299,491

300,867

180,659

Year ended Dec.
31, 2015

Year ended Dec.
31, 2014 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2013 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2012 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2011

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue

$

Gross Profit

311,810

$

290,574

$

298,732

$

243,520

$

190,587

99,590

95,173

99,512

83,793

56,637

Net Operating (Loss) Income

(26,766)

(13,353)

(10,816)

2,925

1,828

Net (Loss) Income

(58,622)

(13,535)

(11,219)

854

535

(1.51)

(0.36)

(0.31)

0.03

0.02

(Loss) Earnings per Share of Common Stock-basic
(Loss) Earnings per Share of Common Stock-diluted

(1.51)

Adjusted EBITDA

9,286

(0.36)
13,184

(0.31)
26,477

0.03

0.02

32,710

20,569

(1) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information.
Adjusted EBITDA as defined by us is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, or US GAAP. The Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation tables below provide reconciliations of this non-US GAAP financial measure to net income (loss),
the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with US GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an
alternative to net income, operating income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with US GAAP. Our adjusted
EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because other companies may not calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled
measures in the same manner as we do. We prepare adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact of items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating
performance. We encourage you to evaluate these adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate.
We believe adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance for the following reasons:
•

we have various non-recurring transactions and expenses that directly impact our net income. Adjusted EBITDA is intended to approximate the net cash
provided by operations by adjusting for non-recurring, non-operational items; and

•

securities analysts use adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to evaluate the overall operating performance of companies.

Our board of directors and management use adjusted EBITDA:
•

as a measure of operating performance;

•

to determine a significant portion of management’s incentive compensation;
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•

for planning purposes, including the preparation of our annual operating budget; and

•

to evaluate the effectiveness of our business strategies.

Although adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by investors and securities analysts in their evaluations of companies, adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an
analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results of operations as reported under US GAAP. Some of these
limitations are:
•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or other contractual commitments;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest expense or interest income;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requirements for income taxes;

•

adjusted EBITDA does not include non-cash expenses related to stock compensation;

•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated or amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and
adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for these replacements; and

•

other companies in our industry may calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a
comparative measure.

Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation
Year ended Dec.
31, 2015

Year ended Dec.
31, 2014 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2013 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2012 (1)

Year ended Dec.
31, 2011

$

$

(In thousands)
Net (Loss) Income

$

Depreciation
Intangible Amortization
Stock Based Compensation
Interest Expense, net
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

(2)

Public Offering, Acquisition and Other Nonrecurring Costs
Adjusted EBITDA

(3)

(58,622)

$

$

(11,219)

854

535

7,461

6,275

4,369

2,082

11,449

12,162

24,658

21,411

13,410

5,524

6,421

5,731

3,024

2,829

10,299

8,934

3,508

2,307

907

21,598

(8,622)

(9,389)

10,638
$

(13,535)

8,400

9,286

363
$

13,184

(193)

6,913
$

26,477

218

938
$

32,710

588
$

20,569

(1) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information.
(2) The income tax expense (benefit) for 2015 included a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
(3) The other non-recurring items include the following: for 2015 a preliminary non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge to the Commercial Cyber Solutions
segment and for 2013 a legal settlement.
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The following tables contain selected historical financial data by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 .
2015
Three
Months
Ended
Mar. 31 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
June 30

2014
Three
Months
Ended
Sept. 30

Three
Months
Ended
Dec. 31

Three
Months
Ended
Mar. 31 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
June 30 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
Sept. 30 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
Dec. 31 (3)

(In thousands, except per share data and unaudited)

Revenue

$

71,634

$

78,387

$

81,098

$

80,691

$

63,807

$

74,229

$

78,969

$

73,569

Gross Profit

22,043

25,786

25,657

26,104

21,492

23,849

26,494

23,338

Net Operating Loss

(6,805)

(3,902)

(5,545)

(10,514)

(4,350)

(1,683)

(1,898)

(5,422)

Net Loss

(5,847)

(31,676)

(8,004)

(13,095)

(3,346)

(1,840)

(3,133)

(5,216)

Loss per Share of Common
Stock-basic

(0.15)

(0.83)

(0.20)

(0.33)

(0.09)

(0.05)

(0.08)

(0.14)

Loss per Share of Common
Stock-diluted

(0.15)

(0.83)

(0.20)

(0.33)

(0.09)

(0.05)

(0.08)

(0.14)

562

4,489

672

3,563

2,222

4,896

4,852

1,214

Three
Months
Ended
Sept. 30 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
Dec. 31 (3)

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation
2015
Three
Months
Ended
Mar. 31 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
June 30 (3)

2014
Three
Months
Ended
Sept. 30

Three
Months
Ended
Dec. 31

Three
Months
Ended
Mar. 31 (3)

Three
Months
Ended
June 30 (3)

(In thousands and unaudited)

Net Loss

$

(5,847)

$

(31,676)

$

(8,004)

$

(13,095)

$

(3,346)

$

(1,840)

$

(3,133)

$

(5,216)

Depreciation

1,944

2,004

2,159

2,293

1,820

1,916

1,812

1,913

Intangible Amortization

3,070

3,062

2,944

2,373

3,125

2,934

3,029

3,074

Stock Compensation
Amortization

1,189

2,110

1,090

1,135

1,624

1,678

1,751

1,368

Interest Expense

2,543

2,566

2,582

2,608

858

1,220

4,348

2,508

(3,501)

25,225

(1,041)

(3,006)

(2,714)

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

(1)

Acquisition and Other
Nonrecurring Costs (2)
Adjusted EBITDA

1,164
$

562

(103)

1,198
$

4,489

(23)

4
$

672

(1,861)

8,272
$

3,563

2
$

2,222

29
$

4,896

51
$

4,852

281
$

1,214

(1) The income tax expense (benefit) for the three months ended June 30, 2015 included a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
(2) The other non-recurring items include for the three months ended December 31, 2015 a preliminary non-cash pre-tax goodwill impairment charge to the
Commercial Cyber Solutions segment.
(3) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information. The effects of the revision on our quarterly information were as follows:
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First Quarter 2015
As Previously
Reported

Second Quarter 2015

Adjustment

As Revised

As Previously
Reported

Adjustment (4)

As Revised

(In thousands, except per share data and unaudited)

Revenue

$

71,634

$

—

$

71,634

$

78,387

$

—

—

22,043

Net Operating Loss

(7,230)

425

(6,805)

(3,902)

—

(3,902)

Net Loss

(6,102)

255

(5,847)

(35,267)

3,591

(31,676)

Loss per Share of Common Stock-basic

(0.16)

—

(0.16)

(0.92)

0.09

(0.83)

Loss per Share of Common Stock-diluted

(0.16)

—

(0.16)

(0.92)

0.09

137

425

562

4,489

First Quarter 2014
As Previously
Reported

—

78,387

22,043

Adjusted EBITDA (3)

23,849

$

Gross Profit

23,849

(0.83)

—

4,489

Second Quarter 2014

Adjustment

As Revised

As Previously
Reported

Adjustment

As Revised

(In thousands, except per share data and unaudited)

Revenue

$

63,807

$

—

$

63,807

$

74,229

$

—

$

74,229

Gross Profit

21,492

—

21,492

23,849

—

23,849

Net Operating Loss

(3,888)

(462)

(4,350)

(1,487)

(196)

(1,683)

Net Loss

(3,076)

(270)

(3,346)

(1,730)

(110)

(1,840)

Loss per Share of Common Stock-basic

(0.08)

(0.01)

(0.09)

(0.05)

—

(0.05)

Loss per Share of Common Stock-diluted

(0.08)

(0.01)

(0.09)

(0.05)

—

(0.05)

2,418

(196)

2,222

5,092

(196)

4,896

Adjusted EBITDA

(3)

Third Quarter 2014
As Previously
Reported

Fourth Quarter 2014

Adjustment

As Revised

As Previously
Reported

Adjustment

As Revised

(In thousands, except per share data and unaudited)

Revenue

$

78,969

$

—

$

78,969

$

73,525

$

44

$

73,569

Gross Profit

26,494

—

26,494

23,294

44

23,338

Net Operating Loss

(1,702)

(196)

(1,898)

(5,111)

(311)

(5,422)

Net Loss

(3,022)

(111)

(3,133)

(5,036)

(180)

(5,216)

(0.08)

—

(0.08)

(0.13)

(0.01)

(0.14)

Loss per Share of Common Stock-basic
Loss per Share of Common Stock-diluted

(0.08)

—

(0.08)

(0.13)

(0.01)

(0.14)

Adjusted EBITDA (3)

5,048

(196)

4,852

1,525

(311)

1,214

(3) Our previously reported quarterly Adjusted EBITDA was impacted by our corrections of immaterial errors as follows:
First Quarter
2015

Second
Quarter 2015

255

3,591

—

—

First Quarter
2014

Second
Quarter 2014

Third Quarter
2014

Fourth
Quarter 2014

(In thousands, except per share data and unaudited)

Net Loss
Intangible Amortization
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

170

Adjusted EBITDA

425

(3,591)
—

(270)

(110)

(111)

(180)

266

—

—

—

(192)

(86)

(86)

(131)

(196)

(196)

(197)

(311)

(4) In the second quarter of 2015, the Company recorded an addition to its deferred tax valuation allowance of $3.6 million.
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Item 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) is provided in addition to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements and notes to assist readers in understanding our results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. MD&A is organized as follows:
•

Executive Level Overview. Discussion of our business and overall analysis of financial and other highlights affecting our company in order to provide
context for the remainder of MD&A and our overall strategy.

•

Critical Accounting Policies. Accounting estimates that we believe are most important to understanding the assumptions and judgments incorporated in
our reported financial results and forecasts.

•

Results of Operations. An analysis of our segmented financial results comparing 2015 to 2014 and comparing 2014 to 2013 .

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources. An analysis of changes in our balance sheets and cash flows, and discussion of our financial condition and sources of
and needs for liquidity.

•

Contractual Obligations and Commitments; Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements. Overview of contractual obligations, contingent liabilities, commitments,
and off-balance-sheet arrangements outstanding as of December 31, 2015 .

Forward-Looking Statements
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and our
future results that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. These statements are
based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the industries in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management.
Words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “targets,” “goals,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “continues,” “endeavors,” “strives,”
“may,” variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. In addition, any statements that refer to
projections of our future financial performance, our anticipated growth and trends in our businesses, and other characterizations of future events or circumstances
are forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions that are difficult to predict, including those identified below, as well as under “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. You should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forwardlooking statements for any reason.
Executive Level Overview
We provide mission-critical cybersecurity, cyber superiority and geospatial intelligence solutions to US Government defense, intelligence and national security
agencies and commercial enterprises. Our core capabilities include solutions, services and products to support the collection, processing, analysis, and use of
intelligence data and information in the domains of cyberspace and geospace. Our solutions are designed to respond to meet the critical needs for agile intelligence
in the cyber age and to assist the US government in national security priorities. See “Item 1 - Business” for a detailed description of our business.
During 2015, we continued to establish the Company as a viable and competitive entity within our target markets. We grew our prime contract base and further
expanded our footprint into the commercial technology sector. We intend to continue our acquisition strategy as we find the right complementary companies at the
right price.
Our 2016 focuses are: (1) re-accelerating our organic growth rate, (2) winning new business, and (3) investing in internal technology research and development
initiatives to position the company for continued growth in the longer term. KEYW has a meaningful presence in two of the 17 organizations that make up the U.S.
Intelligence Community to include the Officer of the Director of National Intelligence and a nominal presence in three other agencies. A key growth strategy for
the company is to leverage the unique capabilities we have developed in our core customers to expand into the agencies where KEYW does not have a significant
presence. We believe the capabilities we have developed for current customers will be attractive to a large percentage of the Intelligence Community, enabling a
significant growth opportunity for KEYW.
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Critical Accounting Policies
The following are the critical accounting policies that require us to make sensitive estimates and assumptions, or that regard matters where further detail will assist
the reader in better understanding our business and the results of our operations. We have additional accounting policies included in our audited financial
statements contained in Item 15 of this Form 10-K.
The policies that we have included below include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Revenue Recognition
Inventories
Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)
Goodwill
Intangibles
Income Taxes
Share-Based Compensation

Revenue Recognition
We derive the majority of our revenue from time-and-materials, firm-fixed-price, cost-plus-fixed-fee, cost-plus-award-fee contracts and software licensing and
maintenance.
Revenues from cost reimbursable contracts are recorded as reimbursable costs are incurred, including an estimated share of the applicable contractual fees earned.
For performance-based fees under cost reimbursable contracts, we recognize the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the client at the time such
fee can be reasonably estimated, based on factors such as prior award experience and communications with the client regarding performance. For cost reimbursable
contracts with performance-based fee incentives, we recognize the relevant portion of the fee upon customer approval. For time-and-materials contracts, revenue is
recognized based on billable rates times hours delivered plus materials and other reimbursable costs incurred. For firm-fixed-price service contracts, revenue is
recognized using the proportional performance based on the estimated total costs of the project. For fixed-price production contracts, revenue and cost are
recognized at a rate per unit as the units are delivered or by other methods to measure services provided. This method of accounting requires estimating the total
revenues and total contract costs of the contract. During the performance of contracts, these estimates are periodically reviewed and revisions are made as required.
The impact on revenue and contract profit as a result of these revisions is included in the periods in which the revisions are made. This method can result in the
deferral of costs or the deferral of profit on these contracts. Because we assume the risk of performing a fixed-price contract at a set price, the failure to accurately
estimate ultimate costs or to control costs during performance of the work could result, and in some instances has resulted, in reduced profits or losses on such
contracts. Estimated losses on contracts at completion are recognized when identified.
Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation. Examples of estimates include the contemplated level of effort to accomplish the tasks under the
contract, the cost of the effort, and an ongoing assessment of our progress toward completing the contract. From time to time, as part of our management processes,
facts develop that require us to revise our estimated total costs or revenue. To the extent that a revised estimate affects contract profit or revenue previously
recognized, we record the cumulative effect of the revision in the period in which the facts requiring the revision become known.
In certain circumstances, and based on correspondence with the end customer, management authorizes work to commence or to continue on a contract option,
addition or amendment prior to the signing of formal modifications or amendments. We recognize revenue to the extent it is probable that the formal modifications
or amendments will be finalized in a timely manner and that it is probable that the revenue recognized will be collected.
The Company recognizes software licenses, maintenance or related professional services revenue only when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
delivery to the customer has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.
Revenue from software arrangements is allocated to each element of the arrangement based on the relative fair values of the elements, such as software licenses,
upgrades, enhancements, maintenance contract types and type of service delivered, installation or training. The determination of fair value is based on objective
evidence that is specific to the vendor (“VSOE”). The Company determines VSOE for each element based on historical stand-alone sales to third parties for the
elements contained in the initial agreement. In determining VSOE, the Company requires that a substantial majority of the selling process fall within a fairly
narrow pricing range. The Company has established VSOE of fair value for maintenance and professional services. If VSOE of fair value for each element of the
arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the arrangement is deferred until such time as VSOE of fair value exists or until all elements of the arrangement are
delivered, except in those circumstances in which the residual method may be used as described below.
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Some software products are licensed on a perpetual basis. In addition, the Company provides maintenance under a separate maintenance agreement, typically for
twelve months. Maintenance includes technical support and unspecified software upgrades and enhancements if and when available. Revenue from perpetual
software licenses is recognized under the relative selling price method, as noted above, for arrangements in which the software is sold with maintenance and/or
professional services. When software is licensed on a subscription basis, revenue is recognized ratably over the length of the subscription, typically one to three
years.
Software arrangements that also include hardware where the relative hardware and software components are both essential to the functionality are accounted for
under ASC 605-25, “Multiple Element Arrangements”. As such, we allocate revenue to each unit of accounting based on an estimated selling price at the
arrangement inception. The estimated selling price for each element is based upon the following hierarchy: VSOE of selling price, if available, third-party evidence
("TPE') of selling price if VSOE of selling price is not available, or best estimate of selling price ("BESP") if neither VSOE of selling price nor TPE of selling
price are available. The total arrangement consideration is allocated to each separate unit of accounting using the relative estimated selling prices of each unit based
on the aforementioned selling price hierarchy. We limit the amount of revenue recognized for delivered elements to an amount that is not contingent upon future
delivery of additional products or services or meeting of any specified performance conditions.
To determine the estimated selling price in multiple element arrangements, the Company determines VSOE for each element based on historical stand-alone sales
to third parties for the elements contained in the initial agreement, as noted above. If VSOE of selling price cannot be established for a deliverable, we establish
TPE of selling price by evaluating similar and interchangeable competitor products or services in standalone arrangements with similarly situated partners.
However, as our products contain a significant element of proprietary technology and offer substantially different features and functionality from our competitors,
we are unable to obtain comparable pricing of our competitors’ products with similar functionality on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, we have not been able to
obtain reliable evidence of TPE of selling price. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price can be established for a deliverable, we establish BESP primarily based
on our pricing model and our go-to-market strategy.
All revenue is net of intercompany adjustments.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Our inventory consists of specialty products that we manufacture on a limited quantity basis for our
customers. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we had inventory reserve balances of $0.1 million and $0.2 million respectively, for certain products where the
market has not developed as expected.
Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)
The Company follows the provisions of FASB ASC topic 360-10-35, Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets in accounting for long-lived assets such as
property and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization. The guidance requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The possibility of impairment exists if the sum of the long-term
undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the long-lived asset being evaluated. Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the
carrying value of long-lived assets and their fair market value based on discounted cash flows of the related assets. Impairment losses are treated as permanent
reductions in the carrying amount of the assets. The Company has not recorded any impairments since inception.
Goodwill
Purchase price in excess of the fair value of tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination is recorded
as goodwill. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350-20, Goodwill , the Company tests for impairment at least annually. Impairment of goodwill is tested at the
reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. The Company operates two
reporting units, Government Solutions and Commercial Cyber Solutions. The fair value of each reporting unit is estimated using either qualitative analysis or a
combination of income and market approaches. If the carrying amount of the unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is
performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The Company evaluated goodwill at the beginning of the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2015 and
determined there was no impairment to the carrying value of goodwill.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is a judgment involving significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include revenue
growth rates, operating margins and working capital requirements used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, selected multiples,
control premiums and future economic and market conditions. We have based our fair value estimates on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but that are
unpredictable and inherently
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uncertain. Items that could reasonably be expected to negatively affect key assumptions used in estimating fair value include but are not limited to:
•

sustained decline in our stock price due to a decline in our financial performance due to the loss of key customers, loss of key personnel, emergence of
new technologies or new competitors;

•

decline in overall market or economic conditions leading to a decline in our stock price; and

•

decline in observed control premiums paid in business combinations involving comparable companies.

The Government Solutions reporting unit used a discount rate of 12%, a residual growth rate of 5%, a tax rate of 40% and an applied control premium was 30%.
Actual future results may differ from those estimates. Based on these estimates management determined for the evaluation performed during the beginning of the
fourth quarter of 2015 that the estimated fair value of our Government Solutions reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 8%. However as
future results may differ from those used in our estimates, goodwill related to our Government Solutions reporting unit may be impaired in a future period and the
amount of such impairment may be material.
Late in the fourth quarter of 2015, management began to evaluate strategic alternatives related to its Commercial Cyber Solutions segment. The Company began
exploring the possibility of minority investments into this segment, the sale of the entire segment or the possibility of altering the level of investment going
forward. The Company also implemented cost reductions subsequent to December 31, 2015 in this segment to reduce the funding required to cover operating
losses and further committed to a reduced level of internal funding targeted to a range of $5 million to $7 million for 2016. Management believes these activities
represented a triggering event and further believes that it is more likely than not that as a result of these activities and information, which came to light subsequent
to December 31, 2015, relative to indications from prospective parties, that the fair value of the segment had fallen below the carrying value. As such the Company
completed a Step 1 analysis of goodwill, which indicated the fair value was lower than the segment’s carrying value. In accordance with ASC 350-20-35-18
management has elected to make an estimate of the goodwill impairment charge as of December 31, 2015, subject to finalizing a Step 2 analysis during the first
quarter of 2016. The estimate was based on a number of factors including the estimated fair value of working capital assets, fixed assets, customer relationships,
deferred revenue and developed technology as well as relevant market related data. The estimated impairment to goodwill for the Commercial Cyber Solutions
segment as of December 31, 2015 is $8.0 million .
The amount of goodwill allocated to Government Solutions and Commercial Cyber Solutions reporting units at December 31, 2015 was $297.2 million and $7.5
million , respectively.
Intangibles
Intangible assets consist of the value of customer related intangibles acquired in various acquisitions. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over
their estimated useful lives unless the pattern of usage of the benefits indicates an alternative method is more representative. The useful lives of the intangibles
range from one to seven years .
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enacted date. In evaluating our ability to realize our deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including cumulative
historic earnings, reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected taxable income, and tax planning strategies. The assumptions utilized in evaluating both positive and
negative evidence require the use of significant judgment concerning our business plans surrounding both our Government Solutions segment and our Commercial
Solutions segment.
For a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company initially and subsequently measures the tax liability or benefit as the
largest amount that it judges to have a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated with
unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law developments and new or emerging
legislation. Such adjustments are recognized entirely in the period in which they are identified. The effective tax rate includes the net impact of changes in the
liability for unrecognized tax obligations or benefits and subsequent adjustments as considered appropriate by management. The Company's policy is to record
interest and penalties as an increase in the liability for uncertain tax obligations or benefits and a corresponding increase to the income tax provision. No material
adjustments were recorded as of December 31, 2015 , 2014 , or 2013 .
39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Share-Based Compensation

A s discussed in Note 10, the shareholders approved the 2013 KEYW Holding Corporation Stock Incentive Plan in August 2012. The 2013 Stock Incentive Plan,
which took effect on January 1, 2013, replaced the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan. The Company adopted the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan in December 2009. The
Company had originally adopted a stock option plan in 2008. The Company applies the fair value method that requires all share-based payments to employees and
non-employee directors, including grants of employee stock options, to be expensed over their requisite service period based on their fair value at the grant date,
using a prescribed option-pricing model. The expense recognized is based on the straight-line amortization of each individually vesting piece of a grant. The
calculated expense is required to be based upon awards that ultimately vest and we have accordingly reduced the expense by estimated forfeitures.
The following assumptions were used for options granted.
Dividend Yield — The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and has no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.
Risk-Free Interest Rate — Risk-free interest rate is based on US Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term approximating the expected life of the option
term assumed at the date of grant.
Expected Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected
to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The Company's expected volatility is based on its historical volatility for a period that approximates the estimated
life of the options.
Expected Term of the Options — This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to remain unexercised. The Company estimates the expected life
of the option term based on the expected tenure of employees and historical experience.
Forfeiture Rate — The Company estimates the percentage of options granted that are expected to be forfeited or canceled on an annual basis before stock options
become fully vested. The Company uses the forfeiture rate that is a blend of past turnover data and a projection of expected results over the following twelve
month period based on projected levels of operations and headcount levels at various classification levels with the Company.

Results of Operations
OVERALL
RESULTS (In thousands)

Revenue

Year ended
December 31, 2015

290,574

100 %

298,732

100 %

32%

95,173

33 %

99,512

33 %

106,907

34%

96,364

33 %

85,670

29 %

Intangible Amortization

11,449

4%

12,162

4%

24,658

8%

Non-Operating Expense

10,258

3%

8,804

3%

9,792

3%

Income Tax Expense (Benefit), net

21,598

7%

(8,622)

(3)%

(9,389)

(3)%

Operating Expenses

311,810

100% $

Year ended
December 31, 2013 (1)

99,590

Gross Margin

$

Year ended
December 31, 2014 (1)

$

(1) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information.
Revenue
Revenue increased by $21.2 million or 7%, for 2015 as compared to 2014. The increase in revenue in 2015 from 2014 was a result of Government Solutions
segment revenue increasing by $18.7 million and a $2.6 million increase in our Commercial Cyber Solutions segment revenue. The increase in Government
Solutions revenue was driven primarily by the growth in its products business and the two acquisitions made during the first quarter of 2015.
Revenue decreased by $8.2 million or 3%, for 2014 as compared to 2013. The decrease in revenue in 2014 from 2013 was a result of Government Solutions
segment revenue decreasing by $9.7 million, which was partially offset by a $1.5 million increase in our Commercial Cyber Solutions segment revenue. The main
drivers of the reduction in Government Solutions revenue were the reduction in pricing associated with the new contract for our airborne collection services,
residual sequestration-related reductions to certain programs especially during the first half of 2014 and lower run rates on certain government professional
services contracts.
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Gross Margin
Gross margin increased in total dollars by $4.4 million, but decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue from 2014 to 2015. The increase in dollars related to the
increase in revenue in 2015 from 2014. The decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenue related to certain services contract rate reductions, increased costs
in our aviation services operation and higher sales of lower margin products on a year-over-year basis.
Gross margin decreased in total dollars by $4.3 million and remained flat as a percentage of revenue from 2013 to 2014. The decrease in gross margin total dollars
related to the decrease in revenue in 2014 from 2013.
Operating Expenses
Cost of operations increased in total dollars by $10.5 million and slightly as a percentage of revenue from 2014 to 2015. This was due to increased infrastructure
within the Commercial Cyber segment, the 2015 acquisitions and related acquisition costs and the new Milestone facility, which we moved into during the third
quarter of 2015.
Our cost of operations for 2014 increased by $10.7 million and increased as a percentage of revenue as compared to 2013. This was due to increased infrastructure
within the Commercial Cyber Solutions segment, partially offset by cost reductions in our Government Solutions segment.
Intangible Amortization
Intangible amortization expense decreased by $0.7 million in 2015 as compared to 2014. The decrease was primarily a result of certain intangibles from prior
acquisitions becoming fully amortized during 2014 and throughout 2015, partially offset by the 2015 acquisitions.
Intangible amortization expense has decreased by $12.5 million in 2014 as compared to 2013. The decrease was primarily a result of certain intangibles from prior
acquisitions becoming fully amortized during the end of 2013 and throughout 2014, partially offset by the 2014 acquisitions.
Non-Operating Expense
2015 non-operating expense consists primarily of interest expense. Interest expense totaled $10.3 million in 2015. The increase in interest expense from 2014 is
primarily due to the full year impact of our increased level of debt due to the issuing of our convertible notes during the third quarter of 2014.
2014 non-operating expense consists primarily of interest expense. The decrease from 2013 is primarily due to the 2013 legal settlement costs, partially offset by
$5.4 million of additional interest expense during 2014, due to the write off of deferred financing costs related to the termination of the 2012 Credit Agreement and
increased borrowing levels.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit), net
The effective tax rate was (74.7%), 38.7% and 45.7% for 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The provision for income tax for 2015 includes the recording of a net
valuation allowance of $19.6 million as a discrete item. The valuation allowance was established due to the uncertainty of the utilization of deferred tax assets in
future periods. In evaluating the Company’s ability to realize the deferred tax assets we considered all available positive and negative evidence. The Company’s
negative evidence currently outweighs its positive evidence therefore it is more-likely-than-not that we will not realize a significant portion of our deferred tax
assets. The amount of the deferred tax asset to be realized in the future could however be adjusted if objective negative evidence is no longer present.
GOVERNMENT SOLUTIONS SEGMENT
RESULTS (In thousands)

Revenue

Year ended
December 31, 2015

$

297,935

Year ended
December 31, 2014 (1)

100% $

279,250

100% $

Year ended
December 31, 2013 (1)

288,909

100%

Gross Margin

89,729

30%

86,342

31%

91,529

32%

Operating Expenses

63,387

21%

56,862

20%

66,011

23%

7,087

2%

7,737

3%

20,533

7%

Intangible Amortization

(1) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information.
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Revenue
Revenue increased by $18.7 million, or $6.7% in 2015 as compared to 2014. The increase in year-over-year revenue was due to increased government product
sales, the 2015 acquisitions and the continued expansion of our government cyber training initiative, which were partially offset by lower revenue on certain
services contracts.
Revenue decreased by $9.7 million in 2014 as compared to 2013. The main drivers of the reduction in Government Solutions revenue were the reduction in pricing
associated with the new contract for our airborne collection services, residual sequestration-related reductions to the certain programs, especially during the first
half of 2014, and lower run rates on certain government professional services contracts.
Gross Margin
Gross margin increased in dollars and decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue for 2015 as compared to 2014. The decrease in gross margin as a percentage of
revenue is due to certain services contract rate reductions, increased costs in our aviation services operation and higher sales of lower margin products on a yearover-year basis.
Gross margin decreased in dollars and decreased slightly as a percentage of revenue for 2014 as compared to 2013. The decrease in gross margin as a percentage of
revenue is due to higher usage of lower margin sub-contractors on certain professional services contracts, which was partially offset by higher gross margins
related to our airborne collection services.
Operating Expense
Operating expense increased $6.5 million and was basically flat as a percentage of revenue for 2015, as compared to 2014. The increase in year-over-year
operating expense was due to the 2015 acquisitions and related acquisition costs and the new Milestone facility, which we moved into during the third quarter of
2015.
Operating expense decreased $9.1 million for 2014, as compared to 2013. The main drivers for this decrease were cost reduction measures that were implemented
mid-2013 and the beginning of 2014, staffing reductions in overhead management and synergies derived from prior acquisitions.
Intangible Amortization
Intangible amortization expense has decreased by $0.7 million in 2015 as compared to 2014. The decrease was primarily a result of certain intangibles from prior
acquisitions becoming fully amortized during 2014 and throughout 2015, partially offset by intangibles resulting from the 2015 acquisitions.
Intangible amortization expense has decreased by $12.8 million in 2014 as compared to 2013. The decrease was primarily a result of certain intangibles from prior
acquisitions becoming fully amortized during the end of 2013 and throughout 2014.
COMMERCIAL CYBER SOLUTIONS SEGMENT
RESULTS (In thousands)

Revenue

Year ended
December 31, 2015

$

13,875

Gross Margin
Operating Expenses
Intangible Amortization

100% $

Year ended
December 31, 2014 (1)

11,324

100% $

Year ended
December 31, 2013 (1)

9,823

100%

9,861

71%

8,831

78%

7,983

81%

43,520

314%

39,502

349%

19,659

200%

4,362

31%

4,425

39%

4,125

42%

(1) Certain amounts have been adjusted for the correction of immaterial errors. See Note 1, of the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 15 of this
Annual Report for more information.

Revenue
Revenue for 2015 increased by $2.6 million, or 23%, on a year-over-year basis. Revenue is derived primarily from Hawkeye AP and Hawkeye G sales. Hawkeye
AP sales accounted for 82% or $11.3 million, of total Commercial Cyber Solutions revenue and Hawkeye G sales accounted for $2.4 million or 17%. The increase
in revenue was driven primarily by increased HawkEye AP revenue.
42

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenue for 2014 increased by $1.5 million, or 15%, as compared to 2013. The main drivers for the increase were additional license sales of Hawkeye AP and
sales of HawkEye G in 2014, which were partially offset by lower professional services sales related to Hawkeye AP in 2014.
Gross Margin
Gross margin increased in dollars and decreased as a percentage of revenue for 2015, as compared to 2014. The decrease in gross margin relates to increased costs
for Hawkeye G product delivery including materials and personnel.
Gross margin as a percentage of revenue decreased slightly for 2014, as compared to 2013. The decrease in gross margin relates to the sales of HawkEye G in
2014, which generally have a lower gross margin than HawkEye AP.
Operating Expense
Operating expense increased $4.0 million during 2015, on year-over-year basis. The main drivers for the increase was the loss on disposal of certain long-lived
assets and additional investment in infrastructure related to our new software platform. During 2015 we increased our sales team, continued investment in our
customer delivery infrastructure and continued to build out our technical team.
Operating expense increased $19.8 million during 2014, as compared to 2013. The main driver for the increase was additional investment in infrastructure related
to our software platform. We more than doubled our sales team, built a more robust customer delivery infrastructure and continued to build out our technical team.
Intangible Amortization
Intangible amortization decreased slightly in 2015 compared to 2014 as a result of certain intangibles from prior acquisitions becoming fully amortized, partially
offset by the full year impact of the 2014 acquisitions.
Intangible amortization increased slightly in 2014 compared to 2013 as a result of the 2014 acquisitions, partially offset by certain intangibles from prior
acquisitions becoming fully amortized.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2015 , we had approximately $21.2 million in cash and cash equivalents. During 2015 we had several significant cash events including warrant
holders exercising approximately 1.8 million warrants, the acquisitions of Milestone Intelligence Group, Inc., Ponte Technologies, LLC and certain assets of
Innovative Engineering Solutions, Inc. and continued infrastructure spending to establish our Commercial Cyber Solutions business.
Cash from Operations
Operations provided approximately $12.3 million in cash during 2015 . This amount primarily consisted of our net loss plus non-cash adjustments for depreciation,
amortization, goodwill impairment charges, stock compensation and deferred taxes, partially offset by cash used for increased working capital needs. As we
continue to grow, our working capital needs are expected to increase accordingly, particularly with respect to accounts receivable and inventory. Our need for
additional working capital will be determined by our method and volume of growth. Growing through self-performed labor will require more working capital than
growing using subcontractors, but we expect self-performed labor will be a more profitable alternative than using subcontractors. The main difference for cash
flow is that employees are generally paid within two weeks of incurring costs, whereas subcontractors are generally paid within 30 days of receiving an invoice.
We had a number of non-cash adjustments to our net loss in 2015 , including intangible amortization, depreciation, goodwill impairment charges, stock
compensation expense, amortization of convertible debt discount and changes in our deferred taxes. Intangible amortization was approximately $11.4 million in
2015 and is expected to decrease in 2016 due to the reduction from fully amortized intangibles from earlier acquisitions. We expect intangible amortization,
without any additional acquisitions, to be approximately $7.4 million in 2016. Stock compensation expense was $5.5 million in 2015. Depreciation expense for
2015 was $8.4 million. The goodwill impairment charge for 2015 was $8.0 million.
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Investing and Financing
During 2015 , we spent approximately $21.0 million in cash and equity consideration to complete three acquisitions. We have historically completed acquisitions
each year. Depending on the size and timing of future acquisitions, we may use additional proceeds under our existing credit facility, as well as additional debt or
possibly equity offering proceeds, to complete such acquisitions.
Convertible Notes
On July 21, 2014, we initially issued $130.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Company's 2.50% Convertible Senior Notes due July 15, 2019 (the "Notes")
pursuant to an underwriting agreement, dated July 16, 2014 (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with RBC Capital Markets, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, as representatives of several underwriters (collectively, the “Underwriters”). Under the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, the Company
granted the Underwriters an option, exercisable for up to 30 days after the closing of the offering, to purchase up to an additional $19.5 million principal amount of
the Notes solely to cover over-allotments, if any, which was subsequently exercised in full in August 2014, resulting in a total issuance of $149.5 million aggregate
principal amount of Notes.
In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into an indenture (the “Base Indenture”) with Wilmington Trust, National Association, as
trustee (the “Trustee”), as supplemented by a first supplemental indenture thereto, between the same parties (the “First Supplemental Indenture,” and together with
the “Base Indenture,” the “Indenture”).
The terms of the Notes are governed by the Indenture. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.50% per annum on the principal amount thereof, payable semi-annually
in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on January 15, 2015, to holders of record at the close of business on the preceding January 1 and July
1, respectively. The Notes will mature on July 15, 2019, unless earlier repurchased or converted. The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to their stated
maturity date.
The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and will rank equal in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness. The Notes will be senior in right of payment to any existing or future indebtedness which is subordinated by its terms. The Notes are structurally
subordinated to all liabilities of the Company’s subsidiaries and are effectively junior to the secured indebtedness of the Company to the extent of the value of the
assets securing such indebtedness.
Holders may convert their Notes under the following conditions at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding January 15,
2019, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, under the following circumstances:
•

•
•
•

during any calendar quarter (and only during such calendar quarter) commencing after the calendar quarter ending September 30, 2014, if the last reported
sale price of the Company’s common stock, for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending
on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price for the Notes on each
applicable trading day;
during the five business day period immediately after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of
Notes for each trading day of that period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of Company common stock and the conversion
rate for the Notes for each such trading day;
upon the occurrence of specified corporate events as described in the Indenture; or
following the Company’s delivery of a notice of the spin-off of its subsidiary, Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc. (the “Hexis spin-off”).

In addition, holders may convert their Notes at their option at any time on or after January 15, 2019 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day
immediately preceding the stated maturity date of the Notes, without regard to the foregoing circumstances.
The conversion rate for the Notes is initially 67.4093 shares of Company common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes, which is equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately $14.83 per share of Company common stock, and is subject to adjustments upon the occurrence of certain specified events,
including the initial public offering of the Company’s subsidiary, Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc., as set forth in the Indenture. Upon conversion, the Company will
pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of Company common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Company common stock, at its election, as
described in the Indenture.
In addition, upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), holders of the Notes may require the Company to repurchase the Notes at a
purchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.
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The events of default, which may result in the acceleration of the maturity of the Notes, include default by the Company in the payment of principal of the Notes,
default by the Company in the payment of interest on the Notes when due and the continuance of such default for a period of 30 days, failure by the Company to
comply with its conversion obligations upon exercise of a holder’s conversion right under the Indenture and such failure continuing for 3 business days, failure by
the Company to provide timely notice of a fundamental change or specified corporate transaction, if required, failure by the Company to comply with its
obligations in respect of certain merger transactions, failure by the Company to perform certain of its agreements required under the Indenture if such failure
continues for 90 days after notice is given in accordance with the Indenture, failure by the Company to timely discharge certain other indebtedness, entry of certain
judgments against the Company which are not paid, discharged or stayed within 60 days, certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency involving the Company or any
significant subsidiary (as defined in the Indenture) of the Company, and failure by the Company to comply with its obligation to postpone the record date of the
Hexis spin-off, if necessary.
If an event of default, other than an event of default involving bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company or a significant subsidiary of the Company, occurs and is
continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, by notice to the Company and the Trustee,
may declare 100% of the principal amount of, and accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any) on, all the Notes then outstanding, to be due
and payable immediately. If an event of default involving bankruptcy or insolvency events with respect to the Company or a significant subsidiary of the Company
occurs, then 100% of the principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, all the Notes, will automatically become immediately due and payable
without any notice or other action by the Trustee or any holder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may elect, at its option, that the sole remedy for an
event of default relating to certain failures by the Company to comply with certain reporting covenants in the Indenture will consist exclusively of the right of the
holders of the Notes to receive additional interest on the Notes.
Capped Call Transactions
On July 16, 2014, the Company entered into capped call transactions with each of Royal Bank of Canada and Bank of America, N.A. (collectively,
“Counterparties” and such transactions, the “Capped Call Transactions”). The Capped Call Transactions have an initial strike price of approximately $14.83
share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Notes and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to
Notes, and have a cap price of approximately $19.3760. The Capped Call Transactions cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, 8,763,209 shares of
Company’s common stock, which is the same number of shares of the Company’s common stock initially underlying the Notes.

the
per
the
the

The Capped Call Transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon conversion of the Notes and/or offset
any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of any converted Notes, as the case may be, in the event that the market
price per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions, is greater than the strike price of the Capped Call
Transactions as adjusted pursuant to the anti-dilution adjustments. If, however, the market price per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the
terms of the Capped Call Transactions, exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution and/or there would not be an
offset of such potential cash payments, in each case, upon conversion of the Notes to the extent that such market price exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call
Transactions.
The Company has been advised that the Counterparties or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various
derivative transactions with respect to the Company’s common stock and/or purchasing or selling the Company’s common stock or other securities of the
Company in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the Notes. This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price
of the Company’s common stock or the Notes, which could affect the ability of holders of the Notes to convert the Notes.
The Company intends to exercise options it holds under the Capped Call Transactions whenever Notes are converted on or after January 15, 2019, and expects that
upon any conversions of Notes prior to January 15, 2019 or any repurchase of Notes by the Company, a corresponding portion of the Capped Call Transactions
will be terminated. Upon such termination, the Company expects to receive from the Counterparties either a number of shares of the Company’s common stock
with an aggregate market value equal to, or an amount of cash equal to, the value of the Capped Call Transactions or a portion thereof, as the case may be, being
early terminated, subject to the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. The Company has been advised that the Counterparties or their respective affiliates, in order
to unwind their hedge positions with respect to those exercised or terminated options, are likely to buy or sell shares of the Company’s common stock or other
securities or instruments of the Company, including the Notes, in secondary market transactions or unwind various derivative transactions with respect to such
common stock during the relevant valuation period under the Capped Call Transactions, which generally corresponds to the observation period for the converted
Notes. These unwind activities could have the effect of increasing or decreasing the trading price of the Company’s common stock and, to the extent the activity
occurs during any observation period related to a conversion of Notes, could have the effect of increasing or reducing the value of the consideration that holders of
the Notes will receive upon conversion of the Notes.
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The Capped Call Transactions are separate transactions entered into by and between the Company and the Counterparties and are not part of the terms of the Notes.
Holders of the Notes will not have any rights with respect to Capped Call Transactions.
Revolving Credit Facility
On July 21, 2014, the Company, as a guarantor, entered into a senior credit agreement, (the “Credit Agreement”), by and among itself, the KEYW Corporation, as
the borrower (the “Borrower”), the domestic direct and indirect subsidiary guarantors of KEYW (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”), the lenders and Royal Bank of
Canada, as administrative agent. Under the Credit Agreement, the Company provided a guaranty of all of the obligations of the Borrower. The Credit Agreement
provides the Borrower a $42.5 million revolving credit facility, (the “Revolver”). The Revolver includes a $10 million swing line and a $15 million letter of credit
facility.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to an applicable rate plus, at the Company’s option, either (a) adjusted LIBOR or (b) a base
rate. The Company will also be required to pay a facility fee to the Lenders for any unused commitments and customary letter of credit fees.
The outstanding amount of revolving loans shall be prepaid with (a) 100% of the net cash proceeds of all asset sales or other dispositions of property by Borrower
and its subsidiaries, (b) 100% of the net cash proceeds of issuances of debt obligations of Borrower and its subsidiaries (other than permitted debt), and (c) 100%
of the net cash proceeds of any public offering or disposition of the equity of Borrower or its subsidiaries (other than up to 33% of the equity of Hexis Cyber
Solutions, Inc. or sales to Borrower or its subsidiaries).
The Company may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the Revolver at any time without premium or penalty, subject to customary fees in the case of
prepayment of LIBOR based loans.
The Revolver will mature on the earlier to occur of (i) the fifth anniversary of the closing of the Credit Agreement, and (ii) the date that is 180 days prior to the
maturity date of the Notes unless the Notes are converted into equity, repaid, refinanced or otherwise satisfied on terms permitted under the Credit Agreement.
The Credit Agreement contains a number of negative covenants that will, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the Company and its
subsidiaries’ ability to: incur additional indebtedness; incur additional liens; sell all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; consummate certain fundamental
changes; change the Company’s lines of business or make certain restricted payments (including cash payments upon conversion of the Notes if a default or event
of default exists under the facility or if, after giving effect to such payments and any debt incurred to make such payments, the Company is not in pro forma
compliance with the financial covenants and other financial tests under the facility, or cash payments to pay the purchase price of the Notes). The Credit
Agreement also contains certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default.
The Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain a maximum consolidated senior secured leverage ratio and a minimum cash interest coverage ratio. The
consolidated senior secured leverage ratio test measures the ratio of the Company’s consolidated funded indebtedness (other than consolidated funded indebtedness
that is unsecured) to trailing four quarter Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement). This ratio is permitted to be no greater than 2.25 to 1.00 as
of the end of any fiscal quarter during the applicable period. The cash interest coverage ratio test measures the ratio of trailing four quarter Consolidated EBITDA
minus taxes paid in such period to consolidated interest expense paid in such period in cash. This ratio is permitted to be no less than 3.50 to 1.00.
In February 2016, the Company amended the Credit Agreement by adjusting the minimum cash interest coverage ratio covenant effective for the quarters ended
December 31, 2015, and March 31, 2016 to 2.25:1.00 and 3.25:1.00, respectively, and increasing the applicable interest rates with respect to the Credit
Agreement’s consolidated senior secured leverage ratio pricing tiers. The amendment permanently decreases the amount available under the revolver to $20.0
million. At December 31, 2015 , we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants under the Credit Agreement.
The Revolver is secured by a security interest and lien on substantially all of the Company’s, the Borrower’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ assets including a
pledge of one hundred percent of the equity securities of the Borrower and the Subsidiary Guarantors.
As of December 31, 2015 , we had $20 million available under our Revolver.
Outlook
We expect cash on hand, operating cash flow, and access to our line of credit will provide sufficient liquidity for fiscal 2016. We expect that our 2016 cash flow
from operations will be positive. As discussed above, the manner in which we staff our contracts will impact the degree of working capital investment required to
fuel our growth. Included in our net income are several significant
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non-cash transactions that would be add-backs to net income when calculating our cash flow from operations, including stock compensation expense, amortization
of intangibles and depreciation of fixed assets.
We may continue to acquire new companies that are a strategic fit and enhance our corporate platform. It is our goal to include an equity component in our
acquisitions and the amount of equity we include in any 2016 acquisitions will impact our available cash and credit. The pace and size of any acquisitions will
determine how much, if any, of our available credit facility we utilize during the year.
We intend to invest in several potential growth areas in 2016 that may require us to expend more research and development dollars than we have historically.
These expenses may not be incurred evenly throughout the year.
After we went public in 2010, employees and investors began to exercise their options and warrants. Some of these exercises were done cashlessly but other
exercises were done by paying cash for their shares. We are unable to forecast what the employee and investor activity will be in 2016 with regard to these
instruments. The total potential cash inflows from these instruments, if all exercised for cash, would be approximately $29 million.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Less than
one year

Total

1 – 3 years

3 – 5 years

More than
5 years

(In thousands)

Facilities/Office space

$

Office equipment
Total Operating Leases
Debt
Total Contractual Obligations

$

61,460 $

8,801 $

17,142 $

14,407 $

181

81

100

—

—

61,641

8,882

17,242

14,407

21,110

149,500

—

—

149,500

—

8,882 $

17,242 $

211,141 $

163,907 $

21,110

21,110

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off balance sheet arrangements.
Item 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our financial position is exposed to several risks including interest rate risk and credit risk. We do not use any derivative financial instruments to manage currency
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, equity market or commodity price risk.
Currency Exchange Rates
We currently do not have any material foreign currency risk, and accordingly estimate that an immediate 10 percent change in foreign exchange rates would not
have a material impact on our reported net income. We do not currently utilize any derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign currency risks.
Interest Rates
At December 31, 2015 , we had $149.5 million aggregate principal amount of 2.5% convertible senior notes due 2019 (the "Notes"). As the Notes are fixed rate
instruments, as of December 31, 2015 , our results of operations are not subject to fluctuations in interest rates with respect to the Notes.
Equity Price Risk
We do not currently own nor have we ever owned any marketable equity investments to include marketable equity securities and equity derivative instruments
such as warrants and options. Therefore, since we do not currently own investments that are subject to market price volatility, our equity price risk is very low.
Item 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Item 15(a)(1) in Part IV of this Form 10-K.
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Item 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
Item 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings and submissions to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms. Such controls include those designed to ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
An evaluation was conducted under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the CEO and CFO, on the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded
that as of December 31, 2015 , our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective because of the material weaknesses described below under Management's
Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
In light of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, we engaged significant internal and external resources to perform supplemental
procedures prior to filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These additional procedures have allowed us to conclude that, notwithstanding the material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, the consolidated financial statements included in this report fairly present, in all material respects, the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles.
Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , the end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on
criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COSO"). Management's assessment included evaluation of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process
documentation, accounting policies, and our overall control environment. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that material weaknesses in internal
control over financial reporting existed as of December 31, 2015 , as described below.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Based on our assessment, management has concluded that the deficiencies stated below represent material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2015 . We reviewed the results of management's assessment with the audit committee of our board of directors.
As part of its evaluation of internal control over financial reporting described above, management concluded a failure to establish an effective control environment
and monitoring activities in three separate areas. Management has determined that the Company did not design and maintain effective internal controls over the
following three items:
1.

Accounting for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Specifically, the Company did not maintain effective controls related to the
preparation or review of the long-term forecasts and related assumptions, data and calculations used in its annual impairment tests and for the
maintenance of related documentation.
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2.

Accounting for the valuation of inventory. Specifically, our processes lacked adequate levels of monitoring and review controls to identify and correct
inventory errors in a timely manner, including the capitalization of general and administrative costs into our ending inventory.

3.

Evaluation of, and accounting for, complex multiple element revenue arrangements. Specifically, our controls are not appropriately designed internal
controls to analyze contracts to determine if they should be accounted for in accordance with software revenue accounting (FASB Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") 985, Software) or as a multiple element arrangement (ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition: Multiple-Element Arrangements), and to
evaluate the proper revenue recognition policy to apply.

Plan for Remediation of Material Weaknesses on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Company has begun to implement a number of remediation steps to address the material weaknesses described above, led by our chief financial officer and
corporate controller. The following actions have begun and will be further developed during 2016:
•

We are enhancing our procedures to better formalize our process over the creation of long term forecasts, and to improve the level of documentation that
exists with respect to the development of our annual long-term forecast. Specific enhancements will include procedures to improve our process of
retaining documentation throughout forecast creation, along with the documentation of management's review .

•

We are augmenting our internal controls over financial reporting related to inventory to include controls designed specifically to assess costs capitalized
into inventory at a higher level of precision. Management has completed a change in its internal processes and has enhanced monitoring activities
designed to review and conclude proper accounting treatment for inventory and related period costs is applied consistently.

•

We are enhancing our internal controls over financial reporting to properly assess the revenue recognition of individual multiple element sales in our
Commercial Cyber Segment which may include software, hardware, training and professional services to ensure they are properly recognizing revenue in
accordance with GAAP. Controls will be enhanced to capture and document the impact of complex transactions that are unique in nature and require
additional consideration prior to concluding on the proper revenue recognition.

•

As a global approach to addressing these material weaknesses, management will enhance their approach to evaluating complex transactions at a level of
precision that minimizes the risk of material misstatement to an acceptable level and document these conclusions.

The Company is committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment and believes that these remediation efforts will represent significant
improvements in our controls. The Company has started to implement these steps, however, some of these steps will take time to be fully integrated and confirmed
to be effective and sustainable.
Additional controls may also be required over time. Until the remediation steps set forth above are fully implemented and tested, the material weakness described
above will continue to exist.
Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered
public accounting firm, who also audited our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their reports, which
appear with our accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during
the fourth quarter of 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting; other than the
Company enhancing the controls around the quarterly and annual tax provision calculations by adding an additional level of management review at a more precise
level.
Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all
error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's
objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Further,
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because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not
occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
Item 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
Item 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item will be included in and is incorporated herein by reference from our 2016 Proxy Statement.

Item 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be included in and is incorporated herein by reference from our 2016 Proxy Statement.
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Item 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be included in and is incorporated herein by reference from our 2016 Proxy Statement.
Change in Control
There are no arrangements, known to the Company, including any pledge by any person of securities of the Company, where the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
See Item 5 "Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities" in this Annual Report.
Item 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will be included in and is incorporated herein by reference from our 2016 Proxy Statement.
Item 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will be included in and is incorporated herein by reference from our 2016 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1)

Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

F-1 – F-3

Consolidated Balance Sheets

F-4

Consolidated Statements of Operations

F-5

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

F-6

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-8 – F-30

(2) Financial Statement Schedules — All financial statement schedules required by Item 8 and Item 15 of Form 10-K have been omitted because the
information requested is not required, not applicable, or is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits — See Exhibit Index, which is incorporated in this item by reference.
(b) Exhibits — See Exhibit Index, which is incorporated in this item by reference.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules — Included in Item 15(a)(2) above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Shareholders
The KEYW Holding Corporation
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of The KEYW Holding Corporation (a Maryland corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material
weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment: (i) accounting for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Specifically,
the Company did not maintain effective controls related to the preparation or review of the long-term forecasts and related assumptions, data and calculations used
in the Company's annual impairment tests and for the maintenance of related documentation; (ii) accounting for the valuation of inventory. Specifically, the
Company's processes lacked adequate levels of monitoring and review controls to identify and correct inventory errors in a timely manner, including the
capitalization of general and administrative costs into the Company's ending inventory; (iii) evaluation of, and accounting for, complex multiple element revenue
arrangements. Specifically, the Company's controls are not appropriately designed internal controls to analyze contracts to determine if they should be accounted
for in accordance with software revenue accounting (FASB Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 985, Software) or as a multiple element arrangement
(ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition: Multiple-Element Arrangements), and to evaluate the proper revenue recognition policy to apply.
In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by COSO.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements
of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. The material weakness identified above was considered in determining the nature, timing, and
extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2015 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 15, 2016 , which
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management's remediation plans for the identified material weaknesses.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
March 15, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and Shareholders
The KEYW Holding Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The KEYW Holding Corporation (a Maryland corporation) and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The KEYW Holding
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2015 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 15, 2016 , expressed an adverse opinion.
/s/GRANT THORNTON LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
March 15, 2016
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THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
December 31,
2015

December 31,
2014

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

21,227

$

39,601

Receivables

58,367

57,005

Inventories, net

17,780

13,375

1,883

2,207

302

3,951

—

2,878

Total current assets

99,559

119,017

Property and equipment, net

34,091

28,634

304,690

295,984

13,557

21,109

1,508

1,909

Prepaid expenses
Income tax receivable
Deferred tax assets, current

Goodwill
Other intangibles, net
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

$

453,405

$

466,653

$

11,607

$

10,266

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

9,582

7,337

11,014

11,573

3,441

4,488

964

—

36,608

33,664

126,188

120,107

Non-current deferred tax liabilities

26,890

7,045

Other non-current liabilities

11,894

6,619

201,580

167,435

—

—

—

—

Accrued salaries & wages
Deferred revenue
Deferred income taxes
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Convertible senior notes, net of discount

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5 million shares authorized, none issued
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100 million shares authorized, 39,940,667 and 37,601,474 shares issued
and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital

40

38

327,045

315,818

Accumulated deficit

(75,260)

(16,638)

Total stockholders’ equity

251,825

299,218

$

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

453,405

$

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Year ended
December 31, 2015

Year ended
December 31, 2014

Year ended
December 31, 2013

Revenues
Government Solutions

$

Commercial Cyber Solutions
Total

297,935

$

279,250

$

288,909

13,875

11,324

9,823

311,810

290,574

298,732

208,206

192,908

197,380

4,014

2,493

1,840

212,220

195,401

199,220

89,729

86,342

91,529

Costs of Revenues, excluding amortization
Government Solutions
Commercial Cyber Solutions
Total
Gross Profit
Government Solutions
Commercial Cyber Solutions
Total

9,861

8,831

7,983

99,590

95,173

99,512

106,907

96,364

85,670

8,000

—

—

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses
Impairment of goodwill
Intangible amortization expense

11,449

12,162

24,658

Total

126,356

108,526

110,328

Operating Loss

(26,766)

(13,353)

(10,816)

10,258

8,804

9,792

(37,024)

(22,157)

(20,608)

21,598

(8,622)

(9,389)

Non-Operating Expense, net
Loss before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense (Benefit), net
$

Net Loss

(58,622)

$

(13,535)

$

(11,219)

Weighted-Average Common Shares Outstanding
Basic

38,722,340

37,442,680

36,618,919

Diluted

38,722,340

37,442,680

36,618,919

Loss per Share
Basic

$

(1.51)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.31)

Diluted

$

(1.51)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.31)

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
(APIC)

Common Stock

Shares
BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 2013
Net loss

Amount

36,135,542

$

36

$

(Accumulated
Deficit)
Retained
Earnings

292,715

$

Total
Shareholders’
Equity

8,116

$

—

—

—

Warrant exercise, net

204,610

—

43

—

43

Option exercise

224,973

—

2,041

—

2,041

Restricted stock issuances

258,250

1

2,816

—

2,817

Restricted stock forfeitures

(55,300)

—

Equity issued as part of acquisitions

157,655

—

2,027

—

2,027

—

—

3,211

—

3,211

36,925,730

37

302,557

(3,103)

299,491

—

—

—

(13,535)

(13,535)

Warrant exercise, net

31,097

—

132

—

132

Option exercise, net

293,795

1

1,355

—

1,356

Restricted stock issuances

279,123

—

3,312

—

3,312

Restricted stock forfeitures

(24,137)

—

Stock based compensation
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2013
Net loss

Equity issued as part of acquisitions, net

(11,219)

300,867

(296)

(11,219)

—

(164)

(296)

—

(164)

95,866

—

1,016

—

1,016

Stock based compensation

—

—

3,273

—

3,273

Conversion feature of convertible debt, net of
expenses

—

—

22,740

—

22,740

Purchase of capped calls
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2014
Net loss

—

—

(18,403)

37,601,474

38

315,818

(16,638)

299,218

(58,622)

(58,622)

—

—

—

1,503,859

2

4,548

73,794

—

Restricted stock issuances

591,015

—

Restricted stock forfeitures

(47,800)

—

Equity issued as part of an acquisition

242,250

—

Equity canceled related to a previous acquisition

(23,925)

—

Warrant exercise, net
Option exercise, net

Stock based compensation
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2015

—
39,940,667

40

(463)

—

(283)

4,165

—

1,858

(283)

—

(240)

1,858

—

1,642
327,045

4,550

—

4,165

$

(18,403)

—

(463)

—
$

—

(240)

—
$

(75,260)

1,642
$

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year ended
December 31,
2015
Net loss

$

(58,622)

Year ended
December 31,
2014
$

(13,535)

Year ended
December 31,
2013
$

(11,219)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Share-based compensation

5,524

6,421

5,731

Depreciation/amortization

19,849

19,623

30,933

Impairment of goodwill

8,000

—

—

Amortization of discount of convertible debt

5,149

2,209

—

Write-off of deferred financing costs

—

1,976

—

Loss on disposal of long-lived assets

1,186

—

20

—

—

(146)

Non-cash impact of TI earn-out reduction
Shortfall (windfall) tax benefit from option exercise
Deferred taxes

823

(1,044)

(219)

22,428

(6,379)

(7,329)

1,368

(4,307)

7,587

(4,441)

(2,977)

(1,286)

(583)

(114)

Changes in balance sheet items:
Receivables
Inventory
Prepaid expenses

356

Income tax receivable

2,827

1,896

Accounts payable

1,341

2,262

Accrued expenses

5,134

2,158

Other balance sheet changes

(4,283)
184
(4,262)

1,336

714

12,258

8,434

15,120

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

(20,991)

(2,940)

(6,751)

Purchase of property and equipment

(13,286)

(8,022)

(6,236)

(456)

(1,489)

(2,716)

Net cash provided by operating activities

(477)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capitalized software development costs
Proceeds from sale of equipment

—

Net cash used in investing activities

—

(34,733)

28

(12,451)

(15,675)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt

—

149,500

—

Purchase of capped calls

—

(18,403)

—

Issuance cost of convertible senior notes and revolving credit facility

—

(6,446)

—

Proceeds from revolver

—

46,000

60,000

Repayment of debt

—

(131,000)

(64,688)

(Shortfall) windfall tax benefit from option exercise

(823)

Proceeds from option and warrant exercises, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

1,044

219

4,924

443

4,101

41,138

(2,604)

1,865

(18,374)

37,121

(3,159)

39,601

2,480

5,639

21,227

$

39,601

$

2,480

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

$

3,914

$

1,734

$

3,555

Cash (refunded) paid for taxes

$

(3,601)

$

84

$

2,646

Equity issued for acquisitions, net

$

1,618

$

1,016

$

2,027

Non-cash fixed asset additions

$

5,652

$

—

$

—

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Corporate Organization
The KEYW Holding Corporation (“Holdco”, "KEYW" or the "Company") was incorporated in Maryland in December 2009. Holdco is a holding company and
conducts its operations through The KEYW Corporation (“Opco”), Hexis Cyber Solutions ("Hexis"), and their wholly owned subsidiaries.
KEYW is a highly specialized provider of mission-critical cybersecurity, cyber superiority and geospatial intelligence solutions to US Government defense,
intelligence and national security agencies and commercial enterprises. Our core capabilities include solutions, services and products to support the collection,
processing, analysis, and use of intelligence data and information in the domains of cyberspace and geospace. Our solutions are designed to respond to meet the
critical needs for agile intelligence in the cyber age and to assist the US government in national security priorities.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the transactions of KEYW, Opco, Hexis and their wholly owned subsidiaries from the date of their acquisition. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Prior Period Financial Statement Correction of Immaterial Errors, Reclassifications, and Accounting Changes
In 2015, we determined that certain selling general and administrative costs were not properly accounted for and had been capitalized as part of inventory and
property and equipment, net. This resulted in an overstatement of inventory and property and equipment, net while understating cumulative historical expenses.
Additionally, we identified certain long lived assets that were placed into service during the fourth quarter of 2013, but with respect to which amortization was not
recognized until the second quarter of 2014, which resulted in an overstatement of property and equipment, net and an understatement of cumulative historical
expenses. We determined that our 2014 accrual for medical self-insurance cost that were incurred but not recorded ("IBNR") was underestimated resulting in an
understatement of accrued expense and cumulative historical expenses. We determined that certain software sales from 2014 had not been accounted for properly
resulting in an understatement of revenue and receivables. Also we identified an error related to recording a deferred tax liability and the related impact on
additional paid in capital in connection with our 2.5% Convertible Senior Notes issued in the third quarter of 2014.
We assessed the materiality of these errors on our financial statements for prior periods in accordance with United States Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC") Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") No. 99, Materiality, codified in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 250, Presentation of Financial Statements,
and concluded that they were not material to any prior annual or interim periods. However, the aggregate amount of the prior period corrections of immaterial
errors in addition to the current year correction of approximately $1.1 million would have been material to the quarterly amounts within our current Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Consequently, in accordance with ASC 250 (specifically SAB No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements), we have corrected these errors for all prior years presented by revising the consolidated financial
statements and other financial information included herein. We also corrected the timing of immaterial previously recorded out-of-period adjustments and reflected
them in the revised prior period financial statements, where applicable. Periods not presented herein will be revised, as applicable, in future filings.
Additionally, as further discussed in "Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements" below, we adopted the provisions of an accounting standard amendment
earlier than required, resulting in the retrospective reclassification of debt issuance costs from other assets to a reduction of long-term debt. The effects on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets are included in the information below.
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The effects of the revisions and adoption of accounting standard on our Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in thousands):
As Previously
Reported
December
31, 2014
Receivables

$

56,961

Inventories, net

$

—

3,139

(932)

121,391

(932)

Property and equipment, net

29,341

Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

(3,299)

473,033

(4,231)

Accrued expenses

$

44

$

57,005

(1,486)

13,375

—

—

5,208

As Revised
December
31, 2014

Adjustment

—

14,861

Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

Debt Issuance Cost
Reclassification

2,207

(1,442)

119,017

(707)

28,634

—

1,909

(2,149)

466,653

7,009

—

328

7,337

Accrued salaries & wages

11,648

—

(75)

11,573

Total current liabilities

33,411

—

253

33,664

Convertible senior notes, net of discount

124,338

Non-current deferred tax liability

(4,231)

4,294

TOTAL LIABILITIES

—

168,662

(4,231)

—

120,107

2,751

7,045

3,004

167,435

The effects of the correction of immaterial errors on our Consolidated Statements of Operations were as follows (in thousands except per share amounts):
Year ended December 31, 2014
As Previously
Reported
Revenues – Commercial Cyber Solutions
Total Revenues
Gross Profit – Commercial Cyber Solutions

$

11,280

Adjustment
$

44

290,530

44

Year ended December 31, 2013

As Revised

As Previously
Reported

$

$

11,324
290,574

9,823

Adjustment
$

—

298,732

—

As Revised
$

9,823
298,732

8,787

44

8,831

7,983

—

7,983

Total Gross Profit

95,129

44

95,173

99,512

—

99,512

Operating Expenses

95,155

1,209

96,364

84,701

969

85,670

Operating Loss

(12,188)

(1,165)

(13,353)

(9,847)

(969)

(10,816)

Loss before Income Taxes

(20,992)

(1,165)

(22,157)

(19,639)

(969)

(20,608)

Income Tax Benefit, net

(8,128)

(494)

(8,622)

(9,005)

(384)

(9,389)

(12,864)

(671)

(13,535)

(10,634)

(585)

(11,219)

Basic

(0.34)

(0.02)

(0.36)

(0.29)

(0.02)

(0.31)

Diluted

(0.34)

(0.02)

(0.36)

(0.29)

(0.02)

(0.31)

Net Loss
Loss per Share
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The effects of the correction of immaterial errors on our Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity were as follows (in thousands except per
share amounts):
(Accumulated
Deficit) Retained
Earnings

Additional Paid-In
Capital (APIC)
As Previously Reported January 1, 2013

$

292,715

Adjustment

$

8,277

—

Total Shareholders’
Equity
$

301,028

(161)

(161)

As Revised January 1, 2013

$

292,715

$

8,116

$

300,867

As Previously Reported December 31, 2013

$

302,557

$

(2,357)

$

300,237

Adjustment

—

(746)

(746)

As Revised December 31, 2013

$

302,557

$

(3,103)

$

299,491

As Previously Reported December 31, 2014

$

319,554

$

(15,221)

$

304,371

$

315,818

$

(16,638)

$

299,218

Adjustment

(3,736)

As Revised December 31, 2014

(1,417)

(5,153)

The effects of the correction of immaterial errors on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows were as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31, 2014
As Previously
Reported
Net Loss

$

(12,864)

Depreciation and amortization expense

19,357

Windfall tax benefit from option exercise
Deferred taxes

Adjustment
$

(671)

Year ended December 31, 2013
As Previously
Reported

As Revised
$

(13,535)

$

(10,634)
30,667

Adjustment
$

(585)
266

As Revised
$

(11,219)

266

19,623

(1,189)

145

(1,044)

(219)

(5,545)

(834)

(6,379)

(7,191)

(138)

(7,329)

Receivables

(4,263)

(44)

(4,307)

7,587

—

7,587

Inventory, net

—

30,933
(219)

(3,492)

515

(2,977)

(1,989)

703

(1,286)

Income tax receivable

1,556

340

1,896

(4,037)

(246)

(4,283)

Accrued expenses

1,905

253

2,158

(4,262)

—

(4,262)

Net cash provided by operating activities

8,464

(30)

8,434

15,120

—

15,120

Purchase of property and equipment

(8,197)

175

(8,022)

(6,236)

—

(6,236)

Net cash used in investing activities

(15,675)

—

(15,675)

(12,626)

175

(12,451)

Windfall tax benefit from option exercise

1,189

(145)

1,044

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities

41,283

(145)

41,138

219
(2,604)

—
—

219
(2,604)

Revenue Recognition
We derive the majority of our revenue from time-and-materials, firm-fixed-price, cost-plus-fixed-fee, cost-plus-award-fee contracts and software licensing and
maintenance.
Revenues from cost reimbursable contracts are recorded as reimbursable costs are incurred, including an estimated share of the applicable contractual fees earned.
For performance-based fees under cost reimbursable contracts, we recognize the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the client at the time such
fee can be reasonably estimated, based on factors such as prior award experience and communications with the client regarding performance. For cost reimbursable
contracts with performance-based fee incentives, we recognize the relevant portion of the fee upon customer approval. For time-and-materials contracts, revenue is
recognized based on billable rates times hours delivered plus materials and other reimbursable costs incurred. For firm-fixed-price service contracts, revenue is
recognized using the proportional performance based on the estimated total costs of the project. For fixed-price production contracts, revenue and cost are
recognized at a rate per unit as the units are delivered or by
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other methods to measure services provided. This method of accounting requires estimating the total revenues and total contract costs of the contract. During the
performance of contracts, these estimates are periodically reviewed and revisions are made as required. The impact on revenue and contract profit as a result of
these revisions is included in the periods in which the revisions are made. This method can result in the deferral of costs or the deferral of profit on these contracts.
Because we assume the risk of performing a fixed-price contract at a set price, the failure to accurately estimate ultimate costs or to control costs during
performance of the work could result, and in some instances has resulted, in reduced profits or losses on such contracts. Estimated losses on contracts at completion
are recognized when identified.
Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation. Examples of estimates include the contemplated level of effort to accomplish the tasks under the
contract, the cost of the effort, and an ongoing assessment of our progress toward completing the contract. From time to time, as part of our management processes,
facts develop that require us to revise our estimated total costs or revenue. To the extent that a revised estimate affects contract profit or revenue previously
recognized, we record the cumulative effect of the revision in the period in which the facts requiring the revision become known.
In certain circumstances, and based on correspondence with the end customer, management authorizes work to commence or to continue on a contract option,
addition or amendment prior to the signing of formal modifications or amendments. We recognize revenue to the extent it is probable that the formal modifications
or amendments will be finalized in a timely manner and that it is probable that the revenue recognized will be collected.
The Company recognizes software licenses, maintenance or related professional services revenue only when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
delivery to the customer has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.
Revenue from software arrangements is allocated to each element of the arrangement based on the relative fair values of the elements, such as software licenses,
upgrades, enhancements, maintenance contract types and type of service delivered, installation or training. The determination of fair value is based on objective
evidence that is specific to the vendor (“VSOE”). The Company determines VSOE for each element based on historical stand-alone sales to third parties for the
elements contained in the initial agreement. In determining VSOE, the Company requires that a substantial majority of the selling process fall within a fairly
narrow pricing range. The Company has established VSOE of fair value for maintenance and professional services. If VSOE of fair value for each element of the
arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the arrangement is deferred until such time as VSOE of fair value exists or until all elements of the arrangement are
delivered, except in those circumstances in which the residual method may be used as described below.
Some software products are licensed on a perpetual basis. In addition, the Company provides maintenance under a separate maintenance agreement, typically for
twelve months. Maintenance includes technical support and unspecified software upgrades and enhancements if and when available. Revenue from perpetual
software licenses is recognized under the relative selling price method, as noted above, for arrangements in which the software is sold with maintenance and/or
professional services. When software is licensed on a subscription basis, revenue is recognized ratably over the length of the subscription, typically one to three
years.
Software arrangements that also include hardware where the relative hardware and software components are both essential to the functionality are accounted for
under ASC 605-25, “Multiple Element Arrangements”. As such, we allocate revenue to each unit of accounting based on an estimated selling price at the
arrangement inception. The estimated selling price for each element is based upon the following hierarchy: VSOE of selling price, if available, third-party evidence
("TPE') of selling price if VSOE of selling price is not available, or best estimate of selling price ("BESP") if neither VSOE of selling price nor TPE of selling
price are available. The total arrangement consideration is allocated to each separate unit of accounting using the relative estimated selling prices of each unit based
on the aforementioned selling price hierarchy. We limit the amount of revenue recognized for delivered elements to an amount that is not contingent upon future
delivery of additional products or services or meeting of any specified performance conditions.
To determine the estimated selling price in multiple element arrangements, the Company determines VSOE for each element based on historical stand-alone sales
to third parties for the elements contained in the initial agreement, as noted above. If VSOE of selling price cannot be established for a deliverable, we establish
TPE of selling price by evaluating similar and interchangeable competitor products or services in standalone arrangements with similarly situated partners.
However, as our products contain a significant element of proprietary technology and offer substantially different features and functionality from our competitors,
we are unable to obtain comparable pricing of our competitors’ products with similar functionality on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, we have not been able to
obtain reliable evidence of TPE of selling price. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price can be established for a deliverable, we establish BESP primarily based
on our pricing model and our go-to-market strategy.
All revenue is net of intercompany adjustments.
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Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consists primarily of compensation expenses for program personnel, the fringe benefits associated with this compensation and other direct
expenses incurred to complete programs, including cost of materials and subcontract efforts.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Our inventory consists of specialty products that we manufacture on a limited quantity basis for our
customers. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we had inventory reserve balances of $0.1 million and $0.2 million respectively, for certain products where the
market has not developed as expected.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. Invoice terms range from net 10 days to net 90 days .
Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance (allowance for doubtful accounts)
based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are
written-off through a charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 there were no
credits to the valuation allowance.
Property and Equipment
All property and equipment are stated at acquisition cost or in the case of self-constructed assets, the cost of labor and a reasonable allocation of overhead costs (no
general and administrative costs are included). The cost of maintenance and repairs, which do not significantly improve or extend the life of the respective assets,
are charged to operations as incurred.
Provisions for depreciation and amortization are computed on either a straight-line method or accelerated methods acceptable under accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) over the estimated useful lives of between 3 and 7 years . Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the terms of the underlying leases or the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Lease Incentives
As part of entering into certain building leases, the lessors have provided the Company with tenant improvement allowances. Typically, such allowances represent
reimbursements to the Company for tenant improvements made to the leased space. These improvements are capitalized as property and equipment, and the
allowances are classified as a deferred lease incentive liability. This incentive is considered a reduction of rental expense by the lessee over the term of the lease
and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the same term.
Software Development Costs
Costs of internally developed software for resale are expensed until the technological feasibility of the software product has been established. In accordance with
the pronouncement on software development costs of the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), software development costs are capitalized and amortized
over the product's estimated useful life. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we had capitalized $6.2 million and $5.8 million of software development costs,
respectively. The capitalized software development costs are amortized using the greater of straight-line method or as a percentage of revenue recognized from the
sale of the capitalized software. For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , the Company recorded related amortization of $1.1 million , $1.1 million
and $0.3 million , respectively.
Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)
The Company follows the provisions of FASB ASC topic 360-10-35, Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets in accounting for long-lived assets such as
property and equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization. The guidance requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. The possibility of impairment exists if the sum of the long-term
undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the long-lived asset being evaluated. Impairment losses are measured as the difference between the
carrying value of long-lived assets and their fair market value based on discounted cash flows of the related assets. Impairment losses are treated as permanent
reductions in the carrying amount of the assets. The Company has not recorded any impairments since inception.
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Goodwill
Purchase price in excess of the fair value of tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination is recorded
as goodwill. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350-20, Goodwill , the Company tests for impairment at least annually. Impairment of goodwill is tested at the
reporting unit level by comparing the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. The Company operates two
reporting units. The fair value of each reporting unit is estimated using either qualitative analysis or a combination of income and market approaches. If the
carrying amount of the unit exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if
any.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is a judgment involving significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include revenue
growth rates, operating margins and working capital requirements used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, selected multiples,
control premiums and future economic and market conditions. We have based our fair value estimates on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but that are
unpredictable and inherently uncertain.The Company evaluated goodwill at the beginning of the fourth quarter of fiscal years 2015 , 2014 and 2013 and found no
impairment to the carrying value of goodwill of either of its reporting units.
Late in the fourth quarter of 2015, management began to evaluate strategic alternatives related to its Commercial Cyber Solutions segment. The Company began
exploring the possibility of minority investments into this segment, the sale of the entire segment or the possibility of altering the level of investment going
forward. The Company also implemented cost reductions subsequent to December 31, 2015 in this segment to reduce the funding required to cover operating
losses and further committed to a reduced level of internal funding targeted to a range of $5 million to $7 million for 2016. Management believes these activities
represented a triggering event and further believes that it is more likely than not that as a result of these activities and information, which came to light subsequent
to December 31, 2015, relative to indications from prospective parties, that the fair value of the segment had fallen below the carrying value. As such the Company
completed a Step 1 analysis of goodwill, which indicated the fair value was lower than the segment’s carrying value. In accordance with ASC 350-20-35-18
management has elected to make an estimate of the goodwill impairment charge as of December 31, 2015, subject to finalizing a Step 2 analysis during the first
quarter of 2016. The estimate was based on a number of factors including the estimated fair value of working capital assets, fixed assets, customer relationships,
deferred revenue and developed technology as well as relevant market related data. The estimated impairment to goodwill for the Commercial Cyber Solutions
segment as of December 31, 2015 is $8.0 million .
A summary of the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each segment, as well as the changes in such amounts, is as follows (in thousands):

Commercial Cyber
Solutions

Government Solutions
Goodwill as of December 31, 2014

$

Acquisition

280,517
16,706

Impairment charges

—
297,223

Goodwill as of December 31, 2015

$

15,467
—
(8,000)
7,467

Consolidated
$

295,984
16,706
(8,000)
304,690

Intangibles
Intangible assets consist of the value of customer related intangibles acquired in various acquisitions. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over
their estimated useful lives unless the pattern of usage of the benefits indicates an alternative method is more representative. The useful lives of the intangibles
range from one to seven years .
Concentrations of Credit Risk
We maintain cash balances that, at times, during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 exceeded the federally insured limit on a per financial institution
basis. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk related to cash. In addition, we
have credit risk associated with our receivables that arise in the ordinary course of business. In excess of 90% of our total revenue is derived from contracts where
the end customer is the US Government and any disruption to cash payments from our end customer could put the Company at risk.
Use of Estimates
Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. Those estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenses. Significant estimates
include amortization lives, depreciation lives, percentage
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of completion revenue, VSOE, TPE, BESP, inventory obsolescence reserves, medical self-insurance IBNR, income taxes and stock compensation expense. Actual
results could vary from the estimates that were used.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The balance sheet includes various financial instruments consisting of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The fair values of
these instruments approximate the carrying values due to the short maturity of these instruments. The balance sheet also includes our convertible senior notes, the
fair value of is estimated using a market approach with Level 2 inputs.
Research and Development
Internally funded research and development expenses are expensed as incurred and are included in cost of operations in the accompanying consolidated statement
of operations. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 730, Research and Development , such costs consist primarily of payroll, materials, subcontractor and an
allocation of overhead costs related to product development. Research and development costs totaled $19.0 million , $18.6 million and $7.5 million for years ended
December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively, and are included as operating expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enacted date. In evaluating our ability to realize our deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including cumulative
historic earnings, reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected taxable income, and tax planning strategies. The assumptions utilized in evaluating both positive and
negative evidence require the use of significant judgment concerning our business plans surrounding both our Government Solutions segment and our Commercial
Solutions segment.
For a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Company initially and subsequently measures the tax liability or benefit as the
largest amount that it judges to have a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated with
unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law developments and new or emerging
legislation. Such adjustments are recognized entirely in the period in which they are identified. The effective tax rate includes the net impact of changes in the
liability for unrecognized tax obligations or benefits and subsequent adjustments as considered appropriate by management. The Company's policy is to record
interest and penalties as an increase in the liability for uncertain tax obligations or benefits and a corresponding increase to the income tax provision. No material
adjustments were recorded as of December 31, 2015 , 2014 , or 2013 .
Earnings (Loss) per Share
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share
is calculated by dividing net loss by the diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding during the period, which reflects the potential dilution of stock
options, warrants, and contingently issuable shares that could share in our loss if the securities were exercised.
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The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands except per share amounts):

December 31,
2015
Net loss

$

Weighted-average shares – basic

December 31,
2014

(58,622)

$

38,722

Effect of dilutive potential common shares
Weighted-average shares – diluted

December 31,
2013

(13,535)

$

37,443

(11,219)
36,619

—

—

—

38,722

37,443

36,619

Net loss per share – basic

$

(1.51)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.31)

Net loss per share – diluted

$

(1.51)

$

(0.36)

$

(0.31)

Anti-dilutive share-based awards, excluded

5,281

7,251

7,415

Outstanding Anti-dilutive share-based awards, total

5,281

7,251

7,415

Employee equity share options, restricted shares, and warrants granted by the Company are treated as potential common shares outstanding in computing diluted
loss per share. Diluted shares outstanding include the dilutive effect of in-the-money options and in-the-money warrants and unvested restricted stock. The dilutive
effect of such equity awards is calculated based on the average share price for each fiscal period using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method,
the amount the employee must pay for exercising stock options, the amount of compensation cost for future service that the Company has not yet recognized, and
the amount of tax benefits that would be recorded in additional paid-in capital when the award becomes deductible, are collectively assumed to be used to
repurchase shares. As we incurred a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , none of the outstanding options or warrants were included in
the diluted share calculation as they would have been anti-dilutive.
The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the conversion spread of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2019 (the
"Notes") on diluted earnings per share, if applicable. The conversion spread will have a dilutive impact on diluted earnings per share of common stock when the
average market price of our common stock for a given period exceeds the Notes' conversion price of $14.83 . For the year ended December 31, 2015 ,
approximately 10.1 million shares related the Notes have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive
since the conversion price of the Notes exceeded the average market price of the Company’s common shares for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 ,
and the Company had a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 .
Stock Based Compensation

A s discussed in Note 10, the shareholders approved the 2013 KEYW Holding Corporation Stock Incentive Plan in August 2012. The 2013 Stock Incentive Plan,
which took effect on January 1, 2013, replaced the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan. The Company applies the fair value method that requires all share-based payments
to employees and non-employee directors, including grants of employee stock options, to be expensed over their requisite service period based on their fair value at
the grant date, using a prescribed option-pricing model. The expense recognized is based on the straight-line amortization of each individually vesting piece of a
grant. The calculated expense is required to be based upon awards that ultimately vest and we have accordingly reduced the expense by estimated forfeitures.
The following assumptions were used for options granted.
Dividend Yield — The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and has no plans to do so in the foreseeable future.
Risk-Free Interest Rate — Risk-free interest rate is based on US Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term approximating the expected life of the option
term assumed at the date of grant.
Expected Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected
to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. The Company's expected volatility is based on its historical volatility for a period that approximates the estimated
life of the options.
Expected Term of the Options — This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to remain unexercised. The Company estimates the expected life
of the option term based on the expected tenure of employees and historical experience.
Forfeiture Rate — The Company estimates the percentage of options granted that are expected to be forfeited or canceled on an annual basis before stock options
become fully vested. The Company uses the forfeiture rate that is a blend of past turnover data
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and a projection of expected results over the following twelve month period based on projected levels of operations and headcount levels at various classification
levels with the Company.
Segment Reporting
FASB ASC Section 280, Segment Reporting , establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report information about operating segments in
annual financial statements and requires that these enterprises report selected information about operating segments in interim financial reports. The guidance also
establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company operates two segments. These
segments are Government Solutions and Commercial Cyber Solutions.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
I n May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers , an accounting pronouncement related to revenue recognition (FASB ASC
Topic 606), which amends the guidance in former ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition , and provides a single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for all
contracts with customers. This standard contains principles that an entity will apply to determine the measurement of revenue and timing of when it is
recognized. The entity will recognize revenue to reflect the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the entity expects to be entitled to in
exchange for those goods or services. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2017. The FASB also approved permitting early adoption of the standard, but not before January 1, 2017. We are currently evaluating the impact of this
pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest : Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs (FASB ASC Subtopic 83530). The update requires debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount
of the related debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. Debt disclosures will include the face amount of the debt liability and the effective interest rate. The
update requires retrospective application and represents a change in accounting principle. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. In August 2015 the FASB issued an amendment,
which addresses the presentation and subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs associated with line of credit arrangements. We elected to early adopt this
standard for our fiscal year 2015 retrospectively. The impact of this adoption is presented above in "Prior Period Financial Statement Revision, Reclassifications,
and Accounting Changes." We continue to present debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facility as Prepaid expenses and Other assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as allowed under the guidance.
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations: S implifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments (FASB ASC Topic
805). The update eliminates the current requirement for an acquirer in a business combination to account for measurement-period adjustments retrospectively.
Instead, acquirers must recognize measurement-period adjustments during the period in which they determine the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any
amounts they would have recorded in previous periods if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. The guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on our consolidated financial
statements.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes , amending the accounting for income taxes and requiring all deferred tax assets and liabilities to
be classified as non-current on the consolidated balance sheet. The ASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption
permitted. The ASU may be adopted either prospectively or retrospectively. We are currently evaluating the method of adoption and the impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases . The new standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU
asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. A modified retrospective transition approach is required for lessees for capital and operating leases
existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available.
We are currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.
2. ACQUISITIONS
The Company has completed multiple acquisitions since it began operations in August 2008. The acquisitions were made to increase the Company’s skill sets and
to create sufficient critical mass to be able to serve as prime contractor on significant contracts. Most of the acquisitions resulted in the Company recording
goodwill and other intangibles. The goodwill was primarily a result of the
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acquisitions focusing on acquiring cleared personnel to expand our presence with our main customers. The value of having that personnel generated the majority of
the goodwill from the transactions and drove much of the purchase price in addition to other identified intangibles including contracts, customer relationships,
contract rights and intellectual property. Several of the acquisitions involved issuance of Company common stock. The stock price for acquisition accounting was
determined by the fair value on the acquisition date.
Details of the acquisitions completed since January 1, 2014 are outlined below:
2014 Acquisitions
During 2014, the Company acquired the assets of NetClarity, Inc. ("NetClarity") and certain assets of Architecture Technology Corporation ("ATC") in two
separate asset transactions. The total consideration paid for these two purchases was $2.9 million in cash and 99,851 shares of KEYW stock valued at $1.1 million .
Neither of these acquisitions are considered material to the financial results of KEYW.
2015 Acquisitions
During the first and second quarters of 2015, the Company acquired Milestone Intelligence Group, Inc. ("Milestone"), Ponte Technologies, LLC ("Ponte Tech")
and certain assets of Innovative Engineering Solutions, Inc. in three separate transactions. The total consideration paid for these three acquisitions was $21.4
million in cash and 242,250 shares of KEYW stock valued at $1.9 million . These acquisitions individually and combined are not considered material to the
financial results of KEYW.
The total purchase price paid for the acquisitions described above have been allocated as follows (in thousands):

2014 Acquisitions
Cash

$

2015 Acquisitions
—

$

643

Current assets, net of cash acquired

63

1,533

Fixed assets

24

155

Intangibles
Goodwill
Total Assets Acquired
Current liabilities
Total Liabilities Assumed

3,928

5,059

—

16,706

4,015

24,096

59

844

59

844

Net Assets Acquired

$

3,956

$

23,252

Net Cash Paid

$

2,890

$

20,751

Equity Issued

1,066

Actual Cash Paid

$

2,890

1,858
$

21,394

All acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Results of operations for each acquired entity are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of each acquisition.
Pro forma income statements are not presented for 2015 and 2014 as there have been no material acquisitions during the twelve months ended December 31, 2015
or 2014.

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of financial assets and liabilities on a recurring basis into three
broad levels:
Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities the Company has the ability to access.
Level 2 Inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
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Level 3 Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability and rely on management’s own assumptions about what market participants would use in pricing
the asset or liability.
At December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we did not have any assets or liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis that would require disclosure based on the fair
value hierarchy of valuation techniques.
4. RECEIVABLES
Receivables consist of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,
2015

Receivables
Billed Receivables

$

Unbilled Receivables

December 31,
2014

41,603

$

16,764
$

Total Receivables

58,367

35,338
21,667

$

57,005

Unbilled amounts represent revenue recognized which could not be billed by the period end based on contract terms. The majority of the unbilled amounts were
billed subsequent to period end. Retainages typically exist at the end of a project and/or if there is a disputed item on an invoice received by a customer. At
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , retained amounts are insignificant and are expected to be collected subsequent to the balance sheet date.
Most of the Company's revenues are derived from contracts with the US Government, in which we are either the prime contractor or a subcontractor, depending on
the award.
5. INVENTORIES
Inventories at December 31, 2015 and 2014 , consisted of work in process at various stages of production and finished goods. This inventory, which consists
primarily of mobile communications devices, aeroptic cameras and radars, are valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of the work in process consists of
materials put into production, the cost of labor and an allocation of overhead costs. At December 31, 2015 and 2014 , we had reserved $0.1 million and $0.2
million respectively, for certain inventory items where the market has not developed as expected.

Activity in our Inventory Reserve is as follows (In Thousands):
Balance - January 1, 2014

$

—

Additions

628

Write-offs

(457)

Balance - December 31, 2014

171

Additions

1,110

Write-offs

(1,210)
$

Balance - December 31, 2015

71

6. PREPAID EXPENSES
Prepaid expenses at December 31, 2015 and 2014 , primarily consist of prepaid insurance, deferred financing costs related to the revolving credit facility and
software licenses.
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are as follows:
(In thousands)
December 31,
2015

Property and Equipment
Aircraft

$

11,296

Leasehold
Manufacturing Equipment
Software Development Costs
Office Equipment
Total
Accumulated Depreciation
$

Property and Equipment, net

December 31,
2014
$

10,490

22,706

15,618

6,037

4,402

6,205

5,577

16,496

13,219

62,740

49,306

(28,649)

(20,672)

34,091

$

28,634

Depreciation and amortization expense charged to operations was $8.4 million , $7.5 million , and $6.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and
2013 , respectively.
8. AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The following tables summarize the components of gross and net intangible asset balances for the acquisitions noted below. Intangible assets that have been fully
amortized as of the respective tables balance sheet dates have not been included below.

December 31, 2015 (In thousands)
Acquisition

Gross
Book Value

Intangible
$

20,914

Accumulated
Amortization
$

Poole

Contract rights

Milestone

Contracts

2,170

693

1,477

Innovative Engineering Solutions

Contracts

1,225

289

936

Ponte Tech

Customer Relationships

1,664

439

1,225

Sensage

Customer Relationships

3,682

2,393

1,289

ATC

Intellectual Property

2,360
$

32,015

13,595

Net
Book Value
$

1,049
$

18,458

7,319

1,311
$

13,557

December 31, 2014 (In thousands)
Acquisition

Gross
Book Value

Intangible

Everest

Contracts

FASI

Contracts

Poole

Contract rights

Sensage
Sensage

$

4,690

Accumulated
Amortization
$

3,830

Net
Book Value
$

860

2,775

2,544

231

20,914

9,412

11,502

Intellectual Property

4,567

3,425

1,142

Customer Relationships

3,682

1,657

2,025

Rsignia

Intellectual Property

5,001

3,473

1,528

Dilijent

Intellectual Property

1,000

694

306

IDEAL

Contracts

2,056

1,970

86

NetClarity

Intellectual Property

692

135

557

NetClarity

Customer Relationships

876

102

774

ATC

Intellectual Property

2,360

262

2,098

$
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Estimated future intangible amortization expense by year as of December 31, 2015, (In thousands):
2016

2017

2018

$7,392

$5,900

$265

The Company recorded amortization expense of $11.4 million , $12.2 million , and $24.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 ,
respectively. As of December 31, 2015 , the remaining weighted-average amortization period for acquired intangible assets is 1.8 years .
9. DEBT
2.5% Convertible Senior Notes
In July 2014, the Company issued $130.0 million aggregate principal amount of Notes in an underwritten public offering. The Company granted an option to the
underwriters to purchase up to an additional $19.5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes, which was subsequently exercised in full in August 2014, resulting
in a total issuance of $149.5 million aggregate principal amount of Notes. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 2.50% per annum on the principal amount, payable
semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year, beginning on January 15, 2015, to holders of record at the close of business on the preceding
January 1 and July 1, respectively. The Notes mature on July 15, 2019, unless earlier repurchased or converted. The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to
their stated maturity date.
Holders of the Notes may convert their notes at their option under the following circumstances: (i) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar
quarter ending September 30, 2014, if the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) in the
period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the
conversion price for the Notes on each applicable trading day; (ii) during the five business day period immediately after any five consecutive trading day period in
which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of that period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of
Company’s common stock and the conversion rate for the Notes for each such trading day; (iii) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or (iv) following
the Company’s delivery of a notice of the spin-off of its subsidiary, Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc. On and after January 15, 2019, holders may convert their Notes at
any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances.
Upon conversion, the Company will settle the Notes in cash, shares of Company common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Company common stock, at
the Company’s election. The Notes have an initial conversion rate of 67.41 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes, which is equal to an
initial conversion price of approximately $14.83 per common share. The conversion price is subject to adjustments upon the occurrence of certain specified events,
including the initial public offering of the Company’s subsidiary, Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc., as set forth in the Indenture.
In addition, upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), holders of the Notes may require the Company to repurchase the Notes at a
purchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.
The Company incurred approximately $5.7 million of debt issuance costs during the third quarter of 2014 as a result of issuing the Notes. Of the approximately
$5.7 million incurred, the Company recorded $4.6 million and $1.1 million to deferred financing costs and additional paid-in capital, respectively, in proportion to
the allocation of the proceeds of the Notes as discussed below. The Company is amortizing the deferred financing costs over the contractual term of the Notes
using the effective interest method.
The Company used the net proceeds from the Notes to repay the outstanding balances under the credit facility the Company entered into in 2012, (the "2012 Credit
Agreement"). Net proceeds also will be used for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes, including potential acquisitions.
The Company allocated the $149.5 million proceeds from the issuance of the Notes between long-term debt, the liability component, and additional paid-in-capital,
the equity component, in the amounts of $122.1 million and $27.4 million , respectively. The initial value of the liability component was measured using the
nonconvertible debt interest rate. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the conversion option was determined by deducting the fair value of
the liability component from the face value of the Notes. Since the Company must still settle the Notes at face value at or prior to maturity, the Company will
accrete the liability component to its face value resulting in additional non-cash interest expense being recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations while the Notes remain outstanding. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
F-20

TABLE OF CONTENTS

As of December 31, 2015 , the outstanding principal of the Notes was $149.5 million , the unamortized debt discount was $20.0 million , the unamortized deferred
financing costs were $3.3 million and the carrying amount of the liability component was $126.2 million , which was recorded as long-term debt within the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2015 , the fair value of the liability component relating to the Notes, based on a market approach, was
approximately $130.9 million and represents a Level 2 valuation.
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 , the Company recognized $9.8 million of interest expense relating to the Notes, which included $5.1 million
for noncash interest expense relating to the debt discount and $0.9 million relating to amortization of deferred financing costs. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014 , the Company recognized $4.3 million of interest expense relating to the Notes, which included $2.2 million for noncash interest expense
relating to the debt discount and $0.4 million relating to amortization of deferred financing costs. The Company is estimated to incur $0.9 million , $0.9 million ,
$0.9 million and $0.5 million in future amortization of deferred financing costs for the subsequent years ending December 31, 2016 - 2019 respectively.
Capped Call
During 2014 in conjunction with the issuance of the Notes, the Company paid approximately $18.4 million to enter into capped call transactions with respect to its
common shares, (the "Capped Call Transactions"), with certain financial institutions. The Capped Call Transactions generally are expected to reduce the potential
dilution to the Company's common stock upon conversion of the Notes and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal
amount of any converted Notes, as the case may be, in the event that the market price of the common stock is greater than the strike price of the Capped Call
Transactions, initially set at $14.83 , with such reduction of potential dilution subject to a cap based on the cap price, which is initially set at $19.38 . The strike
price and cap price are subject to anti-dilution adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. As a result of the Capped Call Transactions, the
Company reduced additional paid-in capital by $18.4 million during 2014.
2014 Revolving Credit Facility
In July 2014, the Company, as a guarantor, entered into a senior credit agreement, (the “2014 Credit Agreement”), by and among itself, the KEYW Corporation, as
the borrower (the “Borrower”), the domestic direct and indirect subsidiary guarantors of KEYW (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”)) with certain financial institutions.
The 2014 Credit Agreement provides the Company a $42.5 million revolving credit facility (the "2014 Revolver"). The 2014 Revolver includes a swing line loan
commitment of up to $10 million and a letter of credit facility of up to $15 million . The 2014 Revolver is secured by a security interest and lien on substantially all
of the Company’s, the Borrower’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ assets including a pledge of one hundred percent of the equity securities of the Borrower and the
Subsidiary Guarantors.
The Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants contained in the 2014 Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2015 , the Company was in
compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement.
Borrowings under the 2014 Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to an applicable rate plus, at the Company’s option, either (a) adjusted LIBOR or (b) a
base rate. The Company is required to pay a facility fee to the Lenders for any unused commitments and customary letter of credit fees.
The 2014 Revolver will mature on the earlier to occur of (i) the fifth anniversary of the closing of the 2014 Credit Agreement, and (ii) the date that is 180 days
prior to the maturity date of the Notes unless the Notes are converted into equity, repaid, refinanced or otherwise satisfied on terms permitted under the 2014 Credit
Agreement. The Company may voluntarily repay outstanding loans under the 2014 Revolver at any time without premium or penalty, subject to customary fees in
the case of prepayment of LIBOR based loans.
In February 2016, the Company amended the 2014 Credit Agreement by adjusting the minimum cash interest coverage ratio covenant effective for the quarters
ended December 31, 2015, and March 31, 2016 and increasing the applicable interest rates with respect to the Credit Agreement’s consolidated senior secured
leverage ratio pricing tiers. The amendment permanently decreases the amount available under the revolver to $20.0 million . At December 31, 2015 , we were in
compliance with all of our debt covenants under the 2014 Credit Agreement.
2012 Credit Facility
In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company entered into a the 2012 Credit Agreement, which included a $70 million term loan, a $50 million revolver and an
accordion feature allowing for an additional $35 million in borrowing. The 2012 Credit Agreement was a five year, multi-bank agreement with the Royal Bank
of Canada, as administrative agent. In connection with entering into the 2012 Credit Facility the Company incurred $3.2 million in financing costs. These financing
costs were being amortized using the effective interest rate method over a five year period, the expected life of the related debt. In July of 2014 in connection with
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issuing the Notes the Company terminated, satisfied, and discharged all of its obligations under the 2012 Credit Agreement. Interest expense recorded under the
credit facilities was $4.5 million and $3.5 million during 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company recognized $0.4 million and $0.6 million in amortization
expense relating to deferred financing costs for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, which was included as part of interest expense. In July
2014 as a result of the termination of the 2012 Credit Agreement, the Company wrote off $2.0 million of unamortized deferred financing costs, which were
included as part of interest expense.
10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
At December 31, 2015 , KEYW had stock-based compensation awards outstanding under the following plans: The 2008 Stock Incentive Plan ("2008 Plan"), The
2009 Stock Incentive Plan ("2009 Plan") and The 2013 Stock Incentive Plan ("2013 Plan").
On August 15, 2012, the shareholders approved the 2013 KEYW Holding Corporation Stock Incentive Plan. The 2013 plan, which took effect on January 1, 2013 ,
replaced the 2009 plan and provides for the issuance of additional restricted stock, stock options, and restricted stock units. Pursuant to an amendment approved by
the Company’s shareholders on August 12, 2015, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2013 Plan was increased by 700,000 shares to a maximum
of 2,700,000 shares.
Stock Options
The Company generally issues stock option awards that vest over varying periods, ranging from three to five years , and have a ten -year life. We estimate the fair
value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We use historical data to determine volatility of our stock. Estimates of fair value are not
intended to predict actual future events or the value ultimately realized by persons who receive equity awards. All option awards terminate within ninety days or
sooner after termination of service with the Company except as provided in certain circumstances with regard to our senior executive employment agreements.
No stock options were granted during 2015. The option grants during 2014 and 2013 consist of options issued to new hires, employees acquired through
acquisitions, board members and discretionary awards. All equity issuances have an exercise price at market value or higher based upon our publicly-traded share
price on the date of grant.
The Black-Scholes model requires certain inputs related to dividend yield, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and forfeitures in order to price the option
values. During 2014 and 2013 our assumptions related to these inputs were as follows:
2014
Dividend yield

2013

—%

—%

1.47% - 1.66%

0.65% - 1.75%

Expected volatility

36.35% - 48.65%

29.54% - 51.37%

Forfeitures

11.00% - 37.00%

11.00% - 39.00%

Risk-free interest rate
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A summary of stock option activity is as follows:

Number of Shares
Options Outstanding 01/01/2013

3,186,414

Options Exercisable 01/01/2013

1,543,284

Granted

Option Exercise Price

Weighted- Average
Exercise Price

$12.18

512,700

$11.18 - $16.08

Exercised

(224,973)

$5.00 - $14.57

$8.10

Forfeited

(392,467)

$5.00 - $16.08

$11.94

645,670

$13.16 - $17.71

$17.10

Exercised

(501,400)

$5.00 - $14.88

$8.19

Forfeited

(277,070)

$5.00 - $17.11

$13.52

Options Outstanding 12/31/2013

3,081,674

Options Exercisable 12/31/2013

1,911,565

Granted

Options Outstanding 12/31/2014

2,948,874

Options Exercisable 12/31/2014

1,934,215

Granted

$—

$—

Exercised

(139,270)

—

$5.00 - $10.00

$5.65

Forfeited

(476,715)

$5.50 - $17.11

$13.00

Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average
Remaining Life (Years)

Options Outstanding 12/31/2015

2,332,889

Options Exercisable 12/31/2015

1,965,633

As of December 31, 2015 , outstanding stock options were as follows:

Exercise Price

Options
Outstanding

$5.00 - $5.50

341,950

$6.90 - $7.66
$7.96 - $8.14

Intrinsic Value
215,639

341,950

215,369

3.59

258,448

—

69,250

—

258,448

—

6.08

69,250

—

$9.17 - $10.98

188,388

5.87

—

188,388

—

5.24

$11.18 - $11.99
$12.28 - $12.97

245,750

—

205,113

—

6.34

384,473

—

314,755

—

6.77

$13.00 - $13.48

155,686

—

135,121

—

7.15

$14.03 - $14.88

225,674

—

219,779

—

5.24

$16.08 - $17.71

463,270

—

232,829

—

8.09

215,639

1,965,633

2,332,889

$

Options Vested

$

$

$

215,369

EQUITY UNDER THE 2013 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
Total equity available to issue

2,700,000

Total equity outstanding or exercised

1,708,010
991,990

Total equity remaining
Restricted Stock Awards

During 2015, the Company issued a total of 491,015 shares of restricted stock under the 2013 Plan. The Company issued 344,415 shares of restricted common
stock to existing employees under the long-term incentive plan, 48,000 shares of restricted common stock to board members, 60,750 shares of restricted common
stock to new employees and 37,850 shares of restricted common
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stock to existing employees as discretionary awards. The expense for these shares will be recognized over the vesting life of each individual tranche of shares
based upon the fair value of a share of stock at the date of grant. All of the above shares cliff vest in three years . All restricted stock awards have no exercise price.
During 2014, the Company issued restricted stock for employee incentive plans and new hires. The Company issued 153,580 shares of restricted common stock to
existing employees under the long-term incentive plan and an additional 21,000 shares of restricted common stock to board members. The Company also issued
77,205 shares of restricted common stock to new hires. An additional 27,338 shares were issued to existing employees as discretionary awards. The expense for
these shares will be recognized over the vesting life of each individual tranche of shares based upon the fair value of a share of stock at the date of grant. All of the
above shares cliff vest in three years . All restricted stock awards have no exercise price.
A summary of the outstanding unvested restricted stock awards is as follows:
Unvested Shares
Outstanding 01/01/2013

452,583

Granted

258,250

Vested

(52,033)

Forfeited

(55,300)

Outstanding 12/31/2013

603,500

Granted

279,123

Vested

(171,481)

Forfeited

(24,137)

Outstanding 12/31/2014

687,005

Granted

591,015

Vested

(270,487)

Forfeited

(47,800)

Outstanding 12/31/2015

959,733

2015 CEO Grant
In October 2015, pursuant to the commencement of William J. Weber’s employment as our CEO, and in accordance with the terms of the Employment Agreement,
we issued Mr. Weber (i) 100,000 restricted shares of the Company’s common stock as a sign-on inducement, and (ii) the right to acquire 400,000 shares of our
common stock as a long-term incentive inducement. Mr. Weber's sign-on inducement and long-term incentive rights were granted outside the 2013 Plan, in
accordance with Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.
Mr. Weber’s sign-on shares will vest as follows: (i) 50,000 shares on October 1, 2016; (ii) 25,000 shares on October 1, 2018, and (iii) 25,000 shares on October 1,
2019.
The long-term incentive shares will be subject to a two-year holding period following the grant date. The granting and vesting of the above-described inducement
shares will be contingent upon Mr. Weber’s continued employment with KEYW, subject to acceleration upon certain events. Mr. Weber's long-term incentive
grant consists of four vesting tranches, which will vest at any time prior to the fifth anniversary of October 1, 2015 (“the Commencement Date”) the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock over any 30 consecutive trading days is at or greater than the target price, set forth in the table below.
Target Price Per Share

Long-Term Incentive Shares

$13.00

50,000

$16.00

50,000

$20.00

100,000

$25.00

100,000

$30.00

100,000
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We measured the fair value of the CEO's long-term incentive grant using a Monte Carlo simulation approach with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate
of 1.67% , weighted-average derived service period of 4.7 years , expected volatility of 59.8% and dividend yield of 0% . The weighted-average grant-date fair
value of this grant is $2.96 per share. The expense for this grant will be recognized over the derived service period of each individual tranche.
All stock based compensation has been recorded as part of operating expenses. Accounting standards require forfeitures to be estimated at the time an award is
granted and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeiture estimates are disclosed in the information with
respect to the option grants. For the periods ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 share-based compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected
to vest and has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. The Company recorded total stock compensation expense of $5.5 million , $6.4 million and $5.7 million for
the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 , respectively. The total unrecognized stock compensation expense at December 31, 2015 is approximately
$6.5 million , which will be recognized over the next five years .
As a result of the June 2015 death of Len Moodispaw, our former Chairman and CEO, and in accordance with his equity grant
agreements, all of his unvested equity grants immediately vested. As such the corresponding unrecognized stock compensation
expense of $0.9 million , was recorded during the second quarter of 2015.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Effective January 1, 2011 , the Company offered an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) to employees. Under the terms of the ESPP, employees may
purchase up to 1,000 shares of common stock per quarter at a 15% discount to the market price on the last trading day of the quarter. The Company has elected to
use open market purchases for all shares issued under the ESPP. In 2015 , 2014 and 2013 the Company recognized expense of $0.3 million , $0.4 million and $0.2
million , respectively, under the plan.
11. WARRANTS
During 2015, warrant holders exercised 1,750,841 warrants, with 1,137,500 exercised for cash and 613,341 exercised cashlessly. The 1,137,500 warrants exercised
for cash were exercised at $4.00 per shares. The total cash received from these exercises was $4,550,000 . Under our warrant agreements, warrants may also be
exercised cashlessly based on the average price of the Company's common stock for the 5 days prior to exercise. Under this methodology the warrants that were
exercised cashlessly were exchanged for 366,359 shares of the Company's common stock.
During 2014, warrant holders exercised 31,830 warrants, with 29,550 exercised for cash and 2,280 exercised cashlessly. The warrants exercised for cash consisted
of 20,000 warrants exercised at $4.00 per share and 9,550 warrants exercised at $5.50 per share. The total cash received from these exercises was $133,000 . Under
our warrant agreements, warrants may be exercised cashlessly based on the average price of the Company's common stock for the 5 trading days prior to exercise.
Under this methodology the warrants that were exercised cashlessly were exchanged for 1,547 shares of the Company's common stock.
During 2013, warrant holders exercised 304,455 warrants, with 9,000 exercised for cash and 295,455 exercised cashlessly. The warrants exercised for cash
consisted of 4,000 warrants exercised at $4.00 per share and 5,000 warrants exercised at $5.50 per share. The total cash received from these exercises was $43,500
. Under our warrant agreements, warrants may also be exercised cashlessly based on the average price of the Company's common stock for the 5 trading days prior
to exercise. Under this methodology the warrants that were exercised cashlessly were exchanged for 195,610 shares of the Company's common stock.
As of December 31, 2015 , outstanding warrants were as follows:

Exercise Price

Warrants Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Remaining Life (Years)

Warrants Vested

$

5.50

2,179,904

2,179,904

0.38

$

9.25

210,000

210,000

1.21

$

12.65

158,116

158,116

3.90

2,548,020

2,548,020

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases certain office equipment and operating facilities under non-cancellable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2025. Certain
leases contain renewal options. Rental payments on certain leases are subject to annual increases based
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on escalation clauses and increases in the lessor's operating expenses. For the leases that require fixed rental escalations during their lease terms, rent expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis resulting in deferred rent. The deferred rent included in other liabilities both current and non-current totaled $13.3 million and
$7.5 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014 , respectively, of which $10.7 million and $6.2 million related to the lease incentive liability at December 31, 2015
and 2014 , respectively. Total net lease expense was $7.1 million , $5.7 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 ,
respectively.
The schedule below shows the future minimum lease payments required under our operating leases as of December 31, 2015 .

(In Thousands)
Type
Facilities/Office space

2016
$

8,801

Office equipment
Operating Leases

2017
$

8,890

81
$

8,882

2018
$

8,252

58
$

8,948

2019
$

7,249

42
$

8,294

2020
$

7,158

—
$

7,249

Thereafter
$

21,110

—
$

7,158

—
$

21,110

The Company has entered into employment agreements with several executives providing for certain salary levels, severance and change of control provisions
through the term of the agreements expiring in February 2017.
In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in various legal matters. It is the opinion of management that none of the current legal matters would
have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial statements.
13. RETIREMENT PLANS
The Company currently has one qualified defined contribution retirement plan. The KEYW Corporation Employee 401(k) Plan (KEYW Plan), which includes a
contributory match 401(k) feature for KEYW employees. As of January 1, 2010, the KEYW Plan calls for an employer matching contribution of up to 10% of
eligible compensation. Total authorized contributions under the matching contribution feature of the KEYW Plan were $11.3 million , $9.7 million and $10.4
million , in 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively. There were no discretionary contributions during these periods.
14. INCOME TAX PROVISION
Applicable income tax (benefit) expense provision is as follows:

(In thousands)
2015

2014

2013

Current:
Federal

$

State

—

$

(7)
21,605
$

Total provision for income taxes

21,598

$

155

(7)
Deferred

(2,343)

$

(1,842)
1

(2,188)

(1,841)

(6,434)

(7,548)

(8,622)

$

(9,389)

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities. At
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the net deferred tax liability was $27.9 million and $4.2 million respectively.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities, shown as the sum of the appropriate tax effect for each significant type of temporary differences as of December 31, 2015 and
2014 , are as follows:
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(In thousands)
2015 Deferred Tax
Asset
Net operating loss

$

2014 Deferred Tax

Liability

19,526

$

Asset
—

$

Liability
9,738

$

—

Accrued compensation

2,156

—

2,541

—

Stock based compensation

5,822

—

5,560

—

287

—

322

—

Tenant improvement allowance
Inventory reserves

398

—

227

—

Other deferred tax assets

1,751

—

998

—

Tax credits

1,676

—

1,514

—

Other deferred tax liabilities

—

(294)

—

Convertible Debt

—

(2,495)

—

(3,268)

Deferred revenue – current

—

(988)

—

(375)

Prepaid expenses

—

(168)

—

(63)

Depreciation

—

(975)

—

(1,610)

Intangible assets amortization – Definite Lived

8,450

Intangible assets amortization – Indefinite Lived
Internally developed software
Capitalized R&D 59(e)

—

—

(28,864)

—

(1,582)

695

Less: Valuation Allowance

(33,249)
$

7,512

Net deferred liability

5,681

—

—

(25,127)

—

(1,126)

—

821

—

—

—

—

(35,366)
$

—

(27,854)

$

27,402

(31,569)
$

(4,167)

The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset reflecting the benefit of $45.6 million of federal net operating loss carry-forwards, $2.0 million of federal tax
credits for research and development and alternative minimum tax, as well as $65.8 million of state net operating loss carry-forwards, and $0.1 million of state tax
credits for research and development. In connection with the acquisition of Sensage, a portion of the net operating loss carryforward is limited under section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code. The annual limitation is equal to approximately $1.7 million and the total net operating loss available for use during the carryforward
period is $18.5 million . Deferred tax assets are set to expire between 2016 and 2035 .
As a result of certain realization requirements of ASC 718, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above does not include certain deferred tax assets
as of December 31, 2014 that arose directly from tax deductions related to equity compensation greater than compensation recognized for financial reporting.
Equity will be increased by $0.4 million and $0.1 million for federal and state purposes respectively if and when such deferred tax assets are ultimately realized.
The Company uses tax law ordering when determining when excess tax benefits have been realized.
The Company has generated three years of pretax losses due to losses generated in its Commercial Cyber Solutions segment relating to the build out of its Hexis G
platform. Management has reviewed both positive and negative evidence and weighted this evidence to determine the realization of its deferred tax assets. A
significant portion of the negative evidence considered included the cumulative three year losses identified above and the inability to carryback 2014 and 2015 tax
losses to recover taxes previously paid given all amounts have been recovered. As a result of a cumulative negative weighting, management believed during 2015
that it was more likely than not the Company’s deferred tax assets will not be realized and recorded a valuation allowance on these assets. The valuation allowance
recorded in the amount of $33.2 million did not include the reversal of the deferred tax liability associated with indefinite lived intangibles due to the nature of the
underlying assets. The Company’s deferred tax assets will be evaluated in subsequent reporting periods by management using weighted current and future positive
and negative evidence to determine if a change in the valuation allowance is required.
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The net deferred tax liabilities shown on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , are as follows:

(In thousands)
2015
Deferred taxes – current liability

$

2014
(1,450)

Deferred taxes – long term liability

$

(33,916)

Deferred taxes – current assets

(437)
(31,132)

486

Deferred taxes – long term assets

3,315

7,026
$

Net Deferred Tax Liability

24,087

(27,854)

$

(4,167)

A reconciliation of the difference between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective tax rate for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2015 ,
2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Percent of Pre-tax Income
2015
Tax computed at statutory rate

2014

2013

35.0 %

35.0 %

35.0 %

4.4 %

4.8 %

6.5 %

Meals and entertainment – non-deductible

(0.7)%

(0.9)%

(0.9)%

Non-deductible acquisition costs

(0.2)%

—%

(0.3)%

ESPP Expense

(0.2)%

(0.4)%

(0.2)%

State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit

Other permanent items

0.3 %

0.1 %

(0.3)%

Provision to return

0.2 %

(1.4)%

4.8 %

Tax credits

0.6 %

1.7 %

1.0 %

Goodwill Impairment

(7.6)%

—%

—%

Valuation Allowance

(90.1)%

—%

—%

Effective tax rate

(58.3)%

38.9 %

45.6 %

The Company recognizes the benefit of an income tax position only if it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax
examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benefit can be recognized. Additionally, companies are required to accrue
interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws.
The following table represents a reconciliation of the Company's total unrecognized tax benefits balance for the year ended December 31, 2015 :

(In thousands)
Activity
January 1, 2015

$

Increases as a result of tax positions taken in a prior period

408
25

Increases as a result of tax positions taken during the current period

50
$

December 31, 2015

483

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations. Accrued interest and penalties are deemed immaterial and are not included in the above table or within the financial statements.
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As of December 31, 2015 , the following tax years remained subject to examination by the major tax jurisdictions indicated:

Major Jurisdictions

Open Years

United States

2011 through 2014

California

2011 through 2014

Maryland

2010 through 2014

Massachusetts

2012 through 2014

Virginia

2012 through 2014

During the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Internal Revenue Service (‘IRS’) initiated an audit of the Company's Federal returns for the years ended December
31, 2013 and 2014. Management has reviewed its ASC 740-10 (‘FIN 48’) positions and does not believe it is reasonably possible that its unrecognized tax benefits
would materially change in the next twelve months. If an issue addressed during the IRS audit is resolved in a manner inconsistent with Management expectations,
the Company would adjust its net operating loss carryback and reduce its 2014 net operating loss carryforward. The Company expects the IRS review to be
completed during 2016.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment
The Company defines its reportable segments based on the way the chief operating decision maker (CODM), currently its chief executive officer, manages the
operations of the Company for allocating resources and assessing performance. The Company operates two reportable segments: Government Solutions and
Commercial Cyber Solutions. The Government Solutions segment primarily includes revenue from providing information solutions and services to national and
military intelligence agencies. The Commercial Cyber Solutions segment primarily includes revenue from providing cybersecurity software products and services
to commercial companies. The Company's reportable segments are business units that offer different products and services. They are managed separately because
each business requires a different customer base.
Disclosure of segment information is on the same basis that management uses internally for evaluating segment performance and allocating resources. Transactions
between segments are eliminated in consolidation. The costs of shared services, and other administrative functions managed on a common basis, are allocated to
the segments based on usage or other factors based on the nature of the activity. The accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as those
described in Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
Summarized financial information concerning the Company's reportable segments is show in the tables below:
As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2015
(In Thousands)
Commercial Cyber
Solutions

Government Solutions
Goodwill

$

Intangibles, net
Revenues

297,223

$

7,467

Consolidated
$

304,690

10,957

2,600

13,557

297,935

13,875

311,810

Gross Profit

89,729

9,861

99,590

Operating Income (Loss)

18,916

(45,682)

(26,766)

Depreciation and Amortization

12,964

6,885

19,849
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As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2014
(In Thousands)
Commercial Cyber
Solutions

Government Solutions
Goodwill

$

Intangibles, net
Revenues

280,517

$

15,467

Consolidated
$

295,984

12,985

8,124

21,109

279,250

11,324

290,574

Gross Profit

86,342

8,831

95,173

Operating Income (Loss)

21,743

(35,096)

(13,353)

Depreciation and Amortization

13,066

6,557

19,623

As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
(In Thousands)
Commercial Cyber
Solutions

Government Solutions
Goodwill

$

Intangibles, net
Revenues
Gross Profit
Operating Income (Loss)
Depreciation and Amortization

280,517

$

15,467

Consolidated
$

295,984

20,723

8,620

29,343

288,909

9,823

298,732

91,529

7,983

99,512

4,985

(15,801)

(10,816)

26,263

4,670

30,933

Asset information by segment is not a key measure of performance used by the CODM. The Company does not identify interest or income taxes with individual
segments as the cash is managed at the corporate level and tax returns are filed on a consolidated basis. Substantially all of the Company’s revenues and tangible
long-lived assets are generated by or located in the United States. As such, financial information by geographic location is not presented.
Customer
For the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 we earned approximately 94% , 91% and 93% , respectively, of our revenue from prime contracts with the
U.S. Government or subcontracts with other contractors engaged in work for the U.S. Government. The percentage of total revenue by customer sector was a
follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2015
Department of Defense

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

87%

70%

73%

Other intelligence agencies and law enforcement

6%

21%

20%

Commercial and other

7%

9%

7%

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In connection with the preparation of its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company has evaluated events that occurred subsequent
to December 31, 2015 to determine whether any of these events required recognition or disclosure in the 2015 financial statements. The Company is not aware of
any subsequent events which would require recognition or disclosure in the financial statements other than those listed below.
During March 2016, the Company sold certain assets related its systems engineering and technical assistance ("SETA") business to Quantech Services,
Incorporated.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

1.1

Underwriting Agreement among the Company and RBC Capital Markets, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, as representatives, dated July 16, 2014.

(15)

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 27, 2011, by and among The KEYW Corporation (“Purchaser”), FLD
Acquisition Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Purchaser, Flight Landata Inc., and Jill Mann of Mann & Mann,
P.C., as the Stockholder Representative.

(4)

2.2

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated September 10, 2012, by and among The KEYW Corporation, The KEYW Holding
Corporation, Poole & Associates, Inc., the stockholders of Poole & Associates, Inc. and the Representative of the Sellers.

(7)

2.3

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 13, 2012, by and among SenSage, Inc., The KEYW Corporation, The
KEYW Holding Corporation, SSI Acquisition Corporation, and Fortis Advisors LLC as Representative of SenSage, Inc.'s
shareholders.

(8)

3.1

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as filed on October 6, 2010.

(2)

3.2

Certificate of Correction of Articles of Amendment and Restatement.

(9)

3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, effective as of August 13, 2014.

(16)

4.1

Specimen of Common Stock Certificate.

(1)

4.2

Indenture, dated July 21, 2014, between the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee.

(15)

4.3

First Supplemental Indenture, dated July 21, 2014, between the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as trustee.

(15)

4.4

Form of 2.50% Convertible Senior Note due 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 hereto).

(15)

10.1*

The KEYW Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

(1)

10.2*

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

(1)

10.3*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive
Plan

(1)

10.4*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Corporation 2008 Stock Incentive Plan

(1)

10.5*

The KEYW Holding Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

(1)

10.6*

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive
Plan

(11)

10.7*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2009 Stock
Incentive Plan

(11)

10.8*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

(11)

10.9*

Form of The KEYW Corporation Non-Qualified Stock Options Agreement for non-plan grants

(1)

10.10*

Form of The KEYW Corporation Restricted Stock Agreement for non-plan grants

(1)

10.11*

Long-Term Incentive Plan

(1)

10.12*

Annual Incentive Plan

(1)

10.13*

Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation and Kimberly J. DeChello

(1)

10.14*

Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation and Leonard E. Moodispaw

(10)

10.15*

Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation and Mark A. Willard

(10)

10.16

Form of Amended and Restated Warrant

(10)

10.17*

The KEYW Holding Corporation 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

(1)

10. 18*

Amendment, dated March 12, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation
and Kimberly J. DeChello

(3)

54

TABLE OF CONTENTS

10.19*

Amendment, dated March 12, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation
and Leonard E. Moodispaw

(3)

10. 20*

Amendment, dated March 12, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW Corporation
and Mark A. Willard
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10.21*

Second Amendment, dated June 29, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW
Corporation and Leonard Moodispaw

(5)

10.22*

Second Amendment, dated June 29, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW
Corporation and Mark A. Willard

(5)

10.23*

Second Amendment, dated June 29, 2012, to Employment Agreement, dated June 16, 2010, between The KEYW
Corporation and Kimberly J. DeChello

(5)

10.24*

The KEYW Holding Corporation Amended and Restated 2013 Stock Incentive Plan

(6)

10.25*

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2013 Stock Incentive
Plan

(11)

10.26*

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2013 Stock
Incentive Plan

(11)

10.27*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for grants pursuant to The KEYW Holding Corporation 2013 Stock Incentive Plan

(11)

10.28

Hexis Executive Incentive Plan.

(13)

10.29

Base Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of July 16, 2014, between the Company and Royal Bank of Canada.

(14)

10.30

Base Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of July 16, 2014, between the Company and Bank of America, NA.

(14)

10.31

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2014, among The KEYW Corporation, as the Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the
Borrower and the Company, as Guarantors, the lenders identified in the Credit Agreement and Royal Bank of Canada, as
Administrative Agent.

(14)

10.32*

Employment Agreement, dated August 11, 2014, between Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc. and Philip L. Calamia.

(15)

10.33

Additional Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 12, 2014, between the Company and Royal Bank
of Canada.

(12)

10.34

Additional Call Option Transaction Confirmation, dated as of August 12, 2014, between the Company and Bank of
America, NA.

(12)

10.35

Employment Agreement, dated August 25, 2015, between The KEYW Corporation and William J. Weber.

(16)

10.36

Employment Agreement, dated January 4, 2016, between The KEYW Corporation and Michele Cook.

10.37

Amendment No. 1, dated as of January 15, 2015, to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2014, among The KEYW
Corporation, as the Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Borrower.

(17)

10.38

Amendment No. 2, dated as of November 5,2015, to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2014, among The KEYW
Corporation, as the Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Borrower.

(17)

10.39

Amendment No. 3, dated as of February 25, 2016, to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2014, among The KEYW
Corporation, as the Borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Borrower

(18)

12.1

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

(14)

14.1

Code of Ethics

(2)

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

x

23.1

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

x

31.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to R Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

x

31.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to R Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

x

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002

x

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

x

32.1**

x

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

x

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

x

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

x
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101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

x

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

x

x

Filed herewith

*

Indicates management contract of compensatory agreements

** These exhibits are being “furnished” with this periodic report and are not deemed “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not
incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after
the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation by reference language in any such filing.
(1) Incorporated by reference to the corresponding Exhibit number to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-16768).
(2) Filed as Exhibits 3.1 and 14.1, respectively, to Registrant's Form 10-K filed March 29, 2011, File No. 001-34891.
(3) Filed as Exhibits 10.36, 10.38 and 10.39, respectively, to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 15, 2012, File No. 001-34891.
(4) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Form 8-K filed August 10, 2011, File No. 001-34891.
(5) Filed as Exhibits 10.1, 10.3 and 10.4, respectively, to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 3, 2012, File No. 001-34891.
(6) Filed as Annex A to Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed July 10, 2015.
(7) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 12, 2012, File No. 001-34891.
(8) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 19, 2012, File No. 001-34891.
(9) Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 15, 2014, File No. 001-34891.
(10) Filed as Exhibits 10.17, 10.18 and 10.20, respectively, to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-16768).
(11) Filed as Exhibits 10.6, 10.7, 10.8, 10.28, 10.29 and 10.30, respectively, to the Registrant's Annual Report on From 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2012, filed March 12, 2013, File No. 001-34891.
(12) Filed as Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, respectively, to the Registrant’s Form 8-K reporting under Items 2.03, 8.01, and 9.0, filed August 15, 2014, File No. 0013489.
(13) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2014, File No. 001-34891.
(14) Filed as Exhibits 1.1, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 and 12.1, respectively to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 21, 2014, File No. 00138491.
(15) Filed as Exhibits 3.1 and 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 15, 2014, File No. 001-34891.
(16) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 31, 2016, File No. 001-34891.
(17) Filed as Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, respectively, to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 10, 2015.
(18) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 2, 2015.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE KEYW HOLDING CORPORATION
(Registrant)
By: /s/ William J. Weber
William J. Weber
President and Chief Executive Officer;
Principal Executive Officer
March 15, 2016
By: /s/ Philip L. Calamia
Philip L. Calamia
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer;
Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
March 15, 2016
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Deborah A. Bonanni

/s/ Kenneth A. Minihan

Deborah A. Bonanni, Director

Kenneth A. Minihan, Director

March 15, 2016

March 15, 2016

/s/ William I. Campbell

/s/ Arthur L. Money

William I. Campbell, Director

Arthur L Money, Director

March 15, 2016

March 15, 2016

/s/ Pierre A. Chao

/s/ William J. Weber

Pierre Chao, Director

William J. Weber, Director

March 15, 2016

March 15, 2016

/s/ John G. Hannon

/s/ Caroline S. Pisano

John G. Hannon, Director

Caroline S. Pisano, Director

March 15, 2016

March 15, 2016
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Exhibit 10.36

Execution Copy
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “ Agreement ”), effective this 4 th day of January 2016 (the “ Effective Date ”),
is entered into by and between The KEYW Corporation, a Maryland corporation with its principal place of business at 7740
Milestone Parkway, Suite 150, Hanover, Maryland 21076 (the “ Company ”), and Michele Cook , residing at 1200 William Street,
Fredericksburg, Virginia 22401 (the “ Employee ”).
WHEREAS, the Company desires to retain the Employee’s services as provided herein, and the Employee desires to be
employed by the Company. As used herein, the term “ KEYW ” shall include the Company and all entities now or hereafter
controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Company, such term to include The KEYW Holding Corporation, a
Maryland corporation (“ HoldCo ”).
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, the parties agree as follows:
1. Term of Employment . The Company hereby agrees to employ the Employee, and the Employee hereby accepts
employment with the Company, upon the terms set forth in this Agreement, unless employment is terminated in accordance with
the provisions of Section 3, commencing on January 18, 2016 (the “ Commencement Date ”).
2.

Title; Capacity; Compensation .

2.1 The Employee will serve as the Executive Vice President, Business Development of the Company starting on the
Commencement Date and continuing until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 3, with such customary duties
and responsibilities associated with such title, and such other duties commensurate with such title as may, from time to time, be
designated by the Board of Directors of HoldCo.
(a) Compensation. In exchange for such performance, the Company agrees to pay the Employee a base salary
of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000.00) per year, which shall be paid in accordance with the customary payroll practices
of the Company, which may be adjusted by the Board of Directors of HoldCo from time to time. Payments of base salary will begin
with the Company’s first payroll cycle following the Commencement Date. The Employee shall be eligible to receive an annual
bonus of up to fifty percent (50%) of the Employee’s annual base salary if the Board determines that the Employee achieved the
performance targets and other criteria set in the Annual Incentive Plan (“ AIP ”). The target bonus pursuant to the AIP may be
adjusted by the Board of Directors of HoldCo from time to time. The Employee shall also be eligible for other benefits provided to
employees of the Company, including but not limited to, personal time off (accrued at the rate of twenty-five (25) days per year),
health insurance and officers and directors liability insurance pursuant to the terms of the applicable benefit plans or arrangements.
In addition, the Company shall reimburse the Employee for all reasonable, ordinary and necessary business, travel or other
expenses incurred by her in the performance of her services hereunder in accordance with the policies of the Company as they are
from time to time in effect.

(b) Long-Term Incentive . If at any time prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Commencement Date, the
closing market price of HoldCo’s registered common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market (or any other market or
exchange on which shares of HoldCo’s common stock are listed or registered, if not on the NASDAQ Global Market) over any
thirty (30) consecutive trading days is at or greater than the target price set forth in this Section 2.1(b)(ii) (the “ Target Price Per
Share ”) for each day in such thirty (30)- consecutive trading day period, the Company will award the Employee shares of Stock (as
defined in Exhibit A) in an amount equal to the sum of (A) the number of shares listed next to the Target Price Per Share and (B)
the number of shares listed next to any lower Target Price Per Share (“ Long-Term Incentive Shares ”) that have not already been
awarded . Once the Long- Term Incentive Shares applicable to a Target Price Per Share have been awarded, the Company shall
make no future awards of Long-Term Incentive Shares with respect to the applicable Target Price(s) Per Share, but the Employee
shall be eligible for one or more additional grants with respect to the remaining Target Price Per Share that were not previously
achieved or exceeded. In no event will the Employee receive more than 100,000 Long-Term Incentive Shares.
Target Price Per Share
$13.00
$16.00
$20.00
$25.00
$30.00

Long-Term Incentive Shares
12,500
12,500
25,000
25,000
25,000

For purposes of clarity and by way of example, if the closing market price of HoldCo’s registered common stock is reported at
$20.00 for thirty (30) consecutive trading days, the Company shall award the Employee 50,000 Long-Term Incentive Shares
(25,000 next to the $20 Target Price Per Share plus another 25,000 for the Target Price Per Share for $13 and $16). If prior to the
fifth (5 th ) anniversary of the Commencement Date, the closing market price of HoldCo’s registered common stock is reported at
$30.00 for thirty (30) consecutive trading days, the Company shall award the Employee an additional 50,000 shares (25,000 for $30
and 25,000 for $25). Because the Employee previously received Long-Term Incentive Shares with respect to the $13, $16 and $20
Target Price Per Share, she is not entitled to a second award with respect to such amounts.
(c) Except as provided in Exhibit A with respect to any Long-Term Shares used to cover tax withholdings,
Employee hereby irrevocably agrees not to, directly or indirectly, (i) sell, offer for sale, pledge or otherwise dispose of (except as
otherwise provided herein) any Long-Term Incentive Shares issued to the Employee hereunder, or (ii) enter into any swap or other
derivative transaction that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic benefits or risks of ownership of the LongTerm Incentive Shares, whether any such transaction described in clauses (i) or (ii) above is to be settled by delivery of common
stock or other securities, in cash or otherwise (such restrictions in clauses (i) and (ii), the “ Sale Restrictions ”). Long-Term
Incentive Shares shall be released from, and no longer subject to, the Sale Restrictions on the first day after the second anniversary
of the Grant Date (as defined in Exhibit A) of such shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Long-Term Incentive Shares shall be
released from, and no longer subject to, the Sale Restrictions immediately upon the Employee’s death after the Grant Date.
(d) In all events, the holding and disposition of any shares of Stock acquired hereunder shall be subject to the
provisions in Exhibit A hereof, any applicable policies of the Company, and the terms of applicable law.

(e) Employee shall forfeit her right to any Long-Term Incentive Shares if she terminates this Agreement with
or without Good Reason at any time prior to the second anniversary of the Commencement Date.
2.2 Clawback . Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Agreement, any performance-based compensation paid
or payable to the Employee pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement or arrangement with the Company that is subject to
recovery under any law, government regulation, order, or stock exchange listing requirement, will be subject to adjustment and
recovery by the Company.
(a) If the financial statements of KEYW are restated for any reason other than for accounting changes that
require retrospective treatment or other external reasons not attributable to KEYW and its compilation of the financial statements,
any performance-based compensation paid to the Employee that was calculated based on the financial statements will be
recalculated based on the restated financial statements (“ Restatement ”). If the performance- based compensation is reduced as a
result of the Restatement, Employee shall repay the Company the difference between the amount of performance-based
compensation actually paid and the recalculated performance-based compensation that the Employee should have been paid. If the
performance-based compensation is increased as a result of Restatement, the Company will pay the Employee the difference
between the amount of performance-based compensation actually paid and the recalculated performance-based compensation that
the Employee should have been paid.
(b) If the Employee received equity awards (excluding Long-Term Incentive Shares) as performance-based
compensation and the Employee continues to own the shares on the date of Restatement, Employee shall return to the Company any
shares issued in excess of the amount that the Employee should have received, as recalculated in the Restatement. If the excess
shares have already been disposed of at the time of the Restatement, Employee shall return the proceeds from the sale of the excess
shares to the Company. If the excess shares have been gifted or otherwise transferred, Employee shall return to the Company a
number of shares equal to the excess shares or the equivalent fair market value of the excess shares at the time of gifting or transfer.
If a Restatement reveals that an Employee should have received an equity award (excluding Long-Term Incentive Shares) as
performance-based compensation, the Company shall issue the number of shares that the Employee should have received based on
the Restatement.
(c) Except as otherwise required under any law, government regulation, order, or stock exchange listing
requirement, the adjustment period under this Section 2.2 shall extend for three (3) years from the date of receipt of any
performance-based compensation. This Section 2.2 shall survive termination of this Agreement for a period of two (2) years, except
that this Section 2.2 shall terminate immediately upon a Change of Control, as defined by Section 4.3(b) of this Agreement or the
cessation of the KEYW as a publicly-traded corporation.
(d) Employee authorizes the Company to withhold from her future wages any amounts that may become
due under this Section 2.2.
3. Termination of Employment . The employment of the Employee by the Company shall terminate upon the occurrence
of any of the following:
3.1

By the Company without Cause (as defined below), on sixty (60) days’prior written notice to the Employee;

3.2 At the election of the Company, for Cause (as defined below), immediately

upon written notice by the Company to the Employee, which notice shall identify the Cause upon which the termination is based.
For the purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” shall mean (a) a good faith finding by the Company, that (i) the Employee has failed
to perform her reasonably assigned duties in any material respect and has failed to remedy such failure within ten (10) days
following written notice from the Company to the Employee notifying her of such failure, or (ii) the Employee has engaged in
dishonesty, gross negligence or misconduct; (b) the conviction of the Employee of, or the entry of a pleading of guilty or nolo
contendere by the Employee to any crime involving any felony; (c) the Employee has breached fiduciary duties owed to KEYW or
has materially breached the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement between the Employee and KEYW; or (d) the failure of
the Employee to maintain her security clearance as a result, directly or indirectly, of any act or omission by Employee if such
clearance is necessary to perform the duties assigned hereunder;
3.3 At the election of the Employee, on sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the Company, or immediately upon
written notice to the Company in the event the Company fails to remedy any material breach of this Agreement within ten (10) days
following written notice from the Employee to the Company notifying it of such breach;
3.4 Upon the death or disability of the Employee. As used in this Agreement, the term “disability” shall mean
“disability” as defined under the Company’s or HoldCo’s long- term disability plan for purposes of determining a participant’s
eligibility for benefits. The determination of whether the Employee has a disability shall be made by the person or persons required
to make a disability determination under the long-term disability plan. If at any time neither the Company nor HoldCo sponsor a
long-term disability plan, disability shall mean the inability of the Employee, due to a physical or mental disability, for a period of
ninety (90) days, whether or not consecutive, during any 360-day period to perform with or without reasonable accommodation the
essential functions of her position contemplated under this Agreement as determined by a physician satisfactory to both the
Employee (or her representative, guardian or conservator) and the Company, provided that if the Employee (or her representative,
guardian or conservator) and the Company do not agree on a physician, the Employee (or her representative, guardian or
conservator) and the Company shall each select a physician and these two together shall select a third physician, whose
determination as to disability shall be binding on all parties; or
3.5
4.

Upon the mutual written agreement of the Employee and the Company to terminate Employee’s employment.

Effect of Termination .

4.1 Termination for Cause, Upon Mutual Election or at the Election of the Employee, or at Death . In the event that
Employee’s employment is terminated for Cause, upon Employee’s death, at the election of the Employee, or upon mutual election
by Employee and the Company, KEYW shall have no further obligations under this Agreement other than to pay to Employee (or
her estate) salary and accrued but unused paid time off through the last day of the Employee’s actual employment by the Company
(the “ Termination Date ”).
4.2 Termination by the Company without Cause, or for Disability or by the Employee for Good Reason. In the event
the Employee’s employment is terminated solely by the Company without Cause, or due to the Employee’s disability, or by the
Employee for Good Reason (as defined below), the Company shall: (i) pay to the Employee on the first pay date following the
Termination Date any salary earned with respect to services performed prior to the Termination Date, any paid time off accrued, but
unused, through the Termination Date, and any bonus that the Employee earned under the terms of the AIP with respect to an
annual period ending prior to the Termination Date, and for which any performance

targets or other criteria were achieved prior to the Termination Date (notwithstanding any requirement of continuous service), but
which have not been paid to the Employee; (ii) provided the Employee (or her representative, guardian or conservator on behalf of
Employee) executes and does not revoke a waiver and release agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the
“ Release ”), unless the payment is subject to the Delay Period described in Section 8.3, pay to the Employee in equal installments
over a period of one year after the Termination Date an aggregate amount equal to the sum of (A) and (B) where (A) equals the
product of (x) her then current base salary multiplied by (y) .50, and (B) equals an amount equal to the product of (x) one half of her
then current base salary multiplied by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days that have elapsed between the
first day of the calendar year in which the Termination Date occurs and the Termination Date and the denominator of which is 365,
with
the first payment, which will cover the first two installments, to be paid on the sixtieth (60 th ) day following the Termination Date
and the remaining installments to be paid in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices; and (iii) provided the
Employee elects continued health coverage under section 4980B(f) of the Code (“ COBRA ”), for each month that the Employee
pays to the Company 100% of the applicable premium (as defined within section 4980B(f)(4) of the Code) for such continued
health and dental coverage, the Company shall reimburse the Employee, for a period equal to the lesser of the maximum COBRA
period or six months, on the first pay date of each month the Employee portion of applicable premium; and (iv) make such other
payments as expressly provided herein or in any written policy of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall
not be required to make payments or reimbursements under this Section 4.2 if the Employee has breached any of the provisions of
Sections 5 or 6, inclusive of all subsections. Further, subject to any overriding laws, the Company shall not be required to reimburse
healthcare or dental insurance premiums if Employee is actually covered or becomes covered by an equivalent benefit (at the same
or lesser cost to Employee, if any) from another source, which must be reported to the Company within thirty (30) days of first
becoming eligible, or if such reimbursement arrangement causes the Company’s group health plan to fail any non-discrimination
testing or to be subjected to a fine or penalty under the Affordable Care Act. If Employee (or her representative, guardian or
conservator on behalf of Employee) fails to execute and deliver the Release within twenty-one (21) days thereafter, or if Employee
(or her representative, guardian or conservator on behalf of Employee) revokes such Release as provided therein, the Company
shall have no obligation to provide the severance payment described above. In any case in which the Release (and the expiration of
any revocation rights provided therein) could only become effective in a particular tax year of Employee, any payment(s)
conditioned on execution of the release shall be made within ten (10) days after the Release becomes effective and such revocation
rights have lapsed. In any case in which the Release (and the expiration of any revocation rights provided therein) could become
effective in one of two (2) of the Employee’s taxable years, depending on when the Employee (or her representative, guardian or
conservator on behalf of Employee) executes and delivers the Release, any payment conditioned on execution of the Release shall
be made in the later taxable year.
4.3 Termination On or Following a Change of Control . If at any time prior to the one-year anniversary of the
consummation of a Change of Control, the Company terminates the Employee’s employment without Cause or the Employee
terminates her employment with the Company for Good Reason (as defined below), the Employee will be entitled to receive: (i) the
Employee’s then current base salary for a period of six months payable in equal installments paid in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices, with the first installment beginning on the first regular pay date following the Employee’s
Termination Date; (ii) compensation and benefits set forth in Sections 4.2(i), and 4.2(iv), and (iii) to the extent not included in the
compensation and severance benefits made under Section 4.2(i), an amount equal to the maximum AIP bonus available to
Employee for the year in which the termination occurs. In addition, provided the Employee elects continued health coverage under
section 4980B(f) of the Code, for each month that the Employee pays to the Company 100% of the applicable premium (as defined

within section 4980B(f)(4) of the Code) for such continued health and dental coverage, the Company shall reimburse the Employee,
for a period equal to the lesser of the maximum COBRA period or six months, on the first pay date of each month the after-tax cost
of the applicable premium. Further, subject to any overriding laws, the Company shall not be required to reimburse healthcare and
dental insurance premiums if Employee is actually covered or becomes covered by an equivalent benefit (at the same or lesser cost
to Employee, if any) from another source, which must be reported to the Company within thirty (30) days of first becoming eligible,
or if such reimbursement arrangement causes the Company’s group health plan to fail any non-discrimination testing or to be
subjected to a fine or penalty under the Affordable Care Act. Stock options will remain exercisable for a period of one (1) year
following termination (unless such options have terminated or been cashed out in connection with the Change of Control), and any
outstanding equity awards shall vest immediately upon the Change of Control (with effect immediately prior to the scheduled
consummation of the Change of Control).
(a) In the event that it is determined that any payment or distribution of any type to or for the benefit of the
Employee made by the Company, by any of its affiliates, by any person who acquires ownership or effective control or ownership
of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the regulations thereunder (the “ Code ”)) or by any affiliate of such person, whether paid or payable or distributed or
distributable pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement (and the attached Exhibit A) or otherwise (the “ Total Payments ”),
such that the Total Payments would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties
with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest or penalties, are collectively referred to as the “
Excise Tax ”) then (i) if the Total Payments exceed the safe harbor threshold by less than 10%, the payments will be reduced to the
safe harbor amount or (ii) if the Total Payments exceed the safe harbor threshold by more than 10%, then Employee shall be
entitled to receive the “ Best Net ” for the Employee’s aggregate severance payments and benefits such that aggregate severance
payments and benefits that Employee receives will be either (A) the full amount of severance payments and benefits or (B) an
amount of severance payments and benefits reduced to the extent necessary so that Employee incurs no excise tax, whichever
results in Employee receiving the greater amount, taking into account applicable federal, state, and local income, employment, and
other applicable taxes, as well as the excise tax.
(b)
For the purposes of this Agreement, “ Change of Control ” means the occurrence of any of (i) an
acquisition after the Commencement Date by an individual or legal entity or “group” (as described in Rule 13d-5(b)(1) promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of in excess of 50% of the voting securities of the Company or HoldCo,
(ii) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or HoldCo or a merger, consolidation, or reorganization of the Company or
HoldCo with one or more other entities in which neither the Company nor HoldCo is the surviving entity, unless the holders of the
Company or HoldCo’s voting securities immediately prior to such transaction continue to hold at least 51% of such securities
following such transaction, (iii) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and/or HoldCo in one or a series of
related transactions, or (iv) the “completion” or closing by the Company or HoldCo of an agreement to which the Company or
HoldCo is a party or by which it is bound, providing for any of the events set forth above in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii). In the event that
any payment triggered upon a Change of Control is deferred compensation subject to section 409A of the Code, any Change of
Control must satisfy the requirements of Treasury regulation section 1.409A-3(i)(5).
(c)
For purposes of this Agreement, “ Good Reason ” means, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by
Employee, (i) a reduction in Employee’s base salary; (ii) a material diminution in Employee’s authority, responsibilities or duties;
(iii) a relocation of Employee’s primary place of

employment to a location more than twenty (20) miles farther from Employee’s primary residence than the current location of the
Company’s offices; or (iv) any other material breach by the Company of the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement
between the Employee and the Company. In order to invoke a termination for Good Reason, Employee must deliver a written
notice of such breach to the Company within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of the breach, and the Company shall have thirty
(30) days to cure the breach (unless such breach is not capable of being cured, in which case this Agreement will terminate fifteen
(15) days after notice thereof). In order to terminate her employment, if at all, for Good Reason, Employee must terminate
employment within thirty (30) days of the end of the cure period, if applicable, if the breach has not been cured.
4.4 No Mitigation . The Company agrees that, if the Employee’s employment is terminated during the term of this
Agreement, the Employee is not required to seek other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the
Employee by the Company. Further, the amount of any payment provided hereunder shall not be reduced by any compensation
earned by the Employee from any other sources.
4.5 Survival . The provisions of Sections 4, 5, 6, 8, and 9 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
5.

Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation .

5.1 Restricted Activities . Beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing for one (1) year following
termination of employment with KEYW, Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, on her own behalf or as an individual
proprietor, partner, stockholder, owner, officer, employee, director, consultant, agent, joint venturer, investor, lender, or in any other
capacity whatsoever (other than through investments of Employee in the stock of a publicly-held company where such investment
does not exceed three percent (3%) of the total outstanding stock (“ Permitted Investments ”)) do any of the following:
(a)
In any state, province or similar political subdivision, in which KEYW provides services or to which
KEYW’s products are delivered during the term of Employee’s employment with KEYW, offer to provide or provide to any
Customer or Prospective Customer products or services which compete with the products and services offered by KEYW;
(b)
Interfere with or disrupt, or attempt to interfere with or disrupt, the relationship of KEYW with any
Customer, vendor, supplier, prime contractor, subcontractor or partner;
(c) Solicit, offer to hire or hire any current or former employee, consultant, contractor or agent of KEYW
(each a “ Restricted Person ”), or otherwise induce any Restricted Person to discontinue their employment or business relationship
with KEYW; or
(d)
Solicit or divert, or attempt to solicit or divert, the business or patronage (with respect to products or
services of the kind or type developed, produced, marketed, furnished, or sold by KEYW) of any Customer or Prospective
Customer of KEYW.
The foregoing restriction in Section 5.1(c) shall not apply to: (i) any Restricted Person whose employment or
business relationship was terminated without cause by KEYW, (ii) any Restricted Person whose employment or business
relationship was terminated more than twelve (12) months prior to the date of hire of such person by Employee, or (iii) any
solicitation, offer to hire or hiring of a Restricted Person pursuant to any general advertisement not specifically directed to such
Restricted Person.

For purposes of this Section 5.1, the term “ Customer ” shall mean any person, firm, organization, entity, state or
local government or governmental division, department or agency of the United States Government to which KEYW provided
products or services at any time during the Employee’s employment with KEYW.
For purposes of this Section 5.1, the term “ Prospective Customer ” shall mean any person, firm, organization, entity,
government or governmental division, department or agency which has an outstanding bid or proposal from KEYW, or which was
contacted by an employee of KEYW for purposes of soliciting business concerning products or services offered by KEYW, during
the six (6) months preceding termination of the Employee’s employment with KEYW.
For purposes of this Section 5.1, the term “ KEYW ” shall mean (i) during the Employee’s employment, those
affiliated entities as described in the recitals to this Agreement that comprise KEYW at any time during the Employee’s
employment, and (ii) upon any termination of employment, those affiliated entities as described in the recitals to this Agreement
that comprise KEYW as of the Employee’s Termination Date.
5.2 External Employment . During the period of Employee’s employment with KEYW, Employee shall be
prohibited from engaging in external employment without express permission from KEYW. By way of example, and not limitation,
such external employment shall include self-employment, consulting, and engagement by firms conducting business unrelated to
the business of KEYW.
5.3 Interpretation . If any restriction set forth in this Section 5 is found by any court of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable because it extends for too long a period of time or over too great a range of activities or in too broad a geographic
area, it shall be interpreted to extend only over the maximum period of time, range of activities or geographic area as to which it
may be enforceable.
6.

Proprietary Information and Developments .
6.1

Proprietary Information .

(a) The Employee agrees that all information, whether or not in writing, of a private, secret or confidential
nature concerning KEYW’s business, business relationships or financial affairs (collectively, “ Proprietary Information ”) is and
shall be the exclusive property of KEYW. By way of illustration, but not limitation, Proprietary Information may include
inventions, products, processes, methods, techniques, formulas, compositions, compounds, projects, developments, plans, research
data, clinical data, financial data, personnel data, hardware, software and related designs, product costs, specifications and pricing,
bid practices and procedures, contract costs and pricing, the terms and conditions of any joint venture, strategic partnership and
other contractual arrangements, customer and supplier lists, and contacts at or knowledge of customers or prospective customers of
KEYW. The Employee will not disclose any Proprietary Information to any person or entity other than employees of KEYW or use
the same for any purposes (other than in the performance of her duties as an employee of KEYW) without written approval by an
officer of the Company, either during or after her employment with the Company, unless and until such Proprietary Information has
become public knowledge without fault by the Employee.
(b)
The Employee agrees that all files, letters, memoranda, reports, records, data, sketches, drawings,
laboratory notebooks, program listings, or other written, photographic, or other tangible material containing Proprietary
Information, whether created by
the Employee or others, which shall come into her custody or possession, shall be and are the exclusive

property of KEYW to be used by the Employee only in the performance of her duties for KEYW. All such materials or copies
thereof and all tangible property of KEYW in the custody or possession of the Employee shall be delivered to the Company, upon
the earlier of (i) a request by KEYW or (ii) termination of her employment. After such delivery, the Employee shall not retain any
such materials or copies thereof or any such tangible property.
(c) The Employee agrees that her obligation not to disclose or to use information and materials of the types
set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, and her obligation to return materials and tangible property, set forth in paragraph (b)
above, also extends to such types of information, materials and tangible property of customers of KEYW or suppliers to KEYW or
other third parties who may have disclosed or entrusted the same to KEYW or to the Employee.
6.2

Developments .

(a) The Employee will make full and prompt disclosure to the Company of all inventions, improvements,
discoveries, methods, processes, developments, software, and works of authorship, whether copyrightable, patentable or not, which
are created, made, conceived or reduced to practice by her or under her direction or jointly with others during her employment by
KEYW, whether or not during normal working hours or on the premises of KEYW (all of which are collectively referred to in this
Agreement as “ Developments ”).
(b) To the extent that any Developments do not qualify as works made for hire, the Employee hereby
irrevocably assigns to the Company (or any Affiliate, person or entity designated by the Company) all her right, title and interest in
and to all Developments and all related patents, patent applications, copyrights and copyright applications, trade secrets, trademarks
and all other proprietary rights now or hereafter existing therein. However, this paragraph (b) shall not apply to Developments
which do not relate to the present or planned business or research and development of KEYW and which are made and conceived
by the Employee outside the scope of her employment, not during normal working hours, not on KEYW’s premises and not using
KEYW’s tools, devices, equipment or Proprietary Information. The Employee understands that, to the extent this Agreement shall
be construed in accordance with the laws of any state which precludes a requirement in an employee agreement to assign certain
classes of inventions made by an employee, this paragraph (b) shall be interpreted not to apply to any invention which a court rules
and/or the Company agrees falls within such classes. The Employee also hereby waives all claims to moral rights in any
Developments.
(c) The Employee agrees to cooperate fully with KEYW, both during and after her employment, with respect
to the procurement, maintenance and enforcement of copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights (both in the United
States and foreign countries) relating to Developments. The Employee shall sign all papers, including, without limitation, copyright
applications, patent applications, declarations, oaths, formal assignments, assignments of priority rights, and powers of attorney,
which KEYW may deem necessary or desirable in order to protect its rights and interests in any Development. The Employee
further agrees that if KEYW is unable, after reasonable effort, to secure the signature of the Employee on any such papers, any
executive officer of the Company shall be entitled to execute any such papers as the agent and the attorney-in-fact of the Employee,
and the Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints each executive officer of the Company as her agent and attorney-infact to execute any such papers on her behalf, and to take any and all actions as KEYW may deem necessary or desirable in order to
protect its rights and interests in any Development, under the conditions described in this sentence.
6.3 United States Government Obligations . The Employee acknowledges that KEYW from time to time may have
agreements with other parties or with the United States Government, or agencies

thereof, which impose obligations or restrictions on KEYW regarding inventions made during the course of work under such
agreements or regarding the confidential nature of such work. The Employee agrees to be bound by all such obligations and
restrictions which are made known to the Employee and to take all appropriate action necessary to discharge the obligations of
KEYW under such agreements.
7. Other Agreements . The Employee represents that there are no contracts to assign inventions between any person or entity
and the Employee. The Employee further represents that (a) the Employee is not obligated under any consulting, employment or
other agreement which would affect KEYW’s rights under this Agreement, (b) there is no action, investigation or proceeding,
pending or threatened, or any basis therefore known to her involving the Employee’s prior employment or any consultancy or the
use of any information or techniques alleged to be proprietary to any former employer, and (c) the performance of the Employee’s
duties as an employee of the Company will not breach or constitute a default under any agreement to which the Employee is bound,
including, without limitation, any agreement limiting the use or disclosure of proprietary information during the Employee’s
employment by the Company. The Employee will not, in connection with the Employee’s employment by the Company, use or
disclose to the Company any confidential, trade secret or other proprietary information of any previous employer or other person to
which the Employee is not lawfully entitled. Any agreement to which the Employee is a party with any prior employer or relating to
nondisclosure, non-competition or non-solicitation of employees, customers, prospective customers, vendors or other parties is
listed on Exhibit C attached hereto. The Company agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Employee from all legal fees and
related legal costs incurred in connection with any claims brought by Employee’s former employer (“ Former Employer ”) for
breach of Section 5 of the non-competition agreement set forth in Exhibit C (“ Claims ”). Employee shall notify Company, in
writing, with five (5) days of receipt of a Claim by her Former Employer. Company shall have the right, at its own cost and
expense, to assume the defense of any Claims by providing written notice to the Employee within thirty (30) days after Company
has received notice of such Claims (provided that the Employee shall be permitted to respond reasonably to such Claims during
such thirty (30) day period unless and until Company has assumed the defense). If Company assumes the defense of a Claim, the
Employee shall be entitled to participate in the defense of such Claim with counsel selected by her subject to Company’s right to
control the defense thereof. The Employee shall bear the fees and expenses of any additional counsel retained by Employee to
participate in her defense. Company shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into
any settlement regarding such Claim. If Company does not assume the defense of a Claim, or fails to notify the Employee in writing
of its election to defend such Claim within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice of such Claim from the Employee, then the
Employee may pay, compromise and defend such Claim in such manner as she reasonably deems appropriate, with counsel
reasonably acceptable to Company, and seek reimbursement in accordance with this Agreement from Company for the reasonable
legal fees and related legal costs of the defense of such Claim. The Employee will reasonably cooperate with Company and its
representatives (including its counsel) in the investigation, negotiation, settlement, trial or defense of any Claim (and any appeal
arising therefrom). If an order of a court of competent jurisdiction that is not lifted, removed or stayed within thirty (30) days
following its initial issuance provides that Employee’s employment with the Company must terminate as a result of any claim or
action by the Former Employer to enforce any employment or other agreement between Employee and such Former Employer,
such termination shall be deemed to be for Cause hereunder and effective upon notice from Company. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary herein, Company shall not be obligated to pay or reimburse Employee for any legal fees or related legal costs after
such notice of termination.
8. Section 409A . This Agreement is intended to comply with section 409A of the Code and its corresponding regulations,
or an exemption, and payments may only be made under this Agreement upon an event or in a manner permitted by section 409A of
the Code, to the extent applicable. Any benefits

that qualify for the “short-term deferral” exemption, separation pay exemption, or any other exemption shall be paid under the
applicable exemption. To the extent Employee would be subject to the additional twenty percent (20%) tax imposed on certain
deferred compensation arrangements pursuant to section 409A of the Code as a result of any provision of this Agreement, such
provision shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to avoid application of such tax and preserve to the maximum
extent possible the original intent and economic benefit to the Employee and the Company, and the parties shall promptly execute
any amendment reasonably necessary to implement this Section 8. In no event may the Employee directly or indirectly designate a
calendar year of payment.
8.1 For purposes of section 409A of the Code, Employee’s right to receive installment payments pursuant to this
Agreement including, without limitation, each severance payment and COBRA continuation reimbursement shall be treated as a
right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments.
8.2 Employee will be deemed to have a date of termination for purposes of determining the timing of any payments
or benefits hereunder that are classified as deferred compensation only upon a “separation from service” within the meaning of
section 409A of the Code.
8.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if at the time of Employee’s separation
from service, (i) Employee is a specified employee (within the meaning of section 409A of the Code and using the identification
methodology selected by the Company from time to time), and (ii) the Company makes a good faith determination that an amount
payable on account of such separation from service to Employee constitutes deferred compensation (within the meaning of section
409A of the Code) the payment of which is required to be delayed pursuant to the six-month delay rule set forth in section 409A of
the Code in order to avoid taxes or penalties under section 409A of the Code (the “ Delay Period ”), then the Company will not pay
such amount on the otherwise scheduled payment date but will instead pay it in a lump sum on the first business day after such sixmonth period (or upon Employee’s death, if earlier), together with interest for the period of delay, compounded annually, equal to
the applicable Federal rate for short-term instruments) in effect as of the dates the payments should otherwise have been provided.
To the extent that any benefits to be provided during the Delay Period are considered deferred compensation under section 409A of
the Code provided on account of a “separation from service”, and such benefits are not otherwise exempt from Section 409A of the
Code, Employee shall pay the cost of such benefit during the Delay Period, and the Company shall reimburse Employee, to the
extent that such costs would otherwise have been paid by the Company or to the extent that such benefits would otherwise have
been provided by the Company at no cost to Employee, the Company’s share of the cost of such benefits upon expiration of the
Delay Period, and any remaining benefits shall be reimbursed or provided by the Company in accordance with the procedures
specified herein.
8.4 (A) Any amount that Employee is entitled to be reimbursed under this Agreement will be reimbursed to
Employee as promptly as practical and in any event not later than the last day of the calendar year after the calendar year in which
expenses are incurred, (B) any right to reimbursement or in kind benefits will not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another
benefit, and (C) the amount of the expenses eligible for reimbursement during any taxable year will not affect the amount of
expenses eligible for reimbursements in any other taxable year.
8.5 Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference to a number of days (e.g.,
“payment shall be made within thirty (30) days following the date of termination”), the actual date of payment within the specified
period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.
9.

Miscellaneous .

9.1 Equitable Remedies . The restrictions contained in Sections 5 and 6 are necessary for the protection of the
business and goodwill of KEYW and are considered by the Employee to be reasonable for such purpose. The Employee agrees that
any breach of Sections 5 or 6 is likely to cause KEYW substantial and irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at
law and therefore, in the event of any such breach, the Employee agrees that KEYW, in addition to such other remedies which may
be available, shall be entitled to specific performance and other injunctive relief without the need to post a bond. The Company
shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney’s fees in the event that it prevails in such action.
9.2 Notices . Any notices delivered under this Agreement shall be deemed duly delivered four business days after it
is sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or one business day after it is sent for next-business
day delivery via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service, in each case to the address of the recipient set forth in the
introductory paragraph hereto (in the case of the Company, addressed c/o General Counsel). Either party may change the address to
which notices are to be delivered by giving notice of such change to the other party in the manner set forth in this Section 9.2.
9.3 Pronouns . Whenever the context may require, any pronouns used in this Agreement shall include the
corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular forms of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural, and vice
versa.
9.4 Entire Agreement . This Agreement (including the Exhibits hereto) constitutes the entire agreement between the
parties and cancels and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter of
this Agreement.
9.5 Amendment . This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by both
KEYW and the Employee.
9.6 Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of
Maryland. Any action, suit or other legal matter arising under or relating to any provision of this Agreement shall be commenced
only in a court of the State of Maryland (or, if appropriate, a federal court located within Maryland), and the Company and the
Employee each consents to the jurisdiction of such a court. THE COMPANY AND THE EMPLOYEE EACH HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, SUIT OR OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDING
ARISING UNDER OR RELATING TO ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT.
9.7 Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their
respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns. The Company may assign this Agreement to any Affiliate
or to any business or entity with which or into which the Company may be merged or which may succeed to its assets or business.
The obligations of the Employee are personal and may not be assigned by her.
9.8 Waivers . No delay or omission by KEYW or Employee in exercising any right under this Agreement shall
operate as a waiver of that or any other right. A waiver or consent given by KEYW or Employee on any one occasion shall be
effective only in that instance and shall not be construed as a bar or waiver of any right on any other occasion.
9.9 Captions . The captions of the sections of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and in no way
define, limit or affect the scope or substance of any section of this Agreement.

9.10 Severability . In case any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall in no way be affected or impaired thereby.
9.11 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed by facsimile transmission (including by exchange of copies in
pdf) in counterparts, each and all of which shall be deemed an original, and both of which together shall constitute but the same
instrument.
9.12 Withholding . The Company shall be entitled to withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement any
federal, state, local or foreign withholding or other taxes or charges that it from time to time is required to withhold. The Company
shall be entitled to rely on the opinion of counsel if any questions as to the amount or requirement of such withholding shall arise.
THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SHE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS AGREEMENT AND
UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO ALL OF THE PROVISIONS IN THIS AGREEMENT.
[signatures on next page]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

The KEYW Corporation

By: /s/ William J. Weber
Name: William J. Weber
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

EMPLOYEE:

By: /s/ Michele Cook
Name: Michele Cook

Exhibit A
STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
1.

DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms not defined in this Exhibit A shall have the meaning set forth in the that certain employment agreement
between the Company and Michele Cook, dated January 4, 2016 (the “ Agreement ”).
1.1 “ Affiliate ” means, with respect to a Person, any company or other trade or business that controls, is controlled by or is
under common control with such Person within the meaning of Rule 405 of Regulation C under the Securities Act, including,
without limitation, any Subsidiary, provided that an entity may not be considered an Affiliate if it results in noncompliance with
section 409A of the Code.
1.2

“ Award ” means a grant of Stock or Restricted Stock under the Plan.

1.3

“ Board ” means the Board of Directors of The KEYW Holding Corporation.

1.4 “ Exchange Act ” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as now in effect or as hereafter amended.
1.5 “ Fair Market Value ” means the value of a share of Stock, determined as follows: if on the Grant Date or other
determination date the Stock is listed on an established national or regional stock exchange, or is publicly traded on an established
securities market, the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock shall be the closing price of the Stock on such exchange or in such
market (if there is more than one such exchange or market the Board shall determine the appropriate exchange or market) on the
Grant Date or such other determination date (or if there is no such reported closing price, the Fair Market Value shall be the mean
between the highest bid and lowest asked prices or between the high and low sale prices on such trading day) or, if no sale of Stock
is reported for such trading day, on the next preceding day on which any sale shall have been reported. If the Stock is not listed on
such an exchange, quoted on such system or traded on such a market, Fair Market Value shall be the value of the Stock as
determined by the Board in good faith in a manner consistent with section 409A of the Code.
1.6

“ Grantee ” means William J. Weber.

1.7 “ Grant Date ” means the date on which the Board of HoldCo adopts a resolution or takes other appropriate action
expressly granting an Award to the Grantee that specifies the key terms of the Award, or if a later date is set forth in such
resolutions, then such later date.
1.8 “ Person ” means a natural person, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock
company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or other entity or organization.
1.9

“ Plan ” means this Stock Incentive Plan.

1.10 “ Restricted Stock ” means shares of Stock, awarded to the Grantee pursuant to the Agreement, that are subject to
restrictions and to a risk of forfeiture.
1.11 “ Securities Act ” means the Securities Act of 1933, as now in effect or as hereafter amended.

1.12 “ Service ” means service as an employee, officer, director or other Service Provider of the Company or an Affiliate
thereof. A Grantee’s change in position or duties shall not result in interrupted or terminated Service, so long as such Grantee
continues to be an employee, officer, director or other Service Provider of the Company or an Affiliate thereof. Subject to the
preceding sentence, whether a termination of Service shall have occurred for purposes of the Plan shall be determined by the Board,
which determination shall be final, binding and conclusive.
1.13 “ Service Provider ” means an employee, officer or director of the Company or an Affiliate thereof, or a consultant or
adviser currently providing services to the Company or an Affiliate thereof.
1.14

“ Stock ” means unregistered common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of HoldCo.

1.15

“ Subsidiary ” means any “subsidiary corporation” of the Company within the meaning of section 424(f) of the

Code.
2. ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN
2.1 Terms of Awards.
The Company retains the right to cause a forfeiture of the gain realized by the Grantee on account of actions taken by the
Grantee in violation or breach of or in conflict with any employment agreement, non-competition agreement, any agreement
prohibiting solicitation of employees or clients of the Company or any Affiliate thereof or any confidentiality obligation with respect
to the Company or any Affiliate thereof or otherwise in competition with the Company or any Affiliate thereof. In addition, the
Company may annul an Award if the Grantee is terminated for Cause as defined in the Agreement or the Plan, as applicable.
2.2 Share Issuance/Book Entry.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, the issuance of the Stock under the Plan may be evidenced in
such a manner as the Board, in its discretion, deems appropriate, including, without limitation, book-entry registration or issuance of
one or more Stock certificates.
3. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK
3.1 Restricted Stock Certificates.
The Company shall issue, in the name of the Grantee, stock certificates representing the total number of shares of Stock or
Restricted Stock granted to the Grantee, as soon as reasonably practicable after the applicable Grant Date. The Board may provide
that either (i) the Secretary of the Company shall hold such certificates for the Grantee’s benefit until such time as the Restricted
Stock is forfeited to the Company, or the restrictions lapse, or (ii) such certificates shall be delivered to the Grantee; provided ,
however , that such certificates shall bear a legend or legends that complies with the applicable securities laws and regulations and
makes appropriate reference to the restrictions imposed under this Plan and the Agreement.
3.2 Rights in Restricted Stock.
The Grantee shall have the right to vote Restricted Stock and to receive any dividendsdeclared or paid with respect to such
Stock. The Board may provide that any dividends paid on Restricted Stock must be reinvested in shares of Stock, which may or may
not be subject to the same or other vesting conditions and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock. All distributions, if any,
received by a Grantee with respect to Restricted Stock as a result of any stock split, stock dividend, combination of shares, or other
similar transaction shall be subject to the restrictions applicable to the original Award.
3.3

Termination of Service.

Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, upon the termination of a Grantee’s Service with the Company or an
Affiliate thereof, any shares of Restricted Stock held by such Grantee that have not vested and any Long-Term Incentive Shares that
have not been Awarded, or with respect to which all applicable restrictions and conditions have not lapsed, shall immediately be
deemed forfeited. Upon forfeiture of Restricted Stock, the Grantee shall have no further rights with respect to such Award,
including, but not limited to, the right to vote Restricted Stock and any right to receive dividends with respect to shares of Restricted
Stock.
4. WITHHOLDING TAXES
The Company or an Affiliate thereof, as the case may be, shall have the right to deduct from payments of any kind otherwise
due to the Grantee any federal, state, or local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to the vesting of or other
lapse of restrictions applicable to an Award or upon the issuance of any shares of Stock. At the time of such vesting or lapse, the
Grantee shall pay to the Company or the Affiliate thereof, as the case may be, any amount that the Company or the Affiliate thereof
may reasonably determine to be necessary to satisfy such withholding obligation. Subject to the prior approval of the Company or
the Affiliate thereof, which may be withheld by the Company or the Affiliate thereof, as the case may be, in its sole discretion, the
Grantee may elect to satisfy such obligations, in whole or in part, (i) by causing the Company or the Affiliate thereof to withhold
shares of Stock otherwise issuable to the Grantee or (ii) by delivering to the Company or the Affiliate shares of Stock already
owned by the Grantee. The shares of Stock so delivered or withheld shall have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to such
withholding obligations. The Fair Market Value of the shares of Stock used to satisfy such withholding obligation shall be
determined by the Board as of the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined. A Grantee who has made an
election pursuant to this Section 4 may satisfy his or her withholding obligation only with shares of Stock that are not subject to any
repurchase, forfeiture, unfulfilled vesting, or other similar requirements. The maximum number of shares of Stock that may be
withheld from any Award to satisfy any federal, state or local tax withholding requirements upon the exercise, vesting, lapse of
restrictions applicable to such Award or payment of shares pursuant to such Award, as applicable, cannot exceed such number of
shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required by the Company to be withheld and paid to any
such federal, state or local taxing authority with respect to such exercise, vesting, lapse of restrictions or payment of shares.
5. RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER OF SHARES OF STOCK
5.1 Repurchase and Other Rights.
Stock issued pursuant to an Award of Restricted Stock may be subject to such right of repurchase upon termination of
Service or other transfer restrictions as the Board may determine, consistent with applicable law.
5.2 Installment Payments.
In the case of any repurchase of shares of Stock acquired by the Grantee under an Award of Restricted Stock subject to any
Sale Restrictions, as defined in Section 2.1(c) of the Agreement, the Company or its permitted assignee may pay the Grantee,
transferee, or other registered owner of the Stock the purchase price in three (3) or fewer annual installments. Interest shall be
credited on the installments at the applicable federal rate (as determined for purposes of the Code) in effect on the date on which the
purchase is made. The Company or its permitted assignee shall pay at least one-third of the total purchase price each year, plus
interest on the unpaid balance, with the first payment being made on or before the 60th day after the purchase.
5.3 Legend.
In order to enforce the restrictions imposed upon shares of Stock under this Plan, the Board may

cause a legend or legends to be placed on any certificate representing shares issued pursuant to this Plan that complies with the
applicable securities laws and regulations and makes appropriate reference to the restrictions imposed under it.
6. REQUIREMENTS OF LAW
6.1 General.
The Company shall not be required to issue any shares of Stock under any Award if the issuance of such shares would
constitute a violation by the Grantee, any other individual exercising a right emanating from such Award, or the Company of any
provision of any law or regulation of any governmental authority, including without limitation any federal or state securities laws or
regulations. If at any time the Company shall determine, in its discretion, that the listing, registration or qualification of any shares
subject to an Award upon any securities exchange or under any governmental regulatory body is necessary or desirable as a
condition of, or in connection with, the issuance or purchase of shares hereunder, no shares of Stock may be issued to the Grantee or
any other individual unless such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval shall have been effected or obtained free of
any conditions not acceptable to the Company, and any delay caused thereby shall in no way affect the date of termination of the
Award. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in connection with the Securities Act, upon the exercise of any right
emanating from such Award or the delivery of any shares of Restricted Stock, unless a registration statement under the Securities
Act is in effect with respect to the shares of Stock covered by such Award, the Company shall not be required to issue such shares
unless the Board has received evidence satisfactory to it that the Grantee or any other individual may acquire such shares pursuant to
an exemption from registration under the Securities Act. Any determination in this connection by the Board shall be final, binding,
and conclusive. The Company may, but shall in no event be obligated to, register any securities
covered hereby pursuant to the Securities Act. The Company shall not be obligated to take any affirmative action in order to cause
the issuance of shares of Stock pursuant to the Plan to comply with any law or regulation of any governmental authority.
6.2

Securities Representations .
The shares of Stock being issued to the Grantee are being made by the Company in reliance upon the following
express representations and warranties of the Grantee. The Grantee acknowledges, represents and warrants that:
(a) The Grantee has been advised that she may be an “affiliate” within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”) and in this connection the Company is relying in part on his or her representations set forth in
this Section.
(b) If the Grantee is deemed an affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144 of the Act, the Stock issued under this Plan
must be held indefinitely unless an exemption from any applicable resale restrictions is available or the Company files an additional
registration statement (or a “re-offer prospectus”) with regard to such shares of Stock and the Company is under no obligation to
register the shares (or to file a “re-offer prospectus”).
(c) If the Grantee is deemed an affiliate within the meaning of Rule 144 of the Act, the Grantee understands that the
exemption from registration under Rule 144 will not be available unless (i) a public trading market then exists for the Stock of the
Company, (ii) adequate information concerning the Company is then available to the public, and (iii) other terms and conditions of
Rule 144 or any exemption therefrom are complied with; and that any sales of the shares of Stock may be made only in limited
amounts in accordance with such terms and conditions.

6.4

409A .

(a) The Plan shall be unfunded. Neither the Company nor the Board shall be required to establish any special or separate
fund or to segregate any assets to assure the performance of its obligations under the Plan. The Plan is intended to comply with
section 409A of the Code to the extent subject thereto, and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, the Plan shall be
interpreted and administered to be in compliance therewith. Any payments described in the Plan that are due within the “short-term
deferral period” as defined in section 409A of the Code shall not be treated as deferred compensation unless applicable laws require
otherwise. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, to the extent required to avoid accelerated taxation and tax
penalties under section 409A of the Code, amounts that would otherwise be payable and benefits that would otherwise be provided
pursuant to the Plan during the six (6) month period immediately following the Grantee’s termination of continuous service shall
instead be paid on the first payroll date after the six-month anniversary of the Grantee’s separation from service (or the Grantee’s
death, if earlier). In furtherance of this interest, to the extent that any Treasury Regulations or other guidance issued under section
409A of the Code after the date of this Agreement would result in payment of interest or tax penalty under section 409A of the
Code, the Company and the Grantee agree, to the extent permissible, to amend this Plan, in order to bring this Plan into compliance
with the provisions of section 409A of the Code. In no event shall the Company or any successor to the Company or their respective
affiliates, successors, shareholders, employees, officers or agents have any liability relating to the failure or alleged failure of any
payment or benefit under this Agreement to comply with, or be exempt from, the requirements of section 409A. If the Company,
for any reason, does not timely withhold the full amount of payroll tax, withholding or other taxes necessary to satisfy the
Company’s withholding obligation to the U.S. Treasury or state taxing authority hereunder and the Recipient receives amounts in
excess of the amounts she would otherwise be entitled to under this Agreement after taking into account such legal withholding
obligations, Recipient agrees to return such excess amounts to the Company within thirty (30) days of the Company’s request to do
so. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT, NONE OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SUCCESSOR TO THE COMPANY OR THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, SUCCESSORS, SHAREHOLDERS,
EMPLOYEES, OFFICERS OR AGENTS MAKE ANY GUARANTEE OF TAX CONSEQUENCES WITH RESPECT TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY BENEFITS OR PAYMENTS PROVIDED FOR HEREIN.
7. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN CAPITALIZATION
7.1 Changes in Stock.
If the number of outstanding shares of Stock is increased or decreased or the shares of Stock are changed into or exchanged
for a different number or kind of shares or other securities of the Company on account of any recapitalization, reclassification, stock
split, reverse split, combination of shares, exchange of shares, stock dividend or other distribution payable in capital stock, or other
increase or decrease in such shares effected without receipt of consideration by the Company occurring after the Commencement
Date, the number and kinds of shares for which Awards may be made under the Plan shall be adjusted proportionately and
accordingly by the Board. In addition, the number and kind of shares for which Awards are outstanding shall be adjusted
proportionately and accordingly so that the proportionate interest of the Grantee immediately following such event shall, to the
extent practicable, be the same as immediately before such event. The conversion of any convertible securities of the Company shall
not be treated as an increase in shares effected without receipt of consideration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of any
distribution to the Company’s stockholders of securities of any other entity or other assets (including an extraordinary dividend but
excluding a non-extraordinary dividend of the Company) without receipt of consideration by the Company, the Company shall, in
such manner as the Company deems appropriate, adjust the number and

kind of shares subject to outstanding Awards to reflect such distribution.
7.2 Reorganization in Which the Company Is the Surviving Entity and in Which
No Change of Control Occurs.
If the Company shall be the surviving entity in any reorganization, merger, or
consolidation of the Company with one or more other entities and in which no Change of Control occurs, any Award theretofore
made pursuant to this Plan shall pertain to and apply to the securities to which a holder of the number of shares of Stock subject to
such Award would have been entitled immediately following such reorganization, merger, or consolidation. In the event of a
transaction described in this Section 7.2 , Long-Term Incentive Shares shall be adjusted so as to apply to the securities that a holder
of the number of shares of Stock subject to the Long-Term Incentive Shares would have been entitled to receive immediately
following such transaction.
7.3 Change of Control.
Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, immediately prior to the scheduled
consummation of a Change of Control, all shares of Restricted Stock shall become immediately vested and all Long-Term Incentive
Shares that have not been granted shall be granted and become immediately vested.
7.4 No Limitations on Company.
The making of Awards pursuant to the Plan shall not affect or limit in any way the right
or power of the Company to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations, or changes of its capital or business structure or to
merge, consolidate, dissolve, or liquidate, or to sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.

Exhibit B
FORM OF GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

This General Release of All Claims is made as of
(“ General Release ”), by
and between [] (“ Employee ”) and The KEYW Corporation (the “ Company ”).
WHEREAS, the Company and Employee are parties to an Employment Agreement dated as of [_
Employment Agreement ”);

] (the “

WHEREAS, the execution of this General Release is a condition precedent to the Company’s obligation to pay the
severance payments as set forth in the Employment Agreement;
WHEREAS, in consideration for Employee’s signing of this General Release, the Company will pay Employee the
severance payments pursuant the Employment Agreement, as applicable; and
WHEREAS, Employee and the Company intend that this General Release shall be in full satisfaction of the
obligations described in this General Release owed to the Employee by the Company, including those under the Employment
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained,
the Company and Employee agree as follows:
1. Employee, for himself, Employee’s spouse, heirs, administrators, children, representatives, executors, successors, assigns,
and all other persons claiming through Employee, if any (collectively, “ Releasers ”), does hereby release, waive, and forever
discharge the Company and each of its respective agents, subsidiaries, parents, Affiliates, related organizations, and all of their
employees, officers, directors, managers, attorneys, successors, and assigns (collectively, the “ Releasees ”) from, and does fully
waive any obligations of Releasees to Releasers for, any and all liability, actions, charges, causes of action, demands, damages, or
claims for relief, remuneration, sums of money, accounts or expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs) of any kind whatsoever,
whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, disclosed or undisclosed, or contingent or absolute, which heretofore has
been or which hereafter may be suffered or sustained, directly or indirectly, by Releasers in consequence of, arising out of, or in any
way relating to: (a) Employee’s employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; (b) the termination of
Employee’s employment with the Company and any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; (c) the Employment Agreement; (d) violation
of any law including but not limited to federal, state or local statutes, or the common law of any jurisdiction; or (e) any events
occurring on or prior to the date of this General Release. Notwithstanding the above, this release and waiver does not apply to: (i)
any right to indemnification now existing under the Company’s governing documents or applicable law; (ii) any rights to the receipt
of employee benefits which vested on or prior to the date of this General Release; (iii) the right to receive severance payments in
accordance with Section 4.2 of the Employment Agreement; and (iv) right to continuation coverage pursuant to the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act.
2. Excluded from this General Release and waiver are any claims which cannot be waived by law, including but not limited
to the right to participate in an investigation conducted by certain government agencies. Employee does, however, waive
Employee’s right to any monetary recovery should any

agency (such as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission) pursue any claims on Employee’s behalf. Employee represents
and warrants that Employee has not filed any complaint, charge, or lawsuit against the Releasees with any government agency or
any court.
3. Employee agrees that neither this General Release, nor the furnishing of the consideration for this General Release, shall
be deemed or construed at any time to be an admission by the Company, any Releasees, or Employee of any improper or unlawful
conduct.
4.

Employee acknowledges and recites that:
(a) Employee has executed this General Release knowingly and voluntarily;
(b) Employee has read and understands this General Release in its entirety;
(c) Employee has been advised and directed orally and in writing (and this subparagraph (c) constitutes such
written direction) to seek legal counsel and any other advice Employee wishes with respect to the terms of this
General Release before executing it; and
(d) Employee’s execution of this General Release has not been forced
by any employee or agent of the Company.

5. This General Release shall be governed by the internal laws (and not the choice of laws) of the State of Maryland, except
for the application of preemptive Federal law.
6. Employee shall have 21 calendar days to consider this General Release and 7 calendar days from the date she executes
this General Release to revoke her waiver of any Age Discrimination in Employment Act claims by providing written notice of the
revocation to the Company, as provided in Section 4.2 of the Employment Agreement. In the event of such revocation, the terms of
Section 4.2 of the Employment Agreement shall govern. Once signed, in the absence of your revocation of this General Release, the
General Release will become effective on the day following the seventh and final day of the revocation period.
7. Employee expressly agrees that, except to the extent required by law, she will not disclose or cause to be disclosed any
negative, adverse or derogatory comments or information about the Company, and will not make any such comments or provide
such information to any customer of the Company, to any person associated with any media, to the general public, or to any other
person or entity.
8. Employee agrees that she will keep entirely secret and confidential, and shall not use or disclose to any person or entity,
in any manner or for any purpose whatsoever, any information of the Company that is not available to the general public and/or not
generally known outside the Company and to which she has had access during the course of her employment by the Company,
including, without limitation, the Company's confidential, proprietary, and trade secret information and any information relating to:
the Company's business or operations; its plans, strategies, prospects or objectives; its products, technology, processes or
specifications; its research and development operations or plans; its customers and customer lists; its manufacturing, distribution,
sales, service, support and marketing practices and operations; its financial conditions and results of operations; its pricing, pricing
strategies and costs; its operational strengths and weaknesses; its personnel and compensation policies, procedures and transactions;
its plans for any strategic exit and all information of third parties for which the Company has an obligation to maintain as
confidential.
9. Employee further agrees that within five (5) business days after the Effective Date of this

Agreement, she will return to the Company: (i) all documents, data, material, details and copies thereof in any form (electronic or
hard copy) and wherever located (including in personally owned computers, storage media or accounts) that are the property of the
Company or were created using the Company's resources or during any hours worked for the Company, including, without
limitation, any data referred to in Paragraph 10 herein; and (ii) all other property belonging to the Company, wherever located,
including, without limitation, all computer equipment and associated passwords, property passes, keys, credit cards, business cards,
and identification badges.
10. In consideration for the Company's promises and undertakings set forth in this Agreement, Employee, on behalf of
himself, and her heirs, representatives, and assigns, hereby agrees and covenants, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
not to commence, maintain, prosecute or participate in any action or proceeding of any kind against Releasees based on any of the
claims waived and released in Paragraph 1 of this General Release.
11. Capitalized terms not defined in this General Release have the meanings given in the Employment Agreement.
PLEASE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY. IT CONTAINS A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN
CLAIMS.
Date:

__________________________________

______________________________________
Michele Cook

Date:

__________________________________

______________________________________
By: ___________________________________
Title:__________________________________

Exhibit C
Prior Agreements
Principal Non-Competition Agreement between Michele Cook and Booz Allen Hamilton Inc. dated October 9, 2014

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiary List of The KEYW Holding Corporation
Name

Jurisdiction of Organization

The KEYW Corporation

Maryland

Hexis Cyber Solutions, Inc.

Maryland

Aeroptic, LLC (subsidiary of The KEYW Corporation)
Everest Technology Solutions, Inc. (subsidiary of The KEYW Corporation)

Massachusetts
Delaware

The Analysis Group, LLC (subsidiary of The KEYW Corporation)

Virginia

Ponte Technologies, LLC (subsidiary of The KEYW Corporation)

Maryland

SenSage, Inc. (subsidiary of Hexis Cyber Solution, Inc.)

California

Hexis Cyber Solutions Worldwide Limited (subsidiary of Hexis Cyber Solution, Inc.)

England and Wales

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our reports dated March 15, 2016 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting included in the
Annual Report of The KEYW Holding Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 . We consent to the incorporation by reference of said
reports in the Registration Statements of The KEYW Holding Corporation on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-185718 and File No. 333-170194).
/s/GRANT THORNTON LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
March 15, 2016

Exhibit 31.1
The KEYW Holding Corporation
CERTIFICATION
I, William J. Weber, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The KEYW Holding Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 (e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2016

/s/ William J. Weber
William J. Weber
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
The KEYW Holding Corporation
CERTIFICATION
I, Philip L. Calamia, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The KEYW Holding Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 (e) and 15d-15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2016

/s/ Philip L. Calamia
Philip L. Calamia
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, for the purposes of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of The KEYW Holding Corporation (“KEYW”), that, to the best of his knowledge and belief, the
Annual Report of KEYW on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2015 , fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
KEYW.
Date:

March 15, 2016

By:

/s/ William J. Weber
William J. Weber
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date:

March 15, 2016

By:

/s/ Philip L. Calamia
Philip L. Calamia
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form 10-K. A signed original of this statement has been
provided to KEYW and will be retained by KEYW and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

